CHARACTERIZATION AND PHYSIOLOGICAL ROLE OF 17∝,20<sup>β</sup> - Dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one steroid Receptor Activity in the cytosolic and zona Radiata membrane fraction of the ovarian Follicles of brook trout <u>salvelinus fontinalis</u> During the <u>t</u>erminal stages of oocyte maturation



ASPI MANECKJEE









Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Service Service des thèses canadiennes

Ottawa, Canada K1A ON4

The author has granted an irrevocable nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation

ISBN 0-315-55001-5



Characterization and physiological role of 176,20**f**. dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one steroid receptor activity in the cytosolic and zona radiata membrane fraction of the ovarian follicles of brook trout <u>Salvelinus fontinalis</u> during the terminal stages of occyte maturation.

and the second secon

BY

Aspi Maneckjee, B.Sc., M.Sc.

A thesis submitted to the school of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Department of Biochemistry Memorial University of Newfoundland September, 1989

> > St. John's, Newfoundland

good words, and good deeds. zartushtra 5th century B.C.

Good thoughts,

This thesis is dedicated in memory of the Late Professor Catherine O. Hebb (Institute of Animal Physiology, Babraham, Cambridge. U.K.), a noted Canadian neuro-physiologist, whose initial encouragement in the 1960's helped the author to pursue university education. Also I would like to dedicate this thesis to my late mother, father and my aunt Peroja Mehta, for all they did for me.

#### Acknowledgements

I wish to thank my Supervisor, Dr. David Idler for his advice and providing me with the necessary equipment and chemicals to perform this research. Also I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Melvin Weisbart for his advice, trust, friendship and help conferred on me prior to and during the thesis research.

This study was partly supported by NSERC grant A6732 to DRI, and A0781 to MW. Initial support (1985-88) to AM came from NSERC post-graduate scholarship.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS .

 Good thoughts, good words and good deeds.
 1.

 Dedication.
 2.

 Acknowledgements.
 3.

 Table of contents.
 4.

 List of Tables.
 14.

 List of Figures.
 15.

### Introduction . 23.

### Chapter 1 .

1. Isolation of receptor activity for	r maturation in-	
ducing steroid 174,208-dihydroxy-4-pi	regnen-3-one.	36.
2. Materials and methods .		53.
Fish.		53.
Steroids.	2	53.
Chemicals.		54.
Cytosolic ovarian follicle preparatio	on.	55.
Steroid binding studies.		56.
Hormone binding kinetics.		57.
Competition studies with labelled pro	ogesterone using	
various steroids.		58.
Gel filtration chromatography.		59.

# PAGE#

Measurement of protein.	60.
Measurement of radioactivity.	60.
Metabolism of radiolabelled 174,20 <sup>2</sup> -DHP, progesterone	
and testosterone during binding studies.	60.
Calculations and statistics.	62.
Sucrose gradient centrifugation.	62.
Trypsin digestion of cytosolic preparation.	63.
Effect of trypsin inhibitor (T-8253) on tryptic	
digestion of the receptor activity.	64.
Effect of protease K, pronase E, DNase 1 and	
RNase 1'A' on the receptor activity.	64.
Receptor stability experiments.	65.
Sodium dodecvl sulphate (SDS) polyacrylamide gel	
electrophoresis (PAGE).	66.
Maturation studies <u>in vitro</u> using stage 3-4 brook	
trout oocytes and various steroids.	66.
High-performance liquid chromatography on an	
exclusion gel.	66.
Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis.	67.
Equilibrium dialysis.	67.
3. <u>Results</u> .	
Steroid binding studies.	69.
Competition studies.	71.
Hormone binding kinetics.	71.
Proteolytic digestion, and effect of DNase 1 and	
RNase 1 'A'.	82.

t naj

Cytosolic metabolism of labelled steroids.	82.
Stability studies on cytosolic receptor activity.	86.
Receptor levels during various stages of terminal	
oocyte maturation.	86.
Sephacryl S-300 column chromatography of cytosolic	
preparation.	86
HPLC of cytosolic preparation.	92.
SDS PAGE electrophoresis.	92.
Maturation studies.	94.
Sucrose gradient density centrifugation.	94.
Equilibrium dialysis.	97.
4. Discussion .	102.
Specificity.	102.
Molecular weight.	104.
Rate of dissociation of $[^{3}H]$ 174,20 $\beta$ -DHP-receptor	
complex.	106.
Modulation of cytosolic receptor activity during	
various stages of final maturation.	106.
Summary.	107.
5. References .	109.
<u>Chapter 2</u> .	122.
Nuclear receptors.	122.
1. Introduction.	122.
2. Materials and methods .	130.
Fish.	130.

Steroids.	130.
Chemicals.	131.
Measurement of protein.	131.
DNA isolation and measurement.	131.
Measurement of radioactivity.	131.
Attempted nuclear binding assays.	132.
Binding studies using [3H]17#,20 <b>P-DHP</b> .	132.
DNA cellulose column chromatography.	133.
Isolation of nuclei from erythrocytes of brook and	
rainbow trout.	135.
Binding of erythrocyte nuclei to [ <sup>3</sup> H]R5020-	
receptor complex.	136.
Photoaffinity labelling of brook trout crythrocyte	
nuclei in an attempt to demonstrate the presence of	
nuclear binding sites.	137.
Isolation of nuclei from stage 1 and 3 ovarian	
follicles of brook trout, and photoaffinity labelling	
nuclei.	138.
Gel filtration chromatography of nuclear pellet	
extract.	139.
3. <u>Results</u> .	
Nuclear pellet extract assays.	140.
DNA cellulose elution chromatography of nuclear	
extracts.	140.
Photoaffinity labelling of brook trout pocytes and	

erythrocyte nuclei.	145.
[ <sup>3</sup> H]R5020-receptor complex binding to	
erythrocyte nuclei.	145.
Gel filtration chromatography of nuclear pellet	
extract.	146.
4. Discussion .	148.
5. <u>References</u> .	151.
Chapter 3 .	
Plasma membrane bound 17%,208-DHP receptors in brook	
trout oocytes.	159.
1. Introduction .	159.
2. Materials and methods .	164.
Isolation of zona radiata membran <sup>a</sup> fraction.	164.
Photoaffinity labelling using [3H]R5020.	164.
Photoaffinity labelling of brook trout oocyte cell	
sap (protoplasm).	165.
Saturation and Scatchard plots of zona radiata	
receptor activity using [3H]17⊄,20β-DHP.	166.
Inhibition of photoaffinity labelling of cytosolic	
preparation by excess inert R5020 and 174,20月-DHP.	167.
Saturation of photoaffinity labelling with time.	167.
Saturation of photoaffinity labelling with	
concentration of [3H]R5020.	167.
Effect of inert 17≪,20 <sup>0</sup> -DHP concentration on initial	
rate of photoaffinity labelling to cytosolic	

preparation.	168.
Demonstration of membrane bound receptors from zona	
radiata using four different methods.	168.
Ion exchange chromatography of cytosolic preparation	
after photoaffinity labelling with [3H]R5020.	171.
3. Results .	173.
Isolation of zona radiata.	173.
Photoaffinity labelling of cytosolic preparation	
using [ <sup>3</sup> H]R5020.	173.
Demonstration of photoaffinity labelled receptors in	
zona radiata membranes.	181.
Steroid binding studies using [3H]174,20 <b>B</b> -DHP.	
with solubilized zona radiata membranes.	186.
Gel filtration chromatography using Sephacryl S-300.	186.
SDS-PAGE analysis.	189.
Ion exchange column chromatography of photoaffinity	
labelled cytosolic receptor preparation.	192.
Photoaffinity labelling of cell sap (protoplasm) for	
isolation of receptor activity.	194.
4. Discussion .	196.
5. References .	205.
Chapter 4.	
Transport of 174,20 <sup>4</sup> -DHP into the brook trout	
<u>Salvelinus</u> <u>fontinalis</u> ovarian follicles.	214.
1. Introduction .	214.

2. Methods and Materials .	216.		
Chemicals.	216.		
Measurement of total 17%,20 <sup>9</sup> -DHP levels (free + glucu-			
ronide) in the oocyte protoplasm and outer follicular			
cells in Atlantic salmon <u>Salmo</u> <u>salar</u> <u>Quananich</u>			
during final stages of maturation.	216.		
Labelled MIS 174,208-DHP uptake experiments.	218.		
Initial rates of [3H]174,20 <b>P</b> -DHP uptake into the			
oocytes, and oocytes outer membranes at various			
steroids concentrations.	219.		
Metabolism of [3H]17#,20 <sup>4</sup> -DHP after uptake into			
stage (4-5) ovarian follicles at 10 deg C.	220.		
3. <u>Results</u> .			
Uptake of [3H]17#,20B-DNP into the oocyte			
protoplasm and outer membranes.			
Demonstration of [3H]17#,208-DHP mode of			
transport.	222.		
Levels of 174,209-DHP in the ovarian follicles.	225.		
Metabolism of [3H]174,209-DHP.	225.		
4. Discussion .	231.		
5. References .	236.		
<u>Chapter 5</u> .	239.		
1. Introduction .	239.		
2. <u>Chapter 5a</u> .	241.		

Purification of brook trout cytosolic receptor

preparation.	241.
Ammonium sulphate precipitation.	241.
Sephacryl S-300 column chromatography.	241.
DEAE Sephacel column chromatography.	243.
Chromatofocusing.	247.
Attempted separation of the subunits of receptor	
protein using reversed phase HPLC.	258.
Attempted affinity purification of cytosolic receptors.	262.
Synthesis of thiopropyl-Sepharose 6B derivatives of	
17⊄,20β-DHP and testosterone, using <sup>60</sup> Co gamma	
radiation.	262.
Affinity column chromatography using the thio-Sepharo-	
6B derivatives of 17≪,20β-DHP and testosterone.	263.
Chapter 5b .	
Production, isolation, characterization, purification	
and properties of rabbit antibodies to 17#,20 <sup>\$</sup> -DHP	
membrane receptor protein.	265.
3. Introduction .	265.
4. Methods and materials .	266.
Fish.	266.
Isolation, and purification of membrane receptors for	
antibodies production.	266.
Preparation of rabbit antibodies to membrane isolated	
receptor protein.	267.
Purification of antibodies from serum proteins.	268.
Inhibition of receptor binding to MIS [3H]17#,20	

DHP, by antibodies to the receptor protein.	269.
Attempted in vitro inhibition of oocyte maturation	
using antibodies to the membrane receptor protein.	270.
Removal of outer follicular layers from the ovarian	
follicles.	271.
Attempted inhibition of maturation, by membrane	
receptor antibodies using denuded oocytes, and	
oocytes containing the granulosa cell layers.	273.
Attempted identification of MIS receptors on zona	
radiata membrane, after incubation with receptor	
antibodies Using fluorescent anti rabbit gamma	
globulins produced in goat.	273
5. Results -	
Preparation of membrane receptor for antibodies	
production.	275.
Antibody titers.	275.
Protein A affinity purification, of the serum	
containing the receptor antibodies.	277.
Inhibition of receptor binding to MIS [3H]174,20	
DHP, by antibodies.	279.
Maturation studies <u>in vitro</u> , attempted inhibition	
by antibodies.	281.
6. Discussion .	283.
MIS receptor subunits.	283.

	13
Ouabain binding receptors.	285.
Antibodies inhibition.	288.
7. References .	293.
Chapter 6 .	
1. Recent advances in steroid receptors localization,	
and mode of action of steroids via cAMP.	296.
2. Oocyte maturation in amphibians.	305.
3. 17%,20 <sup>P</sup> -DHP mediated mechanism of maturation in	
fish oocytes.	321.
4. Current status of research.	321.
5. Future perspectives.	327.
6. References .	331.
APPENDIX .	351.
Curriculum vitae .	363.

# LIST OF TABLES .

TABLE		PAGE #
1.	Stages of oocyte during terminal	
	maturation.	25.
1.1.	Scatchard analysis results of ovarian cytosolic	
	preparation.	74.
1.2a.	Competitive inhibition studies in cytosolic	
	preparations of brook trout.	75.
1.2b.	Competitive inhibition studies in cytosolic	
	preparations of rainbow trout.	76.
1.3.	Steroid binding kinetics using [3H]174,20	
	DHP.	78.
1.4.	Nmax values from brook trout cytosol at various	
	stages.	87.
1.5.	Maturation studies using various steroids.	95.
2.1.	Reports on experimental demonstration of nuclea	r
	unoccupied steroid hormone receptors.	123.
3.1.	Binding parameters of brook trout stage (6-7)	
	oocyte membranes.	187.
4.1.	Concentrations of 174.20 -DHP in protoplasm and	
	membrane of oocytes at various stages of	
	maturation.	229.
5.1.	Attempted inhibition of maturation using	
	antibody to the receptor protein.	281.

### LIST OF FIGURES .

FIGUR	E.#	PAGE#
1.	A female brook trout <u>Salvelinus</u> <u>fontinalis</u>	
	almost ready to spawn.	24.
2.	Three major endocrine mediators of oocyte	
	maturation in salmonids.	27.
3.	Jalabert's tentative scheme for the control of	
	oocyte maturation.	29.
4.	A classical model of steroid hormone action.	31.
1.1.	Cross-sectional view of stage 1 ovarian follicle	e
	from brook trout.	37.
1.2.	Two-cell type model for the production of 174,-	
	20 -DHP by salmonid ovarian follicles.	38.
1.3a.	Binding of 17%,20%-DHP to cytosolic extract of	
	brook trout ovarian tissue.	70.
1.3b.	Linearization of the specific binding by	
	Scatchard analysis.	72.
1.4.	Competition of radioinert steroids with [3H]-	
	progesterone for binding sites in brook trout	
	cytosolic extract.	73.
1.5a.	Plot of rate of association of cytosolic recepto	10
	activity with [3H]174,20 -DHP.	77.
1.5b.	Second order linear plot of rate of association	
	[3H]17et.20 -DHP-receptor activity complex.	79.
1.6a.	Dissociation of the labelled [3H]174,208-	

	DHP-receptor activity complex with time.	80.
1.6b.	First order linear plot of log10 concentra-	
	tion of labelled receptor complex with time.	81.
1.7.	Effect of prot-ases, and DNase 1. and RNase 1A	
	on receptor activity with time.	83.
1.8.	Tryptic digestion of cytosolic receptor activity	
	in presence and absence of sodium molybdate.	84.
1.9.	Effect of trypsin inhibitor on tryptic digestion	
	of cytosolic receptor activity.	85.
1.10.	Sephacryl S-300 column chromatography of cytoso-	
	lic preparation equilibrated with [3H]prog-	
	esterone.	89.
1.11.	Sephacryl S-300 column chromatography	
	cytosolic preparation equilibrated with	
	[ <sup>3</sup> H]testosterone. 90.	
1.12.	Elution pattern obtained from a Sephacryl S-300	
	column after a cytosolic preparation was equil-	
	ibrated with [3H]progesterone, and then	
	frozen.	91.
1.13	SDS-PAGE analysis of peak tube of receptor acti	
	vity obtained from Sephacryl S-300 after equili-	
	bration of cytosolic preparation with [3H]	
	17 <b>4</b> ,20 <b>-</b> DHP.	93.
1.14.	Sedimentation pattern of cytosolic receptor	
	activity after equilibration with [3H]17#,20	
	DHP.	96.

1.15a	.Binding of [ <sup>3</sup> H]17#,20 <sup>β</sup> -DHP to cytosolic	
	extracts using equilibrium dialysis.	98.
1.151	Linearization of specific binding by Scatchard	
	analysis of [3H]17#,20P-DHP binding to	
	cytosolic extracts.	99.
2.1.	A revised model of steroid-receptor interaction	
	and induction of cellular response.	126.
2.2.	KCl gradient elution pattern, from DNA cellulose	
	column chromatography of brook trov gill	
	nuclear pellet extracted receptor activity.	141.
2.3.	KCl gradient elution pattern, from DNA cellulose	
	column chromatography of brook trout stage 6	
	oocyte nuclear extracted receptor activity.	142.
2.4.	KCl gradient elution pattern, from DNA cellulose	
	column chromatography of brook trout gill	
	cytosolic receptors.	143.
2.5.	KCl gradient elution pattern, from DNA cellulose	
	column chromatography of brook trout stage 1	
	cytosolic receptors.	144.
2.6.	Sephacryl S-300 elution pattern of brook trout	
	stage 3 nuclear extract.	147.
3.1.	Structure of progesterone, 17#,20 -DHP and	
	R5020.	160a.
3.2.	Ultracentifugation of whole brook trout oocytes	174.
3.3.	Zona radiata membranes obtained from brook trout	
	stage 6-7 oocytes.	175.

5 J. 6 35

3.4.	Cross-sectional view of zona radiata membrane	
	from stage 6-7 oocytes.	176.
3.5.	Photoaffinity labelling of the cytosolic receptor	
	protein using [3H]R5020 as a function	
	of time.	177.
3.6.	Photoaffinity labelling of cytosolic receptor	
	protein with concentration of [3H]R5020.	178.
3.7.	Inhibition of photoaffinity labelling of cyto-	
	solic receptor activity using inert 17#,20 -DHP.	179.
3.8.	Inhibition of photoaffinity labelling of cyto-	
	solic receptor activity using inert R5020.	180.
3.9.	Effect of increasing $174, 20\beta$ -DHP concentration	
	on the initial rate of photoaffinity labelling	
	with [3H]R5020.	182.
3.10.	Sephacryl S-300 elution pattern of the solubili-	
	zed zona radiata membranes after photoaffinity	
	labelling with [3H]R5020.	183.
3.11a	The cross section of zona radiata photoaffinity	
	labelled membrane after autoradiography, show-	
	ing the presence of receptor activity.	184.
3.115	The cross section of zona radiata membrane	
	treated with [3H]R5020 without photoaffinity	
	labelling after autoradiography.	185.
3.12.	Sephacryl S-300 elution pattern of the cytosolic	
	preparation from frozen stage 1 ovarian follicles	
	of brook trout.	188.

1. - B.M.

3.13.	SDS-PAGE analysis of [ <sup>3</sup> H]R5020	
	photoaffinity labelled receptor activity from	
	cytosolic preparation, and zona radiata membranes.	190.
3.14.	SDS-PAGE analysis of [3H]R5020 photoaffinity	
	labelled protein from previously frozen	
	blood plasma of brook trout.	191.
3.15.	[ <sup>3</sup> H]R5020-receptor activity complex elution	
	profile from DEAE Sephacel column.	193.
3.16.	Sephacryl S-300 elution pattern of the diluted	
	protoplasm from brook trout stage 2 ovarian	
	follicles after photoaffinity labelling with	
	[ <sup>3</sup> H]R5020.	195.
4.1a.	The decrease in $[^{3}H]_{17}$ , 20 $\beta$ -DHP from the	
	incubation medium with time.	223.
4.1b.	Rate of uptake of [3H]17%,20B-DHP into the	
	protoplasm and the membranes of the oocyte with	
	time.	224.
4.2a.	Double reciprocal plot of [3H]170,20B-DHP	
	decrease from the incubation mixture into the	
	oocytes at various concentrations of labelled	
	steroid (1-100 nM).	226.
4.2b.	Double reciprocal plot of uptake into the	
	protoplasm of the oocyte at various concentrations	
	of labelled steroid.	227.
4.2c.	Double reciprocal plot of uptake into the membrane	
	fraction of the oocytes at various concent-	

nina in in

19

The second states

	rations of labelled steroid.	228.
5.1.	DEAE Sephacel column chromatography of concentr-	
	cytosolic preparation from stage 1 brook	
	trout ovarian follicles.	245.
5.2.	DEAE Sephacel column chromatography of receptor	
	preparation previously partially purified, and	
	then equilibrated with 17K,20 -DHP (3 uM).	246.
5.3.	DEAE Sephacel column chromatography of dilute	
	cytosolic preparation from stage 1 brook trout	
	ovarian follicles.	248.
5.4.	SDS gel electrophoresis of the peak tube	
	fractions from Fig. 5.3.	249.
5.5.	Chromatofocusing elution pattern from cytosolic	
	preparation of brook trout ovarian follicles,	
	using PBE 94 gel exchanger equilibrated at pH 8	
	The column was eluted using elution buffer	
	at pH 5.0.	251.
5.6.	Chromatofocusing elution pattern from cytosolic	
	preparation of brook trout ovarian follicles,	
	using PBE 94 gel exchanger equilibrated at pH 9.	
	6. The column was eluted using elution buffer a	
	t pH 9.6.	253.
5.7.	Chromatofocusing elution pattern from cytosolic	
	preparation of brook trout ovarian follicles,	
	using PBE 118 gel exchanger equilibrated at pH	
	11.0. The column was eluted using elution buffer	

	at pH 9.0.	255.
5.8	. SDS gel electrophoresis pattern obtained of the	
	peak tube fractions of a chromatofocusing run	
	(Fig. 5.7).	256.
5.9	. SDS gel electrophoresis of purified receptor	
	samples after chromatofocusing, and Sephacryl	
	S-300 elution.	257.
5.1	0. Purification of antibodies to the receptor prot-	
	ein. Elution profile from protein A affinity	
	column of rabbit serum containing the antibody	
	to the membrane receptor activity.	278.
5.1	1. After washing with phosphate buffer the Protein	
	A column containing the bound antibody was	
	eluted using glycine / HCl buffer at pH 3.0.	280.
5.1	2. Amino acid sequences of various steroid and	
	thyroid receptors.	286.
5.1	3. The structure of cardiotonic steroid ouabain.	287.
6.1	. Diagram indicating various modes of regulation	
	of cAMP by hormones in eucaryotic cells.	299.
6.2	. The possible position of membrane receptor, G	
	protein, and adenylate cyclase in the cell plasma	
	membrane.	312.
6.3	. The subunit interactions of regulatory protein	
	Ns in hormone receptor mediated actions of	
	adenylate cyclase.	313.

6.4. The sequence of events following hormone action



were a set then the more the sum area in the set of the set of the set of the set

# leading to PI response.

320.

#### INTRODUCTION

In the female salmonoid fish, the ontogenetic development of gametes (oocytes) occurs in the ovary through the process of maturation or meiosis, as a result of which the oocytes lose half of their chromosomes and become haploid. The initial step in production of gametes is by proliferation of oogonia by mitosis which gives rise to several hundred oocytes in the ovary (Fig. 1). The period of growth of the ovarian follicle is prolonged and the increase in size is considerable. Growth takes place over a period of two to three years depending on various factors with the major one being availability of food. Many embryologists distinguish two periods of oocyte development: the previtellogenesis period and the vitellogenesis period. Growth is accelerated during the vitellogenesis period, during which yolk is deposited in the oocyte. Simultaneously with the growth of the oocyte its nucleus (germinal vesicle) enters into prophase 1 of meiotic division; the homologous chromosomes pair together, but subsequent stages of meiosis are postponed until the end of the period of vitellogenic growth. The next phase of opgenesis involves the resumption of meiosis or terminal oocyte maturation. This process is accompanied by breakdown of the germinal vesicle(GVBD).

Fig. 1. A female brook trout <u>Salvalinus fontinalis</u> almost ready to spawn ( stage 5 ) ovarian follicles, fork length 235 mm.

a state of the second second

1.1.12



chromosomal condensation and extrusion of the first polar <sup>25</sup> body. These changes occur prior to ovulation and are prerequisites for successful fertilization. The period between prophase 1 arrest and extrusion of the first polar body is called the period of maturation, and this process is under endocrine control in salmonids.

Three factors are involved in the endocrine control of the terminal maturation in salmonids (Fig. 2). The pituitary gonadotropin stimulates the synthesis of maturation inducing steroid (MIS)  $174, 20\beta$ -dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one  $(174, 20\beta$ -DHP) by granulosa cells of the ovarian follicle, the  $174, 20\beta$ -DHP then interacts with the oocyte to bring about activation of maturation promoting factor (MPF) in the ooplasm which leads to GVBD (for review see Nagahama, 1987, 1988). During the period of terminal maturation the germinal vesicle (GV) migrates from the centre of the periphery of the oocyte. Seven stages of maturation are characterized according to the position of GV in the oocyte (Table 1). These stages have been used in conjunction with plasma levels of  $174, 20\beta$ -DHP in salmonids (So, <u>ri al</u> . 1976).

The MIS 174,20*B*-DHP was first isolated and charcterized by Idler and co-workers from plasma of Sockeye salmon (Idler, <u>at al</u> .1960) and Atlantic salmon (Schmidt and Idler, 1962). Terminal occyte maturation <u>in vivo</u> is accelerated

### TABLE 1

# Various stages of cocyte during terminal

# maturation in salmonids.\*

Stage Oocyte	Position of germinal vesicle (GV)
1	GV central
2	GV slightly off centre
3	GV midway between centre and periphery
4	GV peripheral
5	GV breakdown (GVBD)
6	Ovulated oocytes with oil droplets peripherally
7	Occyte clear and translucent and free in body cavity

\*As described by Ng and Idler (1978)

Fig. 2. Three major mediators of oocyte maturation in salmonids, 1) gonadotropin, 2) maturation inducing hormone and 3) maturation promoting factor (diagram from Nagahama, Y. 1987. Develop. Gr⇔th and Dif∛∓r. 29, 1-12).

the second se

270.





by  $176, 20\beta$ -DHP in trout, carp, and coho salmon (Jalabert,  $\frac{2^{28}}{100}$ al.1976, 1977, 1978). In <u>vitro</u> 174,20\beta-DHP is the most effective steroid in stimulating GVBD in goldfish, rainbow trout, northern pike (Jalabert, 1976), brook trout and yellow perch oocytes (Goetz and Bergman, 1978; Goetz and Theofan, 1979). The highest plasma concentrations of 174,20**6**-

DHP occur in blood immediately before and/or around ovulation in salmonoids and in goldfish (Campbell, <u>et al</u>. 1980; Fostier, <u>et al</u>. 1981; Scott and Baynes, 1982; Scott, <u>et al</u>. 1982; Wright and Hunt, 1982; Kagawa, <u>et al</u>. 1983; Stacey, <u>et al</u>. 1983; Nagahama, 1987 a and b). In a recent study on landlocked Atlantic salmon, 174,20**f**-DHP plasma levels increased progressively from oocyte stages 1 to 6, with the glucuronide predominating in stages 1-4 and the free steroid in stages 5-7 (So, <u>et al</u>. 1985). Since in vertebrates it is generally assumed that GVBD marks the resumption of meiosis (prophase 1 to metaphase 2), it is probable that 174,20**f**-DHP in salmonoids reinitiates meiosis at stage 5, when free plasma 174,20**f**-DHP levels are the highest.

After establishing the functional role of 174,20 P-DHP in salmonoids, Jalabert, (1976) proposed its action via oocyte receptors, although the author questioned the mechanism of its action (Fig. 3), since steroid-induced GVBD is blocked by inhibitors of translation but not transcription
Fig. 3. Tentative scheme for the control of oocyte maturation in trout (Jalabert, B. 1976. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 33: 974-988.). Jalabert questioned the presence of classical steroid oocyte receptors, because maturation (GVBD) was not blocked by inhibitors of transcription.





indicating that the mechanism of action involved in the steroid maturation of occytes (GVBD) has a special characteristic which is different from the classical steroid mechanism of action via nuclei (Detlaff and Skoblina, 1969; Goswami and Sundararaj, 1973; Jalabert, 1976; Theojan and Goetz, 1981; DeManno and Goetz, 1986,1987). The classical steroid into the cell cytoplasm by passive diffusion (Muller and Wotiz, 1979; Peck, <u>si</u> <u>al</u>. 1973; Giorgi, 1980), and its binding with cytosol receptors causing transformation of the receptor. The transformed receptor-steroid complex then enters the nucleus and interacts with the acceptor site on the DAA which leads to transcription and processing of mRNA thereby causing translation of proteins related to the functional role of the steroid in the cytoplasm (Fig. 4).

Nagahama and Kishimoto, (1987) have shown that incubation of goldfish cocytes with  $174, 20\beta$ -DHP results in GVBD, while the injection of the steroid into the ocyte does not result in GVBD. These results suggests that the action of  $174, 20\beta$ -DHP is on the plasma membrane of the ocyte.

In amphibian <u>Xenopus laevis</u> occytes, progesterone binds to an oocyte membrane receptor protein (Sadler, <u>et al</u> . 1985; Blondeau and Baulieu, 1984; Sadler and Maller, 1982; Ishikawa, <u>et al</u> . 1977). One of the surprising features of

Fig. 4. A classical model of steroid hormone action (diagram from Clark, <u>et al</u>. 1986. <u>In</u> "Laboratory Methods Manual for Hormone Action and Molecular Endocrinology" W. T. Schrader and B. W. O'Mally, eds., 10th ed., Chap.1. pp 1-55).

in the second second



Fig. 4.

and the second state of the second second

amphibian occyte maturation in <u>Xenopus</u> has been the wide variety of steroids and membrane active drugs that are capable of stimulating the process. Also conventional steroid receptor isolation methods have not revealed the presence of a classical cytosol receptor in <u>Xenopus</u>. On the other hand Morril and collaborators have reported high affinity binding of progesterone in the cytosolic fraction of Rana occytes (Kalimi, ct. al. 1979).

In fish, recently Maneckjee, <u>et al</u> .(1987;1989 a and b) reported 174,  $20\beta$ -DHP receptor activity from cocytes. The principal purpose of the present study was to establish the presence of a target organ receptor for 174,  $20\beta$ -DHP and to begin to elucidate the mechanisms by which 174,  $20\beta$ -DHP brings about maturation.

#### Maturation inhibiting substances

In sexually matured mammals, occyte maturation <u>in vivo</u> occurs after a preovulatory surge of luteinizing hormone (LH) or by administration of exogenous gonadotrophin (Gns) (Tsafriri, 1978). Cell culture of the oocytes surrounded by follicle cells do not spontaneously mature if the cells are removed before the endogenous LH surge. Addition of LH causes the follicles to initiate maturation (Linder, <u>ci al</u> . 1974); Masui and Clark, 1983). However, when

oocyte-cummulus cell complexes (oocyte + outer cummulus follicles ) are removed from antral follicles and kept in culture medium. they spontaneously mature without addition of Gns or other stimulating agents (Edwards, 1965; Pincus and Enzmann, 1935). These results suggest that some component of the antral follicle inhibits oocyte maturation until that inhibition is overcome by the action of Gns. Follicular fluid of several mammalian species contains a meiotic-arresting substance called oocyte maturation inhibitor (OMI). Porcine OMI, a polypeptide, has been isolated and purified from granulosa cells with molecular weight < 2000 (Tsafriri, et al . 1976). OMI activity from mature human Graafian follicles was found to be inhibitory to progesterone induced meiotic maturation in Xenopus oocytes (Cameron, et al . 1983). The mechanism of action of OMI is not known, although it has been reported that follicular fluid from mature fertilizable human follicles contains significantly less OMI activity than similar fluid from immature oocyles (Channing, <u>et</u> <u>al</u> . 1983). Treatment of cumulus-enclosed and denuded mammalian oocytes with cAMP analogs or inhibitors of phosphodicsterase inhibited spontaneous maturation (Cho, ct al .1974; Dekel and Beers, 1978), Also Gns reversed the inhibitory action of dibutyryl cyclic AMP (dbcAMP), and 3-isobutryl-1 methylxanthing (IBMX) on the maturation of cumulus cell-enclosed rat oocytes but not the denuded oocytes (Dekel

and Beers, 1978, 1980). Thus meiotic arrest is maintained by the passage of cAMP from the cumulus cells into the occytes through gap junctions, and that Gns trigger maturation by physical disruption of intracellular communication between cumulus cells and the occyte (Gilula, <u>et al</u>.1978; Dekel and Beers, 1980).

Recent findings of Eppig, <u>ei</u> <u>al</u>.(1983), are at variance with cAMP itself being OMI, since elevation of cAMP levels in the cumulus cell-cocyte combination led to inhibition of maturation while increased cAMP levels in denuded occytes had no effect. Furthermore sub-optimal doses of dbcAMP caused greater inhibition of maturation on cumulus-cell occytes than on the denuded occytes preparation. These results suggest that a release of secondary factors from cumulus-cell occured into the occytes via cAMP interaction (Downs and Eppig, 1985: Eppig and Downs, 1984). The principal inhibitory component in porcine follicular fluid and serum has been purified and characterized to be hypoxanthine (Downs, <u>ei al</u>.1985). These results are different from earlier work of Tsafriri, <u>ei al</u>. (1976), as described above.

In a teleost fish <u>Fundulus</u> <u>heteroclitus</u> oocytes Greely, <u>st al</u>.(1987), reported that the oocyte can resume meiosis in the absence of their enveloping follicle cells and

34

and the set of the set

exogenously supplied 174,201-DHP. The authors concluded that the follicle cells of <u>Fundulus heteroclitus</u> may be producing a substance that directly inhibits oocyte maturation, or that the association o' follicle cells and oocyte may somehow contribute indirectly to the maintenance of meiotic arrest.

Jwamatsu and Takama, (1980) demonstrated the presence of a factor in rabbit serum which inhibits gonadotropin and 174-,20f-DHP induced maturation in follicle-enclosed medaka oncytes. Similar activity was also confirmed in sera from chicken and lizard as well as in several mammalian species (Iwamatsu, 1981). It was later demonstrated that sera factor also exhibited maturational activity when whole ovarian follicles were exposed to the sera for 9-12 h and then incubated in serum free medium for an additional 12 h (Iwamatsu, 1983).

Certain steroid hormones also have been reported to block hormone-induced oocyte maturation <u>in vitro</u>. In rainbow trout, estradiol was shown to prevent gonadotrophin induced maturation, but not 174,200-DHP induced maturation (Jalabert, 1975). Further research demonstrated that the inhibitory effect of estradiol was due to decreased synthesis of 174,200-DHP in the follicular layer (Jalabert and Fostier, 1984).

#### CHAPTER 1

15 2 1.2

# Isolation of receptor activity for maturation inducing steroid 174.20B-DHP

Most endocrinologist will agree with the principle that all steroid hormones act via specific receptors present in the target organs. Thus isolation and characterization of 1700,208-·DHP receptors from occytes was the first step in the process of elucidating the mechanism of action of MIS 17%,20%-DHP. The ovarian follicle in salmonids consists of three layers of cells (Fig.1.1). A two cell model for synthesis of MIS  $17_{e}$ ,  $20\beta$ -DHP has been demonstrated (Nagahama, 1987 a and b). Outer thecal cells synthesize the precursor steroid 174hydroxy progesterone in response to gonadotropin action. that traverses the basal lamina and is converted to MIS 174,-20B-DHP by the granulosa cell layer where gonadotropin acts to enhance the activity of  $20\beta$ -hydroxy steroid dehydrogenase (Fig. 1.2). The MIS 17d, 20 P-DHP is then released directly on to the zona radiata membrane surrounding the occyte, and the plasma membrane of the oocyte is intercalated with the zona radiata.

Various methods are used in the isolation

36

· · · · · 335

Fig. 1.1. Cross-section of stage 1 ovarian follicle from brook trout shown diagramatically. Stepwise removal of outer follicular layers are shown from A to D. A) All follicular layers present. B) Outer epithelium (OE) removed, exposing thecal cell layer (TF). C) Thecal cell layer removed exposing granulosa cells (FE). D) Denuded oocyte after removal of granulosa cells. The outer epithelium (C) is called the chorion or zona radiata, the plasma membrane of the oocyte is intercalated into the zona radiata from the inside part of the oocyte (modified diagram from Lessman, C. A. <u>et</u> al. 1985. Can. J. Fish Aquat. Sci. 42: 2053-2058).

Add. 1994 all a list of the second second and a second se Second sec

370.

Fig. 1.1.



Fig. 1.2. Two-cell type model for the productiion of 174,20%. DHP by salmonid ovarian follicles. 20%-HSD, 20%-hydroxy steroid dehydrogenase. Nagahama, Y. 1987. <u>In</u> Hormones and reproduction in Fishes, Amphibians and Reptiles. 171-193.(D.O. Norris and R.E. Jones, eds., Plenum Press, New York.).

##TB##The P#TERF ##TERF TO A LOCAL STATE AND A PARTY TO A PARTY AND A PARTY AND A PARTY AND A PARTY AND A PARTY





characterization of mammalian and fish cytosolic and nuclear steroid receptors (Clark, <u>et</u> <u>al</u>. 1984; Sandor, <u>et</u> <u>al</u>. 1984; Callard and Mak, 1982; Alberts and Herrick, 1970). These established methods were used with appropriate modifications in order to isolate and characterize the receptors for MIS  $17_{dc}$ ,  $20\beta$ -DHP.

Five criteria are used for characterization of steroid receptors. 1) Finite binding capacity: this criterion is met by demonstrating that the steroid binding system under study can be saturated. This is seldom achieved completely with fish stercid receptors due to lower affinity constant (Ka) values, which leads to problems in the separation of free from bound steroid. 2) High affinity: in mammalian system steroid receptors possess high affinity, this is expected because the circulating levels of steroid are usually 10-10 to 10-8M (Clark and Peck, 1979). Thus the receptor must have affinity in the range of steroid blood levels, otherwise the response would not occur; although receptor interactions of low affinity are observed if blood or tissue levels of steroids are high, 3) Steroid specificity: receptors are expected to display high affinities for the specific hormone or class of hormones to avoid interference from other steroid hormones. Nevertheless, receptor sites do not display absolute steroid-specificity (Clark and Peck, 1984), 4) Tissue

specificity: since only specific cell types respond to given hormones, and if the response is mediated <u>via</u> receptors then only the target organ responsive to steroid action should possess receptors for that particular steroid. 5) Binding correlated with biological response: the extent of biological response should relate to some function of receptor occupancy.

#### Cytosolic receptors

Cytosolic receptor isolation as described for somatic cells, begins with homogenizing the minced target organ tissue gently in low ionic strength buffer (to avoid breakdown of nuclei). The low ionic strength buffer is used, because high salt concentrations decrease receptor affinity (Ka) for the steroid. Sodium molybdate is used in the isolation buffer to stabilize the receptor-steroid complex from transformation or activation. Sodium molybdate also keeps the receptor in the aggregrated form, and acts as a protease inhibitor. Also the MoO42- ion is capable of forming phosphomolybdate or sulphomolybdate complexes which could prevent an irreversible loss of binding capacity. A second component which has pronouced effects on the steroid binding capacity of untransformed receptors is the reducing environment. In the absence of a reducing environment (e.g. D'TT), the binding capacity is reversibly lost even in the

#### presence of the molybdate.

The nuclear pellet obtained after gentle hand homogenization and centrifugation of the ovarian follicles showed that GV of the oocyte had been disrupted. Although intact nuclei from follicular cells were present. The GV of the oocyte is larger than most somatic cells, and its disruption during homogenization is thus difficult to avoid. Thus receptors found in the cytosolic preparation can come from disrupted GV (Callard and Callard, 1986), Although cytosolic preparations obtained from the same batch of ovarian follicles, when homogenized using gentle hand homogenizer. or much more disruptive Polytron homogenization gave the same amount of binding. Thus the receptor activity is present in a very easily solubilized or in soluble form. Nuclear receptors bound to the ligand steroid are found associated with the chromatin in the nuclear pellet, and thus are insoluble (Callard and Callard, 1986). It was observed that dextran-charcoal treatment of stages 1-3 oocytes cytosolic preparations, did not increase its maximum binding capacity (Nmax) for the labelled steroid ligands progesterone or 174,20\$-DHP, indicating that receptor activity was present in the free form, or the steroid exchange reaction was very fast during the binding assay. Later studies indicated the absence of nuclear receptor activity. Thus present evidence indicates that the

C DESCRIPTION OF STREET, STREE

The state of the state

cytosolic receptor preparation consists of soluble form of receptors most likely present in the cytoplasm of the oocyte. The possibility that receptor binding protein in the cytosolic preparation from ovarian follicles is a blood plasma steroid binding protein was also investigated. It was demonstrated that the two proteins were different (see section on blood plasma binding protein).

# Steroid binding studies with cytosolic receptors

In the binding studies, the total amount of receptor (Rt) is determined under equilibrium conditions by adding steroid (S) to an aliquot of cytosolic receptor preparation until saturation or near saturation is obtained. The amount of bound ligand (R-S) which is observed in this system is mathematically related to free ligand concentration [S] by the equetion :

> [Rt] [S] [R-S] = -----

> > Ka + [S]

Where Ka is the dissociation constant of the receptor ligand complex. This equation is similar to the classical Michaelis Menton equation and applies equally well to studies of ligand binding as long as conditions of equilibrium exist. From the saturation plot, the actual point of saturation is equal to the number of receptor sites

(R+). The dissociation constant (Ka) is the concentration of steroid at which 50% of the receptor sites (R+) are bound. Although one can make reasonable estimates of (R+) and (Ka) from saturation plot. these parameters can be obtained by 1) Scatchard analysis (Scatchard, 1949). In Scatchard plots specific bound/free hormone ratio is plotted as a function of bound steroid. The number of receptor sites (Rt) can be obtained directly from intercept on the x axis (bound steroid). The (Ka) can be calculated from the slope of the line or from intercept on the y axis. 2) Kd and Rt can also be obtained from double reciprocal plots of 1/[S] against 1/[R-S]; the negative intercept on the 1/[S] axis equals -1/Ka. and intercept on the 1/[R-S] axis gives the value of R., 3) The affinity or equilibrium constant Ke for the receptor storoid complex is a function of the rate of association k, and the rate of dissociation ka of the steroid:

# $K_a = k_a / k_d$

Thus by experimentally measuring  $k_m$  and  $k_d$ , value of  $K_m$  can be calculated.  $K_d$  is the reciprocal of  $K_m$ .

### Experimental methods for cytosolic receptor assay

After equilibration of cytosolic receptors with labelled steroid, the bound receptor-steroid complex separation from free unbound steroid was attempted using various methods: 1) charcoal-dextran absorption of free steroid (Koreman, et al .1969; Mester, et al .1970; Sanborn, et al .1975; Clark and Peck, 1984; Sandor, et al .1984. 2) Hydroxy-apatite absorption of bound steroid-receptor complex (Pavlik and Coulson, 1976; Peck, et al .1973; Waltor and Clark, 1977). 3) Sephadex LH 20 gel filteration (Santi, et al .1973). 4) Controlled pore glass bead absorption of steroid- receptor complex (Clark and Gorski, 1969; Gormley, et al .1985). 5) Ammonium sulphate/ calcium sulphate precipitation of bound steroid-receptor complex (Sangalang and Freeman, 1977, 1987). 6) Protamine sulphate precipitation of bound steroid-receptor complex (Steggles and King, 1970; Chamness, et al .1975; Clark and Peck, 1984. 7) Equilibrium dialysis, using teflon cells and low molecular weight cut-off membranes (Spectrum Medical Industries, Los Angeles USA.).

The charcoal-dextran separation assay described by Sandor, <u>st al</u> .(1984) for glucocorticoid steroid receptors in fish gills cytosolic preparation, was initially attempted in order to separate free from bound steroid from cytosolic preparation of ovarian follicles of brook trout using

[3H]Progesterone and [3H]17¢,20β-DHP. Initially very low binding was obtained, and Scatchard plots could not be obtained. A literature search revealed that in mammalian cytosolic progesterone receptor preparations, the experimental conditions used for separation of free from bound steroid was 30 sec (Clark and Peck, 1984), The longer times of separation led to dissociation of receptor-steroid complex, giving lower binding. Therefore the ovarian cytosolic receptor assay was then modified, to optimise the conditions for charcoal-dextran separation, and to obtain maximum specific binding. A second experimental problem with the assay using the modified optimised time of separation (5 min 15 sec), was that at high concentrations of steroid the specific binding obtained was higher than the saturation plot would have given. This was because in the original method of receptor assay (Sandor et al. 1984), the charcoal-dextran separation was carried out on 40 tubes per each experiment (2 cytosolic receptor samples of 20 tubes each; and each sample was assayed at 5 concentrations of the steroid, and at each concentration total and non-specific steroid binding was obtained in duplicate). Thus the disparity in the observed experimental results was due to differences in the time of charcoal-dextran treatment received by the later (high [3H]steroid concentration) tubes, compared to the earlier tubes. The time of charcoal-dextran treatment was measured from addition to the

first tube, therefore the later tubes got less and less time respectively during charcoal-dextran treatment, since the addition was carried out one tube at a time. It took about 2 min 20 sec to pipette and vortex charcoal-dextran solution 40 times consecutively; thus the last tube's exposure time to charcoal-dextran was reduced by 2 min and 20 sec. The assay procedure was modified, and a set of 8 tubes were equilibrated at a time instead of 40 tubes and then processed as before. The optimal time for charcoal-dextran seperation using 8 tubes was experimentally measured and was 5 min 15 sec, the modified procedure gave belter saturation curves, and linear Scatchard plots (P < 0.05 of r value).

In the hydroxy-apatite batch method (Clark and Peck, 1984), the cytosolic receptor proparation is equilibrated with labelled steroid, and then hydroxy-apatite slurry is added. The receptor-steroid complex binds the hydroxy-apatite and the free steroid stays in solution. The tubes are then centrifuged, and supernatant discarded. The hydroxy-apatite pellet centaining the labelled receptor-steroid complex is then washed 3 times with ice cold equilibration buffer to remove adsorbed free steroid from hydroxy-apatite. Then the pellet is extracted with tethanol, and measured by scintillation counting. With the cytosolic ovarian follicle preparation from brook trout it was observed that

radioactivity was continously released during washing. Even after 7 washes radioactivity was being released in the washing buffer, indicating that receptor steroid complex was continously dissociating during washing. This method is suitable for receptors which have a slow rate of dissociation at 0-4 deg. C. The above method was also tried on glucocorticoid receptors from gill tissue, using [9H]cortisol, and after 3 washes very little radioactivity was observed in the wash. Gill cortisol receptors have lower rates of dissociation compared to ovarian 17%,20¶-DHP receptor activity (Chakraborti, <u>et al</u>.

In the Sephadex LH 20 method using 12cm x 1/2cm columns (Bio-Rad Econo-Column 7370-0242), the separation of labelled receptor-steroid complex from free steroid gave low binding activity. The percentage of specific bound labelled receptor-complex recovered was only 3.6%, compared to values obtained using the charcoal-dextran separation assay. During elution through the Sephadex LH 20 the free steroid is held back in the gel and thus is separated from the receptor-complex, leading to dissociation of the complex. This method is lengthy and difficult to quantitate.

In the controlled pore glass bead (CPG) absorption method (Gormley, <u>ct\_al</u>, 1985), the labelled receptor-steroid

complex is adsorbed on to the glass beads colvam. (CPG beads 120/200 mesh, 544 A mean pore diameter purchased from Electro-Nucleonics Fairfield, N J; USA). Excess labelled steroid is washed away leaving the receptor steroid complex bound to the beads. Bound labelled steroid is then eluted using ethanol. With cytosolic preparations from ovarian follicles equilibriated with labelled 174,20<sup>6</sup>-DHP, dissociation of labelled receptor-steroid complex occured during washing procedure (20 ml washing buffer was used according to the method), and no specific binding was recovered in the ethanol.

Sangalang and Freeman, (1977,1987) used ammonium sulphate/ calcium sulphate, for separation of free and bound labelled testosterone, and 17¢,20β-DHP in their radioimmunoassays of fish plasma. The authors measured the free steroid in solution, after precipitation of antibody-steroid complex. Extensive sets of experiments were carried oul to determine the conditions, and optimal time for precipitate formation, after addition of ammonium sulphate/ calcium sulphate solution to equilibriated cytosolic preparation from brook trout. The initial results were promising, Scatchard plots were obtained, but they were not linear (P > 0.05 of the r value). In the receptor binding assay system, the amount of free steroid is much greater than its bound counterpart. Normally during Scatchard plots only 3-d% of total labelled

steroid binding is obtained as specific binding. Thus an error of 5% in measurement of free binding could lead to over 50% error in the bound value. In radioimmunoassays, the value of bound steroids are between 20-50%, and a similar 5% error in measurement of the free value does not lead to more than 20% error in the bound value. In receptor assays, another complication is introduced due to non-specific binding. This involves subtraction of non-specific values from total binding values. Since errors are additive, the results from ammonium sulphate/ calcium sulphate prepitation experiment were not significant, i.e. linear Scatchard plots were not obtained.

The method described by Clark and Peck (1984), was used in separation of free from bound steroid using protamine sulphate precipitation. The method involves, measurement of bound receptor-steroid complex, after precipitation with protamine sulphate. The precipitated complex is then washed twice, to remove adsorbed steroid. In the case of cytosolic 17g, 20<sup>B</sup>-DHP receptors from brook trout ovarian follicles, the receptor complex dissociated during this washing period and low non-specific binding was obtained.

Extensive amount of work was carried out using Spectrum Medical Industries equilibrium dialyser, to obtain affinity constant (Ka), and maximum binding capacity

(Nmax), using Scatchard analysis. Total binding is measured in a known volume of cytosolic receptor preparation, by placing the cytosolic preparation on one side of the teflon cell 1 separated by a semi-permeable membrane (Spectra/pore 2,132480; Spectra/pore 4,132496). Labelled steroid solution of same volume (made up in the same buffer as the sample cytosol preparation) is placed on the other side of the cell. The cell is then equilibriated by slow rotation at 4 deg C. Equilibration is reached within 6 h using #2 membrane, and within 12 h using #4 membranes. After equilibriation sample aliquots, in triplicate are taken from both sides of the cell and counted by scintillation counting. Similarly for non-specific binding cell 2, the same volume of cytosolic solution is placed on one side of the cell and equivalent amount of labelled steroid plus 1000-fold excess inert (unlabelled) steroid solution is placed on the other side. In cell 1, the difference between the amount of radioactivity obtained from the two sides gives total binding. Similarly, in cell 2, the difference between the amount of radioactivity obtained between the two sides, gives the value for non-specific binding. The specific binding value is the difference between total and non-specific binding values. A slight complication arises in obtaining the value for free steroid, since the semi-permeable membrane also binds the steroid. The membrane binding value is obtained as follows:-

Total amount of steroid added - total amount of steroid present after equilibriation from both sides of the cell = amount steroid bound to the membrane. This value was obtained for each cell. Although slight differences were observed, between membranes binding the steroid in the total and non-specific cells. The mean of these values was used i.. calculating the value for free steroid as follows:free steroid = Total steroid added - (specific steroid bound to cytosolic receptors + mean value of steroid bound to membrane).

In order to obtain Ke and Nmey values from Scatchard plots, the equilibrium dialysis was performed using cytosol preparation from brook trout and various concentrations of labelled steroid. A typical saturation plot is shown in the results section of this chapter: the Scatchard plot obtained from this plot deviated at the lower concentration range (between 1 and 2 nM). If these lower concentration values are not taken into consideration during the linear regression analysis, the Scatchard plots were linear and significant (P< 0.05 of r value). The Ke and Nmax values were very similar to that obtained using charcoal-dextran method. The deviation observed at the low concentrations, might be due to errors in calculation of mean value of steroid binding to the membrane, giving low values for free steroid and hence higher values for bound/free. This method is simple to carry out, but very

labour intensive and time consuming. Teflon cells are first washed in 1% count-off detergent, and then placed in 30% chromic acid over night and finally washed in distilled water 5 times. Membranes are propared by placing them in solution of 10% EDTA at 50 deg for 3 h, and then washing them in distilled water at least 5 times. Before use, the membranes are equilibriated in experimental buffer for 2 h at 4 deg C. The time of equilibriation using the #4 (thicker) membranes was determined to be 12 h at 4 deg C, and receptors could denature during this period giving lower Nmax value. The #2 (thinner) membranes were difficult to use, they curled during washing, and were difficult to place in between the cells, but required shorter equilibration times.

The modified charcoal-dextran method of separation of free from bound steroid gave the best results in terms of linear Scatchard plots. This method was further utilized in the measurement and characterization of the cytosolic  $176, 20\beta$ -DHP receptor activity from brook trout. The cytosolic receptor properties studied were specificity, molecular weights, kinetic parameters, stability, and protein nature.

#### Materials and methods

## Fish .

Female, prespawning brook trout, <u>Salvelinus</u> <u>Continalis</u> (about 35 cm and 0.5 kg) were provided by the department of Fisheries and Oceans, Antigonish Fish culture Station, Frasers Mills, Nova Scotia. The animals were exposed to natural photoperiods, and housed in regular glass tanks of recirculated, filtered dechlorinated fresh water topped up daily with 10% addition of fresh water. The fish were kept at 10 deg C.

Landlocked Atlantic salmon, <u>Salmo salar</u> Ouananiche, were from a laboratory stock hatched in 1982 at the Marine Seiences Research Laboratory, St. John's, Newfoundland. Ouananiche were kept in running fresh water, and maintained under natural seasonal conditions of photoperiod and temperature. The fish were segregated by year class and used when reproductively matured (2 + years, about 13 cm and 0.035 kg). Rainbow trout, <u>Salmo gairdneri</u> were purchased from a fish hatchery in Hopeall, Newfoundland and used within 48 h (about 35 cm and 0.67 kg).

## Sternids

[1,2,6,7-3H]Progesterone (specific activity 112 Ci/m mol), 174-methyl [3H]Promegestone R5020

(17,21-dimethyl-19-nor-Pregn-4,9-diene-3-20-dione specific activity 85 Ci/m mol) and [1,2-3H]17K-HP (specific activity 50 Ci/m mol) were purchased from New England Nuclear Corporation (Canada), Lachine, Quebec. [1,2-3H]174,20%-DHP (specific activity 50 Ci/m mol) was synthesized from [1,2-3H]17d-HP (Simpson, et al. 1964). [7-3H]Pregnenolone (specific activity 10 Ci/m mol) and [3HlOrg (16 -Ethyl-21-hydroxy-19-nor[6,7-3H]pregn-4-en-3,20-dione. specific activity 45 Ci/m mol) were purchased from Amersham Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. The tritiated steroids were purified by paper chromatography or thin layer chromatography using standard methods. Radioinert steroids progesterone, testosterone, cortisol and triamcinolone acetonide (9-X-Fluro-11\$,16x-,17,21-tetrahydroxy-1,4-pregnadiene-3,20-dione) were purchased from Sigma chemical company, St. Louis, Miscouri. U.S.A. Radioinert 17⊄,20∮-DHP and 17⊀-HP were purchased from Steraloids, Inc., Wilton, N.H. Inert Org 2058 and R5020 were supplied by the manufacturers of the corresponding labelled steroids. Pregnenolone was purchased from Ikapharm, Ramat, Israel.

### Chemicals.

Trizma 7.4, sodium molybdate, glycerol, EDTA, dithiothreitol, protease type 25 (pronase E), protease

(proteinase K), trypsin (T8253) and tryp;in inhibitor (T9253) were purchased from Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, Missouri, U.S.A. Sephacryl S-300 superfine, high molecular weight gel filteration kit, deoxyribonuclease 1 from bovine pancreas, ribonuclease 1A from bovine pancreas and electrophoresis calibration kits were purchased from Pharmacia (Canada) Inc., Dorval, Quebec. Common inorganic chemicals and organic solvents were purchased from Fisher Scientific, Caladon or BDH and were of highest purity available. Liquid scintillation fluid (Ready solve HP) was purchased from Beckman instruments, Toronto, Canada.

## Cytosolic ovarian follicle preparation

Fish were removed from the tanks and sacrificed by a blow on the head, and then placed on ice. A blood sample was withdrawn with a heparinized syringe from the caudal peduncle within 60 sec of introducing the hand net into the tank. The ovarian tissue was dissected out, weighed and then a sample of tissue ( $\underline{\alpha}$  . 3.5 c) was used after the connective tissue was removed. The oocytes were then placed into ice cold TETS buffer (10mM Tris-HCl, 1mM EDTA, 5mM DTT, 10mM sodium molybdate at pH 7.4; Sandor, <u>at al</u> . 1984). The tissue was homogenized either with a Polytron PCU-2-110 instrument (Brinkmann Instruments, Rexdale, Ontario), or with a motor driven teflon-glass Potter-Elvehjem homogenizer (3 x 15 sec at 90 sec intervals in ice water). The homogenate was then centrifuged at 750 x g for 30 min (IEC Centra-7-R refrigerated centrifuge). The resulting supernatant was further centrifuged after treatment with charcoal-dextran to remove endogenous steroids at 15,000 rpm (25,000 x g) for 120 min (IEC refrigerated centrifuge Model B-20), or in a Beckman L5-50 ultracentrifuge at 35,000 rpm (151,000 x g) for 60 min. The supernatant from the last centrifugation step in both cases gave the same amount of binding (Nmmx) with the radio-labelled steroids and was used as a soluble cytosolic fraction. This fraction was essentially free of hemoglobin indicating very little contamination from blood plasma proteins. All centrifugation and assays were performed at 0-2 deg C.

#### Steroid binding studies

### Saturation curve and Scatchard plots with

[<sup>3</sup>H]progesterone <u>and</u> [<sup>3</sup>H]17w,20<sup>2</sup>-DHP. For the determination of total ligand binding, 250 µl of cytosolic receptor samples were pipetted into 12 x75 mm glass tubes (CanLab T-1290-3) containing vacuum evaporated [<sup>3</sup>H] steroid to yield a concentration of 0.15 to 5MM. For the determination of non-specific binding [<sup>3</sup>H]steroid plus 1000 fold excess of radio-inert steroid was used. All samples were incubated in duplicate. Incubation was started in batches of 8 tubes every 20 min. After 120 min the incubation was terminated by addition of 250ml of

charcoal-dextran suspension (0.5% charcoal, 0.05% dextran in TETS buffer at pH 7.4). The charcoal-dextran treatment for the separation of free steroid from bound was carried out for 5 min and 15 sec, after which the batch of 8 tubes were immediately centrifuged at 2,500 rpm (750 x g) for 10 min. The supernatant, 250ul samples, were counted for radioactivity in 10 ml of scintillation fluid. To determine steroid-binding to plasma proteins, blood was collected without the use of heparin and immediately centrifuged. The plasma was diluted (1:10) with TETS buffer and used after charcoal-dextran treatment exactly as for the cytosolic preparation except higher concentrations (15nM) of [41]174,20f-DHP was required to effect saturation at this dilution of plasma.

## Hormone binding kinetics

The association constant  $(k_{+1})$  was determined on 250ul of cytosolic preparation incubated with  $[^3H]17\alpha_{+}20\beta_{-}DHP$ in the presence and absence of inert steroid for 0-60 min. Bound and free ligand were separated by the charcoal-dextran method. The second order association constant  $k_{on}$  was calculated from the slope of the plot:

1 (T-X)

--- ln ----- against time (Hansen <u>et al</u> . 1976), (T-S) (S-X)

where T = total concentration of the steroid added, S =

total concentration of the binding sites, X = concentration of bound ligand at time (t). T was 2.268mM and S was 0.495mM. Dissociation rate constant (k-1) was determined after equilibration of the cytosolic preparation with the [3H]170,20 DHP for 120 min; 250ul of equilibrated sample was added to the tubes containing 1000 fold excess steroid (vacuum evaporated), then 250ul of charcosl-dextran was added at various times. The first order dissociation rate constant (k-1) was calculated from the logic concentration of the bound ligand against time.

# <u>Competition studies with labelled progesterone using various</u>

Cytosolic preparation samples were incubated with a constant concentration of [41]progesterone (4.033mM) in the presence or absence of increasing concentrations of radio-inert steroids for 120 min at 0-1 deg C. The bound and unbound fractions were separated using charcoal-dextran and the bound fraction was counted as described previously.

#### B

The ln ----- of the bound [3H]progesterone was
(Bmox-R)

plotted against the log of the relative molar excess of the competing radioinert steroid.

#### Gel filtration chromatography

Cytosolic preparations of the ovarian tissue (5 ml; <u>ca</u>. 10 mg of protein per ml) were equilibrated with [<sup>3</sup>H]progesterone, [<sup>3</sup>H]testosterone, and [<sup>3</sup>H]17%,20Å-DHP at concentrations 5nM for 120 min at 1 deg C, and then applied to a Pharmacia K26/100 Sephacry1 S-300 column equilibrated with TETS buffer containing 0.15M NaCl. The column bed volume was 493 ml and void volume was 194 ml. The constant flow rate was 26 ml per h. The column was calibrated with the following standard proteins, thyroglobulin molecular weight (MM) 660,000; ferritin MW 440,000; catalase MW 232,000; aldolase MM 158,000; bovine serum albumin MM 66,000. Following chromatography of the standard proteins, the distribution coefficient (K<sub>aw</sub>) for each standard was calculated :

(Ve- Vo)

Kav = -----, where Ve elution volume

(VL- Vo)

of the standard Vo= void volume of the column and Vt= total bed volume of the column. The MW of the cytosolic receptor was obtained from the linear plot of log10MW against  $K_{n\nu}$  of the standard proteins (r = 0.99, P < 0.01).

[<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 (5nM) photoaffinity labelled samples from blood plasma, cytosolic preparation, zona radiata membrane solubilized protein, nuclear pellet extract were also applied to and eluted from the calibrated Sephacryl S-300 column (chapters 2 and 3).

## Measurement of protein

Protein samples of cytosolic preparation were measured by the method of (Lowry, <u>at al</u>. 1951), with slight modification (Hatree, 1972) to have a linear photometric response.

# Measurement of radioactivity

The radioactivity was measured using a modified Tracor 6892 liquid scintillation counter (Tracor Analytic incorporated, Elk Grove, Ill. U.S.A.) fitted with a Texas Instrument ASR733 terminal (Texas Instruments Inc., Houston, Texas). All samples were counted to at least 10,000 counts in each channel. Counts per minute were converted to absolute activity (dpm) by a computer program similar to that outlined by Carrol and Houser (1970).
# Metabolism of radiolabelled 174,20**8-DHP, progesterone and** testosterone during equilibration binding incubation at 1-4 deg C.

Aliquots of cytosolic preparation in TETS buffer were separately incubated at 1-4 deg C for 120 min with the above labelled steroids [5nM]. The labelled steroids were then extracted and purified using paper chromatography and quantified (Peter, <u>et al</u>. 1984).

#### Calculations and statistics

Scatchard anlyses or other linear analysis were fitted by least square analysis and assessed for goodness of fit by examining the correlation coefficients. These analyses and the transformation of receptor binding data from dpm to nmoles were carried out using computer programs on the VAX 11/780 computer. Data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  SEM. The data in table 1.4 were tested for homogeneity of variances and then analysed by one-way ANOVA. The differences between pairs of means were determined by Tukey's multiple range test.

#### Sucrose gradient centrifugation

Brook trout ovarian follicles (stage 1) were homogenized in TETS buffer without sodium molybdate in presence of 0.15M NaCl and then treated similarly as in the case of cytosolic preparation. This modified cytosolic preparation (50041) was equilibrated with [3H]17x,20\$-DHP at 14.2 ± 100nM inert steroid for 120 min, then aliquots of 250wl were layered on 11.5ml of gradient solution (5-30% linear sucrose gradient in buffe, containing 1mM EDTA; 10mM TRIS; 0.15M NaCl at pH 7.4). The polyallomer tubes (Beckman 331372) were centrifuged for 17h at 4 deg C at 30,000 rpm (111,000 x g) in a Beckman Model L5-50 ultracentrifuge, using SW41-Ti rotor. The gradients were formed using Searle auto Density Flow 2 pump and gradient maker. After centrifugation, the gradients were fractionated from the top of the tube using the same instrument in reverse. Thirty fractions were collected (16 drops, 0.4ml) and 200µl samples were counted. Catalase (250µl: 1mg/ml), was used separately in a gradient as a marker protein, and its O.D. measured at 254nm using ISCO type 6 optical unit during fractionation.

Further experiments were carried out using cytosolic preparation of brook trout in TETS buffer (containing molybdate), in the presence and absence of 0.15M NaCl. The sucrose gradients (5-15% linear gradients in buffers containing 1mM EDTA; 10mM TRIZMA pH 7.4; 10mM sodium molybdate; 5mM DTT) were prepared, and then ultracentrifuged. Gradient fractionation, and analysis were carried out under identical conditions as described above.

62

#### Trypsin digestion of cytosolic preparation

The cytosolic preparation from stage 1 ovarian follicles of brook trout was prepared in TETS buffer (± molybdate) as described. To 5.5ml aliquots was added 1.0ml of trypsin (6.5 mg/ml in TETS buffer ± molybdate). The resulting solution was incubated at 16 deg C with slow shaking (Eberbach Shaker Bath, cat. # 6250, Eberbach Corporation, Ann Arbor, Michigan. U.S.A.). Samples (250 All) were removed at various times, then immediately equilibrated with [3H] 174,20 β-DHP ± inert steroid for 60 min at 1 deg C and assayed for specific binding.

# Effect of trypsin inhibitor (T-8253) on tryptic digestion of the receptor activity

To two separate 3.5ml aliquots of cytosolic preparation from brook trout stage 1 ovarian follicles in TETS buffer were added (a) 0.5 m<sup>2</sup> trypsin (8 mg /ml) and (b) 0.5ml of trypsin plus trypsin inhibitor (8 mg /ml trypsin and 8 mg /ml trypsin inhibitor). The cytosolic preparations were than incubated at 25 deg C with slow shaking. Samples (250 ul) were taken at various times, then equilibrated with [<sup>3</sup>H]174,20 $\beta$ -DHP  $\pm$  inert steroid for 60 min at 1 deg C and assayed for specific binding.

Effect of protease K, promase E, DNase 1 and RNase 1'A' on the receptor activity To cytosolic preparation from brook trout stage 1 ovarian follicles (3.5 ml aliquot) was added 0.5 ml of DNase 1 and RNase i'A' (1 mg /ml in TETS buffer containing 5.0mg /ml MgS04), and incubated at 16 deg C. Samples (250 ul) were withdrawn every 30 min, then equilibrated immediately with [3H]17d, 20Å-DHP inert steroid for 60 min at 1 deg C, and assayed for specific binding. In the case of protease K and pronase E, 0.5 ml of the enzyme solutions (8mg /ml in TETS buffer pH 7.4) were added to aliquots of cytosolic preparation (3.5 ml), so that the final concentration of both proteases were 1mg /ml in the cytosolic preparation.

#### Receptor stability experiments

 In absence of [<sup>3</sup>H]17κ, 20β-DHP in the cytosolic preparation.

Cytosolic preparation from stage 1 ovarian follicles from brook trout in TETS buffer with and without molybdate in aliquots of (3.0 ml) were incubated at 0, 16 and 25 deg C with gentle shaking. Samples (250ul) were taken at various times and immediately equibrated for 60 min at 1 deg C with [ $^{3}H_{17x}$ , 20 $^{5}$ -DHP  $\pm$  inert steroid , and then assayed for specific binding.

 In presence of [<sup>3</sup>H]17κ, 20β-DHP in the cytosolic preparation.

Two aliquots (6.25 ml) of above cytosolic preparations were

64

added to vials containing  $[^3H]174,20\beta$ -DHP  $\pm$  inert steroid (vacuue evaporated), so that final concentration of labelled sigroid added to vials were 5.67MM and inert 100MM. The vials were then incubated at 16 deg C with gentle shaking. Samples (250 µl) were pipetted out at various times, and immediately cooled to 1 deg C and then assayed for specific binding.

## Sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) polyaerylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE)

SDS PAGE was carried out using vertical slab gel unit (Studier slab gel SE 400, Hoefer Scientific Instruments, San Francisco, CA 94107-9985), and discontinous system described in the instruction manual. The acrylamide concentration of stacking gel was 4% T, 2.7% C and resolving gel 10% T, 2.7% C. The gels were scanned using model 1650 transmittance/reflectance scanning densitometer (Hoefer Scientific Instruments, purchased through Bio-Rad Laboratories). Procedures used for sample preparation, buffers, fixing, staining and destaining were followed as described in the instruction manual of the instrument.

# <u>Maturation studies in vitro using stage 3-4 brook trout</u> oocytes and various steroids

The method used was essentially as described by So, <u>et</u> <u>al</u>. (1985). The incubation was carried out at 10 deg C with

65

gentle agitation in the presence of moist oxygen.

<u>High-performance liquid chromatography on an exclusion gel</u> The method described by (Pavlick, <u>si al</u>. (1982)) was used to separate receptor activity on a Beckman Spherogel TSK 3000SW (7.5 X 60 cm ) column, with s Beckman 114M pump and 340 injector, all located in a cold room at about 2 deg C.

#### Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis was carried out in TRIS/glycine (pH 8.3) essencially as described by Davis, (1964). Gels were polymerized in glass tubes 12.º cm long and 0.5 mm internal diameter (Bio-Rad 1653122), Both sample and spacer gels were omitted since the samples were layered directly on top of the separation gels. Disc electrophoresis was carried out using Bio-Rad apparatus (Model 175 tube cell). Gels were run at 5%, and 4% acrylamide concentrations with 2.5% cross linking at 1mA/ tube for the first 30 min and at 2 mA/ tube after 30 min for 3h at room temperature (Bio-Rad Model 3000/300 power supply). Gels were removed from the tubes and fixed in trichloroacetic acid (12%) for 15 min and then stained in Coomassie blue R-250 (10% solution in 7% acetic acid) for 6-8 h, and then destained in 7% acetic acid for 12h using a gel destainer (Hoefer Scientific L'truments DD-105).

#### Equilibrium dialysis

Equilibrium dialysis was carried out using Spectrum Industries Equilibrium Dialyzer (Part no.132460, 20 cell dialyzer with variable drive and semi-micro 1 ml cells). Initially equilibration time for ligand 17%,20B-DHP between the two sides of the cell was measured using Spectra/Por 2 and Spectra/por 4 membranes (47 mm, Part no's 132480 and 132496), as described in the instrument manual. Almost all experiments were carried out using the thicker membranes (Spectra/Por 4), although they took 12 h to equilibrate. The thicker membranes were easier to handle and did not curl up during washing and application stages. The thinner membranes also did not form a good seal between the two parts of the cell, and the cells leaked, TETS bufffer was used throughout, and all the steroid solutions were made up by first pipetting a known quantity of alcoholic solution of steroid in a scintillation vial, and then vacuum evaporating them. The evaporated steroid was then taken up in known volume of TETS buffer by vortexing the solution for 1 min. The experimental procedure for setting up the cells, . ddition of the cytosolic preparation and steroid solution to the cells, removal of samples from the both sides of the cells at the end of the experiment were followed as described in the instrument manual. The experiments were carried out at 1 deg C. for 12 h in a refrigerated unit (Foster Model GH-45-G-T, Drummondville, Quebec, Canada).

#### RESULTS

#### Steroid binding studies

Saturation curve and Scatchard analysis.  $[^{3H}]17\omega$ ,  $20\beta_{-}$ DHP and  $[^{3H}]$ progesterone were used in binding studies and for Scatchard analysis. The affinity constant (Ka) and maximum binding capacity (N<sub>mex</sub>) for 174, 20 $\beta_{-}$ DHP and progesterone were very similar (Table 1.1). A representative saturation analysis plot is shown in (Fig. 1.3 a and b) for brook trout ovarian tissue cytosolic preparation using  $[^{3H}]174, 20\beta_{-}$ DHP. Ovarian tissue cytosolic preparation from Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout also manifested saturable binding of high affinity and low capacity (Table 1.1).

The blood plasma binding protein from stage 1 brook trout after dilution (1:10) with TETS buffer gave a linear Scatchard plot with [<sup>9</sup>H]]7%,20<sup>f</sup>-DHP and K<sub>n</sub> was 8.04 x 10<sup>7</sup> M<sup>-1</sup>. The blood plasma protein was later shown to be differen. I om cytosylic receptor protein by photoaffinity labelling, folloved by gel chromatography and SDS PAGE electrophoresis (chapter 3). The ovarian cytosolic preparations were not red in colour, indicating the absence of hemoglobin. Thus the binding observed in the cytosolic protein contamination in the occyte homogenates, although protein contamination in the occyte homogenetes, although Fig. 1.3. a. Binding of 174.20<sup>§</sup>-DHP to cytosolic extract of brook trout ovarian tissue. Aliquois of ovarian tissue cytosol (250 µl) were incubated with increasing concentration of [<sup>3</sup>H]174.20<sup>§</sup>-DHP (0.5-3.5 nM)  $\pm$  1000 fold molar excess of radioinert steroid for 120 min at 0 deg C. SP.B, specific binding; NSP.B, non-specific binding.



#### Competition studies

The specificity of [<sup>3</sup>H]progesterone binding to a brook trout cytosolic preparation as measured by the competition of radioinert steroids indicated a hierarchy of binding with testosterone > 174-HP > 174,20 <sup>4</sup>-DHP > R5020 > progesterone > estradiol > pregnenolone (Fig. 1.4). Cortisol did not show competitive inhibition (Table 1.2 a).

The hierarchy of binding in rainbow trout ovarian cytosolic preparation was testosterone >  $R5020 > 174, 20\beta$ -DHP > progesterone > 174, -HP > ORG > pregnenolone. Cortisol and triamcinolone acetonide showed very little inhibition (Table 1.2 b).

#### Hormone binding kinetics

The rate of association of receptor-[<sup>3</sup>H]174,20<sup>A</sup>-DHP complex for brook trout ovarian cytosolic preparation (Fig. 1.5 a and b) was higher in absence of sodium chloride in the TETS buffer (Table 1.3).

The rate of dissociation of receptor-[<sup>3</sup>H]17φ,20β-DHP complex for brook trout ovarian cytosolic preparation (Fig. 1.6 a and b) was higher in absence of sodium chloride in TETS buffer (Table 1.3).

The equilibrium association constant K<sub>m</sub> for the reaction:

70

Fig. 1.3. b. Linearization of the specific binding by Scatchard analysis. The equilibrium association constant obtained from this graph was 1.28 x 10<sup>8</sup> M<sup>-1</sup>, the maximal concentration of binding sites was 1965 fmol/mg protein.



714.

The second reaction of the second

Fig. 1.4. Competition of radioinert steroids with [3H]progesterone for binding sites in brook troat cytosolic extract. Samples of cytosolic extract (250 ul) were incubated with 4.033 nM of [3H]progesterone for 120 min at 0 deg C, in the presence or absence of 10, 20, 50, 100 and 200 fold molar excess of different radioinert steroids.

#### В

The In ------ was plotted against log10 of the

#### (Bmax- B)

relative molar concentration of the competitors, where B is the concentration of the bound ligand at different concentrations of radio-inert steroids, and  $B_{max}$  is the concentration of [34]progesterone bound in the absence of non-labelled competitors. The molar concentration of the competitor, read of the zero line of the 'Y' axis represents the concentration of the competitor necessary to displace 50% of the [<sup>3</sup>4]progesterone bound and is thus the ICso of the competitor.

(A)▲Inert testosterone; (B)□ 174,200-DHP; (C)×174, ,OH-progesterone; (D) ■ R5020; (E)0 progesterone; (F)● estradiol.



# Table 1.1

cytosol	
tissue	
ovarian	
Jo	
results	
analysis	
Scatchard	

-

nol/mg protei	2090 ± 619*	1928 ± 247**	0.79 ± 4.7	2145 ± 835*
Nmax ft			5	
EM(MT)	('n=')	(s=u)	(n=2)	(1md)
Ka x 10 <sup>6</sup> S	1.4 ± 0.3	2.2 ± 0.2	2.5 ± 0.6	$1.9 \pm 0.2$
Binding ligand	[ <sup>3</sup> H]17α,20β-DHP	[ <sup>3</sup> H]Progesterone	[ <sup>3</sup> H]Progesterone	<pre>[<sup>3</sup>H]Progesterone</pre>
Salmonid species	Brook trout		Atlantic salmon	Rainbow trout

\* mean values from various stages of maturation \*\* mean ± SEM for stage I oocytes mean ± SEM for stages 5 and 6 oocytes

#### Table 1.2(a)

# Effect of radio inert steroids on the binding of [<sup>3</sup>H]progesterone to cytosolic preparations of brook trout

Steroid	IC <sub>50</sub> (nM)
Testosterone	82.7
17a-HP	146.7
17a,208-DHP	196.6
R5020	266.1
Progesterone	317.1
Estradiol	363.1
<b>Pregnenol</b> one	6133
Cortisol	No competitive inhibition

\*IC<sub>50</sub> = Concentration of each competitor steroid necessary to decrease the [<sup>3</sup>H]progesterone binding by 50%. Action Summer 1

Sec. - Sec.

### Table 1.2(b)

# Effect of radio inert steroids on the binding of [<sup>3</sup>H]progesterone to cytosolic preparations of rainbow trout

Steroid	IC <sub>50</sub>	(nM)
Testosterone	6	7.6
R5020	10	9.6
17a,206-DHP	. 13	2.7
Progesterone	13	7.6
17а-НР	14	2.0
Pregnenolone	37	85
Cortisol	2.2	x 10 <sup>9</sup>
Triamcinolone acetonide	5.3	x 10 <sup>11</sup>

Fig. 1.5. (a). Plot of rate of association of cytosolic receptors with  $[{}^{3}\mathrm{H}]17 \varkappa, 20[{}^{\beta}\text{-DHP}.$ 

Meddlau sera liter na antista antista parte de la competenza de la competenza de la competenza de la competenz



76a.

#### TABLE 1.3

## Steroid binding kinetics using [3H]17a,20B-DHP

	$k_{+1}$ (M <sup>-1</sup> sec <sup>-1</sup> )	k <sub>-1</sub> (sec <sup>-1</sup> ) Ka (M <sup>-1</sup> )
Brook trout ovarian cytosol in TETS buffer	2.29 x 10 <sup>6</sup>	1.50 x 10 <sup>-2</sup> 1.53 x 10 <sup>8</sup>
Brook trout ovarian cytosol in TETS buffer containing 0.15 M NaCl	4.13 x 10 <sup>5</sup>	4.69 x 10 <sup>-3</sup> 0.88 x 10 <sup>8</sup>

Fig. 1.5. (b). Second order linear plot of 1 (T - X) ------ ln ------ against time, T - S (S - X) for the determination of k+1. The point at time = 23 min was not used in the determination of slope of the line, and hence k+1.



And the second second

Fig. 1.6. (a). Dissociation of the labelled [3H]17 $\alpha$ ,20 $\beta$ -DHP receptor complex with time.



790.

Fig. 1.6. (b). First order linear plot of logio concentation of labelled receptor complex with time.

generation of the second se



**a**.

{ R + [3H]174,20\$-DHP <----> R-[3H]174,20\$-DHP }

where  $K_n = k_{on}/k_{off}$ , was calculated and the values are listed in Table 1.3. These values for  $K_n$  are in close agreement with  $K_n$  obtained from Scatchard analysis using [3H]174,20[-DHP.

Proteolytic digestion, and effect of DNase 1 and RNase 1'A' on extosolic proparation from brook frout ovarian tissue DNase 1 and RNase 1'A' did not have a significant effect on the receptor activity, but both proteases, protease K and promase E digested the receptor preparation activity in 180 min (Fig. 1.7). The rate of tryptic digestion of cytosolic preparation in presence and absence of sodium molybdate was negligible at 0-4 deg C, and substantial at 16 deg C (Fig. 1.8). In the presence of trypsin inhibitor, the rate of tryptic digestion of receptor activity is associated with a protein component of the cytosolic preparation.

#### Cytosolic metabolism of labelled steroids

No metabolic products of the labelled steroids [3H]17#-,20[9-DHP, [3H]progesterone and [3H]testosterone were isolated after incubation at 1 deg C for 120 min with Fig. 1.7. Effect of protease K (A), pronase E (O), DNase 1 ( ) and RNase 1'A' (A) on receptor activity. Aliquots of brook trout cytosolic extract were incubated at 16 deg C with the above enzymes at a concentration of Img/ml. Binding activity at various times was then measured by equilibration with labelled 174.20 DHP  $\pm$  inert steroid at 0 deg C for 60 min. (Prior experiments had shown negligible effect of protease's on receptors at 0 deg C.

Realized and a second second



820.

And a second state of the second s

Fig. 1.8. Tryptic digestion of cytosolic receptors in presence (■) and absence (▲) of sodium molybdate (20 mM). Cytosolic extracts were incubated at 16 deg C with trypsin (1 mg/ml).



State State and state and a second second second

1.12

2

Fig. 1.9. Effect of trypsin inhibitor on tryptic digestion of cytosolic receptors. Aliquots of cytosolic extracts containing trypsin (▲ 1mg/ml) and trypsin + trypsin inhibitor (■ 1 mg/ml trypsin and 1 mg/ml inhibitor) were incubated at 25 deg C. Samples were taken at various times and binding activity measured at 0 deg C.



to an exercising of a particular on searching respective as the second of

brook trout cytosolic preparations as determined by paper chromatography.

# <u>Stability experiments with cytosolic preparation from brook</u>

In presence or absence of  $[] H] 17 \varkappa$ ,  $20\beta$ -DHP, the cytosolic preparation lost a maximum of 30% of the receptor binding activity at 25 deg C in 20 h of incubation. At 0 and 16 deg C the loss was <u>ca.</u> 15%. Sodium molybdate did not play any protective role.

Receptor levels during various stages of terminal occyte maturation in the cytos-lic preparation of brook trout The receptor levels (Nmax) in the cytosolic preparation decreased significantly during occyte terminal maturation (Table 1.4). The Ka and Nmax values were obtained from Scatchard analysis using [<sup>3</sup>H]progesterone. The results were obtained using fresh ovarian follicles from the same batch of brook trout, sacrificed during various stages of terminal maturation during the same spawning season.

# <u>Sephacryl S-300 column chromatography of cytosolic</u> preparation from brook trout ovarian tissue

The brook trout cytosolic preparations (5 ml) in TETS buffer containing 0.15M NaCl from stage 1 ovarian tissue were used for MW determination studies. The samples were equilibrated

Table 1.4

Nmay values from brook trout cytosol at various stages

Stages oocytes	*N	$K_{\rm a} \times 10^9 + SEM (M^{-1})$	Nmax f mol/mg protein
1	5	0.21 ± 0.019**	1928 ± 247.6
2	3	0.31 ± 0.008	1161 ± 70.5
з	5	0.20 ± 0.030	1180 ± 118.3 †
4 and 5	9	0.25 ± 0.048	514 ± 95.4 †
6 and 7	8	H.D.++	N.D.

\* number of fish used for determination
\*\* mean ± SEN
+ significantly different from each other, P > 0.05
++ no specific blading
for 120 min with [3H]progesterone,

[3H]testosterone, and [3H]17d,20B-DHP at 5nM concentration in the presence or absence of 1000 fold excess inert steroid. After elution from the column only 3% to 5% of the initial specific binding activity was recovered. This loss was due to dissociation of the receptor steroid complex during elution through the column. Experiments using either [3H]progesterone or [3H]testosterone gave two main peaks of specific binding activity at MW 110.000 and between MW 30,000 and 40,000 (Figs. 1.10 and 1.11). When [<sup>3</sup>H]progesterone equilibrated sample was frozen and thawed before clution through the column a third main peak of receptor activity at MW 210.000 was detected (Fig. 1.12). although a shoulder peak at MW 210,000 was always present. Slight variations in the MW and peak heights were observed between experiments. When the cytosolic preparation was equilibrated with [3H]17d,20 B-DHP at 2.27nM concentration, only one peak of specific binding activity was obtained at MW 250,000. The same cytosolic preparation . after freezing and thawing and equilibration with [3H]17d,20P-DHP (5.68nM) gave three specific binding activity peaks at MW 240,000, 104,000 and 21,000. The peak heights and resolution using [3H]176,20B-DHP were not as clearly defined as when using [3H]progesterone and [3H] testosterone.

The peak fractions from [3H]17⊄,20β-DHP equilibrated

Fig. 1.10. Sephacryl S-300 elution pattern of freshly prepared brook trout cytosolic extract in TETS buffer containing 0.15M NaCl. The receptor preparation (5 ml) was pre-equilibrated with [ $^{3H}$ ]progesterone (D), the molecular weights of the peaks obtained were 113,000 and 44,000. The receptor preparation (5 ml) was similarly pre-incubated with [ $^{3H}$ ]progesterone + 1000 fold excess inert progesterone ( $\blacktriangle$ ), non-specific binding occurred at MW 220,000.



880,

Fig. 1.11. Sephacryl S-300 elution pattern of freshly prepared brook trout cytosolic extract in TETS buffer containing 0.15 M NaCl. The receptor preparation (5 ml) was pre-incubated with [3H]testosterone (D), the MW's of the peaks obtained were 110,000 and 32,000. Similarly receptor preparation was pre-incubated with [3H]testosterone + 100 fold inert testosterone (A), non-specific binding occurred MW 210,000.



89a.

Fig. 1.12. Sephacryl S-300 elution pattern of brook trout cytosolic preparation in TETS buffer containing 0.15M NaCl. The receptor preparation (5 ml) was pre-incubated with [<sup>3</sup>H]progesterone and then frozen at -18 deg C. After thawing and centrifugation the preparation was applied and then eluted from Sephacryl S-300 column (**a**), the MN's obtained were 214,000, 195,000 and 29,000. The receptor preparation was similarly incubated with [<sup>3</sup>H]progesterone + 1000 fold inert progesterone (**A**) and eluted.

and a fight of the second s



**Q**.

experiments, when re-equilibrated with the same labelled steroid did not show any specific binding. Further, when the peak lube fractions were pooled, concentrated and then re-equilibrated with labelled steroid no specific binding was obtained (both total and non-specific tubes gave about the same amount of binding). Also when cytosolic preparation in TETS buffer was applied on to the column and the fractions post-labelled (equilibrated) with [9H]1%,20#-

DHP  $\pm$  inert steroid and then assayed using charcoal-dextran method, no specific binding was obtained (also pooled concentrated fractions showed no specific binding activity, although binding was present).

In rainbow trout cytosolic preparation using [<sup>9</sup>H]progesterone prelabelled experiment two specific binding peaks were obtained at MW 263,000 and 132,000.

#### HPLC using Spherogel-TSK 3000SW column

Pre-equilibration of brook trout cytosolic ovarian preparation with [<sup>3</sup>H]progesterone gave specific binding peaks at MW 294,000, 233,000, 52,000, 34,000 and 21,000.

#### SDS PAGE and PAGE electrophoresis

Following Sephacryl S-300 column chromatography of the cytosolic preparation equilibrated with labelled 174/,201/-DHP (2.27nM), the peak tube fraction obtained at MW 250,000 when analyzed on SDS PAGE (under reducing and non-reducing Fig. 1.13. SDS-PAGE analysis of peak tube of receptor activity obtained from Sephacryl S-300, after equilibration of cytosol with [3H]174,20¶-DHP. The subunit MW's were 85,000, 67,000, 24,000 and 23,000. LMW, low molecular weights standards. HMW, high molecular weights standards.

Although the product of the second second

### Fig. 1.13.



conditions), gave similar bands at MW 85,000, 67,000, 24,000 and 23,000. MW 67,000 band was broad, indicating a presence of very faint band at MW 65,000. The predominant band was at MW 85,000 (Fig. 1.13). On 5% and 4% PAGE gels a single band was obtained from the same cytosolic fractionated sample, using the Coomassie blue staining procedure.

#### Maturation studies

Concentration of steroids used were 50ng/ml. The only steroid effective in initiating maturation (GVBD) was  $17\omega, 20\beta$ . DHP at this concentration. Testosterone and R5020 did not bring about maturation (Table 1.5). R5020 inhibited GVBD response due to  $17\omega, 20\beta$ -DHP by 10%.  $17\omega, 20\beta$ -DHP also induced GVBD in ovarian follicles initially incubate. for 168 h with either testosterone or R5020 (Table 1.5). It is important to note that testosterone binds the cytosolic receptor protein but does not bring about GVBD or maturation in the ovarian follicles.

#### Sucrose gradient density centrifugation

The brook trout cytosolic [<sup>3</sup>H]17ά,20β-DHP receptor complex in absence of molybdate and DTT in the buffer sedimented on (5-30%) linear sucrose gradient at 3.05 S at 4 deg C (Fig. 1.14). A 500 fold molar excess of the radio inert ligand quenched the peak completely. The MW of the receptor complex was calculated to be 71,200, using catalase

93

5
÷
0
14
65
-

10°C
at
vitro
뷰
steroids
various
by
Maturation

	¤I	Time to GVBD	GVBD (Z)
17a, 20g-DHP	3	44 - 48 hr	100%
17α,20g-DHP + testosterone	e	44 - 48 hr	100%
17α,20g-DHP + R5020	9	44 - 48 hr	206
testosterone	9	no GVBD in 168 hr	TIN
R5020	3	no GVBD in 168 hr	TFN
no steroid control	ß	no GVBD in 168 hr	TIN
testosterone + R5920	3	no GVBD in 168 hr	I FN
testosterone + $1\lambda_x$ , 20g -DHP*	9	200 - 215 hr	100%
R5020 + 17a,203-DHP*	3	200 - 215 hr	70%
control no steroid + $1/\alpha$ ,203-DHP*	3	200 - 215 hr	100%
testosteroñe + R5020 + 17α,20g-DHP*	3	200 - 215 hr	742

\* 17a,203-DHP added after 168 hrs of incubation.

n = number of fish used, with each fish all samples were run in duplicate. On average 3% of oocytes were damaged due to mechanical shearing during incubation and were not scored. Fig. 1.14. Sedimentation pattern of cytosolic receptor in TETS buffer containing 0.15M NaCl. Samples (250 ul) were equilibrated with [<sup>3</sup>H]174,20∯-DHP ± inert storoid and applied on to (5 - 30%) linear sucrose gradients total volume 11.6 ml ( ▲ sample + [<sup>3</sup>H]174,20∯-DHP; ■ sample + [<sup>3</sup>H]174,20∯-DHP + inert storoid ). Catalase SW 10 was used as the external marker, the receptor complex sedimented at 3.05 SW. units at 1 deg C.

Republic and the second s



Fig. 1.14.

95a.

:

MW 232,000 as the standard protein.

In the experiment containing complete TETS buffer the SW value was 4.0, and MW value 92,000. In TETS buffer containing 0.15M NaCl the SW value was 5.0, and the calculated MW was 116,000.

#### Equilibrium dialysis

Initial experiments carried out using [3H]17#,20B-DHP at concentrations below 1 nM gave variable binding results between the duplicate cells. This was due to variable amount of the steroid binding to both SpectraPor 2 and 4 membranes at the lower concentrations, this altered the amounts of steroid available for binding in solution. At steroid concentration above 1nM the binding obtained between duplicate cells was not as variable, and significant Scatchard plots were obtained. Although binding to membranes increased with increased concentration of the labelled 17%-,208-DHP above 1 nM, indicating that it was not simply saturation of binding sites on the membranes above 1nM which gave more reliable results. The Ka values obtained between three different stage (1-2) ovarian cytosolic preparations in TETS buffer without molybdate but containing 0.15M NaCl, showed 10 fold variability. A typical saturation and Scatchard plot is indicated in (Fig.1.15 a and b), the Ka value was 0.34 x 108M-1. The values for Nmay was (992 fmoles/ mg protein), which is ca. twice

Will be an a set of the set of th

Fig. 1.15. (a). Binding of [<sup>3</sup>H]17K,20 $\beta$  -DHP to cytosolic extracts using equilibrium dialysis (see text for experimental details).





970.

Fig. 1.15. (b). Linearization of specific binding by Scatchard analysis. The equilibrium association constant obtained from this graph was 0.34 x  $10^{-9M-1}$ , and the maximal concentration of binding sites was 992 f moles / mg protein.



980.

that obtained using charcoal-dextran separation method from frozen brook trout stage 1 ovarian follicles in TETS buffer. During equilibrium dialysis all the proteins present in the cytosolic preparation which bind 174,208-DHP even with very low affinities will contribute towards binding. While using charcoal-dextran method of separation only the high affinity receptors binding is taken into account, because the low affinity sites are stripped off by dextran charcoal. This is indicated by the shape of the saturation curve in case of equilibrium dialysis (Fig. 1.15 a), which indicates multiple binding (slight 'S'curvature). Points below 1nM steroid concentration do not fit in the Scatchard plots which also indicates that high affinity sites are present in the preparation and are separate from the lower affinity sites. Although both sites are contributing towards the final binding, the affinities are not very different to give two separate slopes in the Scatchard plot. The Ka obtained from equilibrium dialysis were also lower than that obtained from frozen brook trout tissue using [3H]17d,20B-DHP as the ligand and charcoal-dextran method of separation, which is in agreement with multiple binding hypothesis during equilibrium dialysis. The equilibrium dialysis method is highly recommended for use with purified protein preparations, or with proteins with K. which are different enough to give separate slopes in the Scatchard plot. In mammalian system the Ka for receptor proteins

99

are 100-1000 fold higher than in case of fish receptors and thus multiple binding due to the presence of low affinity cellular or extracellular proteins is easier to resolve from the Scatchard plots.

Sec. of Sec. No.

#### Discussion.

Steroid receptors are proteins with high affinity, high specificity and low capacity for the naturally occurring steroid (Clark, <u>ei</u> <u>al</u>. 1981). When the steroid binds to the receptor a specific biological response ensues. The results attained for 174, 20 —DHP cytosolic receptors from brook trout does not satisfy all of the above criteria, but are consistant with the presence of receptor activity associated in a protein with relatively high affinity (K<sub>m</sub>= 1.39 ± 0.253 10<sup>8</sup> M<sup>-1</sup>) and saturable low capacity (M<sub>max</sub> = 2090 ± 619 f mol/ mg protein).

#### Specificity.

The cytosolic  $174,20\beta$ -DHP receptor activity in brook and rainbow trout did not demonstrate absolute specificity as shown by competitive inhibition experiments. In salmonoids the granulosa cells which synthesize  $174,20\beta$ -DHP are in direct contact with the oocytes and the steroid hormone is locally released and probably present at high concentrations at the membrane site. This condition may eliminate the necessity of the receptor having very high affinity and steroid specificity, since competing steroids probably never reach the oocyte membrane at high concentrations in yivo during the physiological action of  $174,20\beta$ -DHP. Testosterone showed the highest affinity in the binding studies with the cytosolic receptors although it was not biologically active in bringing about GVBD. Also testosterone in the presence of  $174,20\beta$ -DHP did not suppress GVBD or maturation, since GVBD occurred within the same time period as with  $174,20\beta$ -DHP. These results indicate that cytosolic receptors may not be the active species involved in bringing about maturation. The decrease in the level of cytosolic receptors during the final stages of maturation, and the presence of plasma membrane receptors from the later stages of maturation also indicates that cytosolic receptors may become functional only after its integration into the plasma membrane of the oocyte (chapter 3).

Recently Canario and Scott (1988) have reported structure-activity relationships of C21 steroids <u>in vitro</u> oocyte maturation bioassays in rainbow trout <u>Salmo</u> <u>gairdneri</u>. They found four steroids,  $174, 20\beta$ , 21-'trihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one;  $34, 174, 20\beta$ -trihydroxy-5pregnane;  $3\beta, 174, 20\beta$ -trihydroxy-5 -pregnane; and  $34, 174, 20\beta$ -,21-tetrahydroxy-5 -pregnane to be equipotent with  $174, 20\beta$ -DHP. These results are in sgreement with the non-specificity of the binding activity in the cytosolic preparations. The evidence for the presence of  $174, 20\beta$ -DHP is overwhelming in the blood of female salmonoids undergoing maturation. This evidence includes detection of the steroid by radioimmunoassay (review Goetz, et al .1987), double isotope dilution assay (Campbell, <u>et</u> al. 1980) bioassay, and mass spectrometry (Nagahama and Adachi, 1985). There is virtually no evidence for the presence of the above four steroids in either blood plasma or incubates from ovarian follicles stimulated with gonadotrophin in salmonoids. The lack of of high affinity and specificity for progesterone receptors in reinitiating meiosis has also been reported in Xenopus laevis oocytes (Baulieu, et al. 1978). Steroids described as very active were testosterone. deoxycorticosterone acetate and cortisol. Although the authors conclude that the above steroids (other than progesterone) are not physiclogically related to maturation. Similarly, in the Pleurodeles waltlii 'melanosome' fraction of the oocytes, deoxycorticosterone, testosterone and various other steroids interfered with specific binding of labelled progesterone (Ozon and Belle, 1973).

#### Molecular weight.

The results obtained from Sephacryl S-300 column chrometography, and HPLC suggests that the cytosolic 174,204-DHP receptor protein is present in various molecular forms. These molecular forms might be composed of a combination of different subunits as demonstrated by SDS gel electrophoresis of the main peak fraction from Sephacryl

103

S-300. The progesterone receptors from fresh human uterine tissue show polymorphism with various synthetic ligands (Van der Walt and Wittliff, 1986). Similar polymorphism has also been reported for corticosteroid receptors in gills of brook trout (Chakraborti, et al . 1987). The Sephacryl S-300 elution of the cytosolic preparation using [3H]progesterone, [3H]testosterone and [3H]174-,20 P-DHP as binding ligands also showed polymorphism in the corresponding radiolabelled eluted peaks. Wide variations in molecular weights of cytosolic receptors has been reported under various conditions. However, in the presence of sodium molybdate striking similar structures has been observed between MW's 280,000 to 330,000 for several classes of steroid receptors. These structors are oligomeric, from which the smaller receptor forms are derived by dissociation. Differences in methodology, salt concentration, freezing and thawing and temperature all contribute to the wide variety of structures detected (Gaubert, et al . 1986; Sherman, et al . 1983). The gel filtration and HPLC results for 17#, 20-DHP cytosolic receptors are similar to those of classical steroid receptors. After elution from Sephacryl S-300 column the ovarian cytosolic 17d, 20B-DHP receptors did not bind specifically to [3H]174,20\$-DHP, indicating a change in conformation (also known as receptor transformation). Transformation, a common property of classical cytosolic

steroid receptors, is brought about by various procedures such as prolonged storage, dilution, gel filtration, warming and exposure to high concentrations of salts (Sherman and Stevens, 1984).

# Rate of dissociation of the [3H] 17#.20B-DHP receptor

The classical somatic cell steroid receptors differ from brook trout  $1764, 20\beta$ -DHP occyte cytosolic receptors in having a very slow rate of dissociation  $(k_{-1})$  with the half life for the receptor complex in the order of hours compared to minutes for the ovarian  $174, 20\beta$ -DHP receptors. The fast rate of dissociation indicates a different type of mechanism of action for the  $174, 20\beta$ -DHP cytosolic receptors.

## Modulation of cytosolic receptor activity during various stages of final maturation.

The 174,209-DHP receptor activity in the cytosolic preparation from fresh ovarian follicles decreased from stage 1 to 5, and no receptor activity was obtained in stage 6-7. However, frozen stage 6-7 oocytes, manifested a small amount of binding activity. Since no nuclear receptors for [3H]174,209-DHP were demonstrated (chapter 2), one possible explanation is that the receptor activity, which has been shown to reside on the oocyte plama membrane (chapter 3), becomes progressively less capable of being solubilized from the membrane during stages 1 to 7. The physiological significance of these observations will be discussed in chapter 3. Although the precise biological action of the steroid-receptor complex remains to be elucidated.

 $[ \ \, ]^{\ast}$ 

#### Summary .

The presence of 17d,20β-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one (17d,20β-DHP) oocyte receptor activity has been demonstrated in brook trout Salvelinus fontinalis . Scatchard analysis of the cytosolic fraction during various terminal stages of oocyte maturation gave a high equilibrium association constant (Ka) value of 1.39 ± 0.66 108 M-1 (n = 7) and low maximum binding capacities (N max). The association kinetics of the receptor was second order k+1 2.29 X 106 M-1. The dissociation rate constant k-1 was 1.502 x 10-2 sec-1 for the first order dissociation reaction. The Ka = 1.52 x 108  $M^{-1}$ , when it was determined from k+1/k-1 a value close to that found from Scatchard analysis. Competition studies showed that receptor binding was not steroid-specific, and following binding affinities were obtained testosterone > 17μ-HP > 17μ,20β-DHP > Progmegestone > progesterone > estradiol > pregnenolone; cortisol showed no competitive inhibition. Cytosolic extracts when pre-equilibrated with various labelled steroids and eluted from a Sephacryl S-300 column gave multiple specific binding peaks. On sucrose density gradient centrifugation specific binding was obtained at 3.05 S in a cytosolic preparation containing 0.15 NaCl buffer. The receptor lost binding activity when incubated with various protesses, but DNase

and RNase had no effect. The receptor levels in cytosolic preparation from fresh tissue decreased progressively during final maturation (stages 1-5), and no receptor binding was observed in the late stage (6-7) ovulated cocytes.

The target organ receptor in fish for  $17\omega, 20\beta$ -DHP has not been reported. This is the direct first evidence of such receptor activity in the ovarian tissue of brook trout.

108

#### REFERENCES

Alberts, B. and Herrick, G. 1970. DNA-cellulose chromatography. <u>In</u> "Methods in enzymology," Vol. 21 "Nucleic Acids" (L. Grossman and K. Modare, eds.), 198-217. Academic Press, New York.

Baulieu, Etienne-Emile. 1978. Cell Membrane: A target for steroid hormones. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 12, 247-254.

Baulieu, Etienne-Emile, Godeau, F., Schorderet, M., and Schorderel-Slatkine, S. 1978. Steroid-induced meiotic division in <u>Xenopus laevis</u> oocytes: surface and calcium. Nature 275, 593-598.

Blondeau, J. P., Baulicu, Etiene-Emile. 1984. Progesterone receptor characterized by photoaffinity labelling in the plasma membrane of <u>Xenopus</u> <u>lavis</u> oocytes. Biochem. J. 219, 782-792.

Callard, I.P., and Callard, G.V. 1987. Sex steroids receptors and non-receptor binding proteins, <u>In</u> "Hormones and Reproduction in Fishes, Amphibians and Reptiles." (D.O. Norris and R.E. Jones, eds.), 355-378. Plenum Press, New York.

Callard, G. V. and Mak, P. 1985. Androgen and estrogen actions in the vertebrate brain. Amer. Zool. 23, 607-620.

Campbell, C.M., Fostier, A., Jalabert B., and Truscott, B. 1980. Identification and quantification of steroids in the serum of rainbow trout during spermiation and oocyte maturation. J. Endocrinol. 85, 371-378. Camron, I. L. Jun, J. B., Nations, C., Asch, R.H. and Silverman, A. Y. 1983. Assay for characterization of human follicular oocytes maturation inhibitor using Xenopus oocytes. Biol. Reprod. 28, 817-822.

Canario, A. V. M., and Scott, A. P. 1988. Structure-activity relationships of C21 steroids in an <u>in vitro</u> occyte maturation bioassay in rainbow trout <u>Salmo gairdneri</u>. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 71, 338-348.

Carroll, C.O., and Houser, T.J. 1970. Liquid scintillation counting: Data analysis and computers. Int. J. Appl. Radiat. Isotopes 21, 261-269.

Channing, C. P. Schaerf, F.W., Anderson, L. D. and Tsafriri, A. 1980. Ovarian follicular and luteal physiology. Int. Rev. Physiol. 22, 117-201.

Chakraborti, P.K., Weisbart, M., and Chakraborti, A. 1987. The presence of conticustoroid receptor activity in the gills of the brook trout, <u>Salvelinus fontinalis</u>. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 66, 323-332.

Charmness, G. C., Huff, K., McGuire, W. L. 1975. Protamine precipitated estrogen receptor: a solid phase ligand exchange assay. Steroids 25, 627-635.

Cho, W. K., Stern, S. and Biggers, J. D. 1974. Inhibitory effect of dibutyil cAMP on mouse maturation in vitro. Exp. Zool. 187, 383-386.

Clark, J. H., Gonski, J. 1969. Estrogen receptors: an evaluation of cytoplasmic-nuclear interactions in a cell free system and a method for assay. Biochem. Biophys. Acta. 192, 508-515.

110

Clark, J. H., Peck, E. J., Jr. 1979. Female sex steroids : Receptors and function. Springer-Verleg, New York.

Chark, J.H., Peck, E.J. Jr., and Markaverich, B.M. 1984. Steroid hormone receptors: Basic principles and measurement. <u>In</u> "Laboratory Methods Manual for Hormone Action and Molecular Endocrinology" (W.T. Schrader and B.W. O'Malley, Eds.), 10th. ed., Chap.1. 1-55. Houston Association Inc. Houston.

Deckel, N. and Beers, W. H. 1978. Rat occyte maturation in vitro: relief of cyclic AMP inhibition by gonadotropins. Proc. Acad. Sci. USA 75, 4369-4373.

Deckel, N. and Beers, W. H. 1980. Development of rat cocyte <u>in vitros</u>: inhibition and induction of maturation in the presence or in absence of the cumulus cophorus. Dev. Biol. 75, 247-254.

De Manno, D., and Goetz, F. 1986. Steroik-induced germinal vesicle breakdown in yellow perch (<u>Percha flavescens</u>) occytes <u>in vitro</u>: Effects of increased cyclic AMP and cyanoketone. Amer. Zool. 26, 109.

DeManno, D. A. and Goetz, F. 1987. The effects of forskolin, cAMP, and cyanoketone on steroid induced meiotic maturation of yellow perch <u>Percha flavescens</u> oxytes in <u>vitro</u>. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 66, 233-243.

Dettlaff, T. A. and Skoblina, M. N. 1969. The role of germinal vesicle in the process of oocyte maturation in <u>Anura</u> and <u>Acipenseridae</u>. Ann. Embryol. Morphog. (Suppl.1), 133-151. 1. a. a. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1.

The second second

Downs, S. M., and Eppig, J. J. 1985. A follicular fluid component prevents gonadotropin reversal of cAMP dependent meiotic arrest in murine oocytes. Gamete Res. 11, 83-97.

Downs, S. M., Colman, D. L., Ward-Bailey, P. F. and Eppig, JJ. 1985. Hypoxanthine is the principal inhibitor of murine oocyte maturation in a low molecular fraction of porcine follicular fluid. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 82, 454- 458.

Edwards, R. G. 1965. Maturation in vitro of mouse, sheep, cow, pig, rhesus monkey and human ovarian occytes. Nature 208, 349-351.

Eppig, J. J., and Downs, S. M. 1984. Chemical signals that regulate mammalian oocyte maturation. Biol. Reprod. 30, 1-11.

Eppig, J. J., Freter, R. R., Ward-Bailey, P. F. and Schultz, R.M. 1983. Inhibition of oocyte maturation in the mouse: participation of cAMP, steroid hormones, and a putative maturation inhibitory factor. Dev. Biol. 100, 39-49.

Fostier, A., Breton, B., Jalbert, B., and Marcuzzi, O. 1981. Evolution des niveau plasmaliquez de la gonadotropine glycoprotique et de la 17s-hydroxy-20s-dil.ydroprogesierone au cours de la maturation et de l'ovulation chez la truite arc-en-ciel, <u>Salmo gairdneri</u>. C.r. held. Seane. Acad. Sci. Paris 193, 817-820.

Gaubert, C.M., and Shyamala, G. 1986. Relative effects of KC1 and sodium molybdate on the molecular properties of mammary estrogen receptors. Biochem. Arch. 2, 7-17.

Giorgi, P. E. 1980. The transport of steroid hormones into animal cells. International Review of Cytology, Vol. 65, 49-115. Gilula, N. B., Epstein, M. L. and Beers, W. H. 1978. Cell to cell communication and ovulation. A study of the cumulus- oocyte complex. J. Cell Biol. 78, 58-75.

Goetz, F.W. 1983. Hormonal control of oocyte final maturation and ovulation in fishes. In Fish Physiology, Vol. 9B. (W.S. Hoar and D.J. Randall. eds.), pp.117-170. Academic Press, New York.

Goetz, F.W., and Bergman, H.L. 1978. The effects of steroids on final maturation and ovulation of oocytes from brok-k trout (<u>Salvelinus fontinalis</u>) and yellow perch (<u>Perca</u> <u>Invescens</u>). Biol. Reprod. 18, 293-298.

Goetz, F.W., and Theofan, G. 1979. <u>In vitro</u> stimulation of germinal vesicle breakdown and ovulation of yellow perch (<u>Perca flavescens</u>) oocytes. Effects of 17e-hydroxy-20µdihydroprogesterone and prostaglandins. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 37, 273-285.

Goetz, F. W., Fostier, A. Y., Breton, B. and Jalabert, B. 1987. Hormonal changes during meiotic maturation and ovulation in the brook trout <u>Salvalinus fontinalis</u>. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 4, 203-211.

Gormley, G. J., Hospelhorn, V. D., Khan, M. K. and Jensen, E. V. 1985. A controlled pore glass bead assay for the measurment of cytosolic and nuclear glucocorticoid receptors. J. Steroid Biochem. 22, 693-698.

Greeley, M. S., Begovak, P. C., Wallace, R. A. 1987. Removal of enveloping follicle cells can trigger resumpsion of meiotic maturation in <u>Fundulus heteroelitus</u> oocytes. J. Exp. Zool. 244, 177-180. Hatree, E.F. 1972. Determination of protein: A modification of Lowry method that gives a linear photometric response. Anal. Biochem. 48, 422-427.

Hansen, P.E., Johnson, A., Schrader, W.T., and O'Malley, B.T. 1976. Kinetics of progesterone binding to the chick oviduet receptor protein. J. Steroid. Biochem. 7, 723.

Idler, D.R., Fagerlund, U.H.M., and Ronald, A.P. 1960. Isolation of pregn-4-ene-17a,20y-diol-3-one from the plasma of Pacific salmon (<u>Oncorhynchus nerka</u>). Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 2, 133-137.

Ishikawa, K., Hanaoka, Y., Kondo, Y., and Imai, K. 1977. Primary action of steroid hormone at the surface of amphibian oceyte in the induction of germinal vesicle breakdown. Molec. Cell. Endoerinol. 9, 91-100.

Iwamatsu, T. 1981. Inhibitory effect of sera from various animals on <u>in vitro</u> maturation of the oocyte. Annot. Zool. Japon. 54, 157-163.

Iwamatsu, T. 1983. Evidence for the presence of low molecular weight factor in sera from various animals that induces in <u>vitro</u> maturation of fish oocytes. Develop. Growth Differ. 25, 211-216.

Iwamatsu, T., Takama, K. 1980. Inhibitory effect of rabbit serum factor on <u>in vitro</u> oocyte maturation of the telost fish, <u>Oryzias latipes</u>. Develop. Growth Differ. 22, 229-235.

Jalabert, B. 1975. Modulation par differents steroides non maturants de l'eefficacite de la 17e-hydroxy-20s- dihydroprogesterone ou d'un extrait gonadotrope sur la maturation

Cardina Ballan and a state and the second and the second second

intrafolliculaire in vitro des oocytes de la Truite arc-en-ciel <u>Salmo gairdneri</u>. C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris Ser. D. 281, 811-814.

Jalabert, B. 1976. In <u>vitro</u> occyte maturation and ovulation in rainbow trout (<u>Salmo</u> <u>gairdnerii</u>), northern pike (<u>Esox lucis</u>) and goldfish (<u>Carassius auratus</u>). J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 33, 974-988.

Jalabert, B., and Finet, B. 1986. Regulation of oocyte maturation in the rainbow trout, <u>Salmo gairdneri</u>: role of cyclic AMP in the mechanism of action of the maturation inducing steroid (MIS), 17e-hydroxy,20s-dihydroprogesterone. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 2, 65-74.

Jalabert, B. and Fostier, A. 1984. The modulatory effect in <u>vito</u> of estradiol-17, testosterone or cortisio on the output of 17a-hydroxy-20p-dihydroprogesterone by rainboe trout (<u>Salmo gairdneri</u>) ovarian follicles stimulated by the maturational gonadotropin s-GiH. Reprod. Nutr. Develop. 24, 127-136.

Jalabert, B., Bry, C., Breton, C., and Campbell, C. 1976. Action de la 17e-hydroxy-20g-dihydroprogesterone et de la progesterone sur la maturation et l'ovulation <u>in vitro</u> et sur le niveau d'hormone gonadotrope plasmatique t-GtH chez la Truite Arcen-ciel <u>Salmo gairdneri</u>. Cr. hebd. Seane. Acad. Sci. Paris. 283 Ser. D, 1205-1208. Jalabert, B., Breton, B., Bruzuska, E., Fostier, A., and Wieniawski, J. 1977. A new tool for induced spawning: the use of 17e-hydroxy-20g-dihydroprogesterone to spawn carp at low temperature. Aquaculture 10, 353-364.

Jalabert, B., Goetz, F.W., Breton, B., Fostier, A., and Donaldson, E.M. 1978. Precocious induction of oocyte maturation and ovulation in coho salmon, <u>Oncorhynchus kisutch</u>. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 35, 1423-1429.
Kagawa, H., Young, G., and Nagahama, Y. 1983. Changes in plasma steroid hormone levels during gonadal maturation in female goldfish, <u>Carassius auratus</u>. Bull. Jap. Soc. Sci. Fish. 49, 1783-1787.

Kalimi, M., Ziegler, D., and Morrill, G.A. 1979. Characterization of a progestin-binding macromolecule in the amphibian occyte cytosol. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 86(3), 560-567.

Koreman, S. E., Perrin, L.E., McCallum, T. P. 1969. A radio- ligand binding assay system for estradiol measurment in human plasma. J. Clin. Endoerinol. 29, 879-833.

Lazier, C.B., Lonergan, K., and Mommsen, T.P. 1984. Hepatic estrogen receptors and plasma estrogen-binding activity in the Atlantic salmon. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 57, 234-245.

Linder, H. Fc., Tafriri, A., Lieberman, M.E., Zor, Koch, Y., Bauminger, S. and Barnea, A. 1974. Gonadotropin action on cultured Graffian follicles: induction of maturation division of the mammalian oocyte and the differentiation of the luteal cell. Rec. Prog. Hor. Res. 30, 79-138.

Lowry, O.H., Rosebrough, N.J., Farr, A.L., and Randell, R.J. 1951. Protein measurement with folin phenol reagent. J. Biol. Chem. 193, 265-275.

Maller, J.L., and Krebs, E.G. 1980. Regulation of oocyte maturation. Curr. Top. Cell. Reg. 16, 271-311. Maller, J.L. 1985. Regulation of amphibian oocyte maturation. Cell Differ. 16, 211-221.

Maneckjee, A., Weisbart, M. and Idler, D. R. 1989. The presence of 17s,20g-dihydroxy-4pregnen-3-one receptor activity in the ovary of brook trout <u>Salvelinus [ontinalis</u> during terminal stages of occyte maturation. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 6, 19-38.

Maneckjee, A., Weisbart, M. and Idler, D. R. 1987. Isolation and characteristics of 174,204dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one receptor activity in ovarian tissue of the brook trout, <u>Salvelinus</u> <u>fontinalis</u>. Proceedings third international symposium on reproductive physiology of fish.(D.R. Idler, L.W. Crim and J.M. Walsh, eds.) Memorial University of Newfoundland, S. John's, Newfoundland.

Masui, Y., Clarke, H. J. 1979. Oocyte maturation. Int. Rev. Cytol. 57, 185-282.

Mester, J., Robertson, D. M., Feherty, P., Kellie, A. E. 1970. Determination of high affinity oestrogen receptor sites in uterine supernatant preparations. Biochem. J. 120, 831-836.

Muller, R. E., Wotiz, H.H. 1979. Kinetics of estradiol entry into uterine cells Endocrinology. 105, 1107-1114.

Nagahama, Y. 1987a. Endocrine control of oocyte maturation. <u>In</u> "Hormones and Reproduction in Fishes, Amphibians and Reptiles". (D.O. Norris and R.E. Jones. eds. 171-193. Plenum Press, New York.

Nagahama, Y. 1987b. 17e,20g-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one: a teleost maturation inducing hormone. Develop. Growth and Differ. 29, 1-12.

Nagahama, Y., and Adachi, S. 1985. Identification of maturation-inducing steroid in a teleost, the amago salmon (<u>Oncorhynchus rhodurus</u>). Dev. Biol. 109, 428-435.

Nagahama, Y. and Yamashita, M. 1988. Mechanisms of synthesis and action of 17a,20gdihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one, a teleost maturation inducing substance. Fish Physiol. Biochem. (in press).

Ozon, R., and Belle, R. 1973. Progesterone receptor associated with the "Melanosome" fraction of <u>Pleurodeles waltlii</u> (Urodela amphibian). Biochim. Biophys. Acta 320, 588-593.

Pavlik, E. J., Coulson, P. B. 1976. Hydroxylapatite "batch" assay for estrogen receptors: increased sensitivity over present receptor assays. J. Steroid Biochem. 7, 357-368.

Pavlik, E.J., Van Nagell, J.R., Muncey, M., Donaldson, E.S., Hanson, M., Kenady, D., Douglas Rees, E., and Talwalkar, V.R. 1982. Rapid analysis of estrogen and progesterone receptors using gel-exclusion high performance liquid chromatography. Biochemistry 21, 139-145.

Peck, E. J. Jr., Burgner, J., Clark, J. H. 1973. Estrophilic binding sites of the utcrus. Relation to uptake and retention of estradiol <u>in vitro</u>. Biochemistry 12, 4596-4603.

Peter, R.E., Sokoloswka, M., Truscott, B., Walsh, J, and Idler, D.R. 1993. Secretion of progestogens during induced ovulation in goldfish. Can. J. Zool. 62, 1946-1949.

Pincus, G. and Enzmann, E.V. 1935. The comparative behavior of mammalian eggs in vivo and vitro. 1. The activation of ovarian eggs. J. Exp. Med. 62, 665-675. Sadler, S. E., Maller, J. L. 1982. Identification of steroid receptor on the surface of <u>Xenopus</u> ocoyics using the synthetic progestin RU486. J. Steroid Biochem. 22, 419-496. Sadler, S.E., Bower, M.A., and Maller, J.L. 1985. Studies of a plasma membrane steroid receptor in <u>Xenopus</u> ocoyies using the synthetic progestin R4486. J. Steroid Biochem. 22, 419-426.

Sanborn, B. M., Steinberger, A. S., Mcistrich, M. L. and Steinberger, c. 1975. Androgen binding sites in testis cell fractions as measured by a nuclear exchange assay. J. Steroid Biochem. 6, 1459-1468.

Sandor, T., DiBattista, J.A., and Mehdi, A.Z. 1984. Glucocorticoid receptors in the gill tissue of fish. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 53, 353-364.

Sangalang, G. B. and Freeman, H. C. 1987. A simple, rapid, and precise direct radioimmunoassay method for 17e,20t-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one in Salmon plasma. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 68, 330-334.

Sangalang, G. B. and Freeman, H. C. 1977. A new sensitive and precise method for determining tostosterone and 11- ketotestosterone in fish plasma by radioimmunoassay. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 32, 432-439.

Santi, D. V., Sibly, C. H., Perrird, E. R., Tomkins, G., Baxter, J. D. 1973. A filter assay for steroid hormone receptors. Biochemistry 12, 2412-2416.

Scatchard, G. 1949. The attractions of proteins for small molecules and ions. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 51, 660-672.

Schmidt, P.J., and Idler, D.R. 1962. Steroid hormones in plasma of salmon at various stages

of maturation. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 2, 204-214.

Scott, A.P., and Baynes, S.M. 1982. Plasmal levels of sex steroids in relation to ovulation and aperniation in rainbow trout (<u>Salmo gairdneri</u>). <u>In</u> Proceedings of the International Symposium in Reproductive Physiology of Fish. (CJJJ. Richter and HJ.T. Goos. eds.) Pudoc, Wageningen, Netherlands, 103-116.

Scott, A.P., Sheldrick, E.L., and Flint, A.P. 1982. Measurement of 17s,209-dihydroxy-4-pregener-3-one in plasma of trout (<u>Salmo gairdneri</u> Richardson). Seasonal changes and response to salmon pituitary extract. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 46, 444-451.

Sherman, M.R., Moran, M.C., Tuazon, F.B., Stevens, Yee-Wan. 1983. Structure, dissociation, and proteolysis of mammalian steroid receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 258, 10366-10377.

Sherman, M.R., and Stevens, John. 1984. Structure of mammalian steroid receptors: Evolving concepts and methodological developments. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 46, 83-105.

Simpson, T.H., Wright, R.S., and Renfrew, Joyce. 1964. Steroid biosynthesis in Semen of Dogfish Squalus acanthias. J. Endocrinol. 31, 11-20.

So, Y.P., Idler, D.R., Truscott, B., and Walsh, J.M. 1985. Progestogens, androgens and their glucuronides in the terminal stages of oceyte maturation in landlocked Atlantic salmon. J. Steroid. Biochem. 23, 583 23, 583-591.

Stracey, N.E., Peter, R.E., Cook, A.F., Truscott, B., Walsh, J.M., and Idler, D.R. 1983. Changes in plasma concentrations of gonadotroppin, 17-estradiol, testosterone, and 17p-hydroxy-20p-dihydroprogesterone during spontaneous and brain lesion induced ovulation in goldfish. Can. J. Zool. 61, 2646-2652.

Steggles, A. W., King, R. J. 1970. The use of protamine to study 6,7-[<sup>3</sup>H]oestradiol 17 binding in rat uterus. Biochemistry. 118, 695-701.

Theofan, G. and Goetz, F. W. 1981. The <u>in vitro</u> effects of actinomycin D and cyclohexamide on germinal vesicle breakdown of yellow perch <u>Percha flavescens</u> oocytes. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 69, 557-561.

Tsafriri, A., Pomerantz, S.H. and Channing, C.P. 1976. Inhibition of oocyte maturation by porcine follicular fluid: partial characterization of the inhibitor. Biol. Reprod. 14, 511-516.

Van Der Walt, L.A., and Wittliff, J.L. 1986. Assessment of progestin receptor: Polymorphism by various synthetic ligands using HPLC. J. Steroid. Biochem. 24, 377-382. Walter, M. R., Clark, J. H. 1977. Cytosol progesterone receptors of the rat uterus: assay and receptors characteristics. J. Steroid Biochem. 8, 1137-1144.

Wright, R.S., and Hunt, S.M.V. 1982. A radioimmunoassay for 17e,20edBydroxy-4-prognen-3-one. Its uses in measuring changes in serum levels at ovulation in Atlantic salmon (<u>Salmo galar</u>), eoho salmon (<u>Oncordynchus kisutch</u>) and rainbow trout (<u>Salmo gairdner</u>). Gen. Comp. Endoerinol. 47, 475-482.

### CHAPTER 2

## Nuclear receptors

## Introduction.

The concept that steroid hormone action is mediated by interaction with specific target tissue receptor proteins has been accepted by endocrinologists, but changes in the classical steroid receptor model proposed over 25 years ago by Jensen and Jacobson (chapter 1) have taken place, and subcellular localization of unoccupied receptors is a recent controversy. Recent experimental evidence strongly suggests that localization of a large proportion of the unoccupied receptors occurs in the nuclei (Table 2.1.). Various models of cytosolic/ nuclear receptor distribution have been described as follows: - 1) Two-step model of steroid hormone action proposed independently by Gorski, et al. (1968) and Jensen, et al. (1968). According to this model, the receptors initially interact with the steroid ligands in the cytoplasm of the target cells, and are transformed, and then translocate to the nuclei (see chapter 1.), 2) Equilibrium model was proposed by Williams and Gorski (1972). The cytosolic and the nuclear receptor binding sites are in a rapidly reversible equilibrium. Binding of the hormones in the cytoplasm, appears to shift this equilibrium, such that a large percentage of the filled binding sites becomes

Table 2.1.	
Reports on experimental demonstration of nuclear unoccupied	
steroid hormone receptor	
Hormone. Tissue.	Reference.
<u>Estrogens. Squalus</u> testis.	Callard and Mak, 1985.
Breast cancer cells.	Garola and McGuire, 1977.
	Zava, <u>et al</u> . 1977.
	Geier, <u>et al</u> . 1982.
	Zava and McGuire, 1977.
	Panko and Macleod, 1978.
Brain cells.	Sheridan, 1975.
	Meada, <u>et al</u> . 1983.
	Clark, <u>et</u> al . 1982.
Chick oviduct.	Schimke, <u>et</u> al. 1975.
Leydig tumor cells.	Mcada, <u>et al</u> .1983.
Liver.	Mester and Baulieu, 1972.

Defer, <u>et al</u> . 1974.

```
Ozon and Bell, 1973.
```

Pituitary tumor cells. Sonnenschein, <u>et al</u>. 1977.

Uteri. Giannopoulos, et al . 1980. Carson and Gorski, 1980. Geier, et al . 1980. Levy, et al . 1980. White, et al .1981. \_\_\_\_\_ Androgens, Brain cells. Sheridan, 1975. \_\_\_\_\_ 1,25 (OH)2D3 Waltors, et al .1980. Intestinal mucosa Kream, et al . 1976. Lawson and Wilson, 1974. Pituitary Gelbard, et al . 1980. \_\_\_\_\_ Ecdysteroid Imaginal dics Yund, et al. 1978. \_\_\_\_\_ Progestins Not found.

associated with the nuclear fraction. 3) Distribution model was proposed by Sheridan, et al .(1979). The free steroid can enter both the cytoplasm and the nuclei of the cell. The unbound receptors are in equilibrium, partitioned between nucleus and the cytoplasm, according to the free water content of these intracellular compartments. 4) The affinity model was proposed by Walters, et al .(1981 a and b), and Walters, (1985). This model is a slightly modified model of that of Sheridan, et al. (1979), where the final distribution of receptors between the cytoplasm and the nuclei, is further dependent on the affinity (KN) of the untransformed receptors for the nuclear acceptor sites. This model is schematically presented in Fig. 2.1. 1) The lipophilic steroid hormones (S) are distributed within both cytoplasmic and nuclear compartments. 2) The unoccupied receptors (R) migrate between both the cytoplasmic and nuclear compartments, and are in an equilibrium state defined by the partitioning within the free volumes of each compartment, and the affinity (K<sub>N</sub>) of the untransformed receptors for the nuclear acceptor sites. The unoccupied receptors are believed to be primarily concentrated in the nuclei in a reversible equilibrium binding state with the nuclear matrix and /or chromatin. 3) Steroid binding to the receptor results in the conversion of what is probably a transient ([RS]) occupied receptor species into the biologically active occupied transformed ([RS\*]) receptor

125

· ....

Fig. 2.1. A revised model of steroid-receptor interaction and induction of cellular response. Reproduced from Endocrine Reviews, 1985. vol. 6. pp.512-543. "Steroid hormone receptors and the nucleus." Author Marian R. Walters.

and a second product second second



form. 4) On dilution of the cytoplasm, the cytosolic concentration <u>in vitro</u> of biologically active receptors which contain weakly bound steroids suggests that most of these steps are reversible to some extent. 5) The affinity  $(K_N)$  of the transformed receptor for the nuclear acceptor sites is elevated, favoring receptor binding to the acceptor sites and resulting in the induction (or occasionally repression) of mRNA transcription, altered protein synthesis, and regulation of cell function. These models based on experimental results, have been useful in providing a simple understanding of the different subcellular localizations of the receptor species, whether occupied or unoccupied, both <u>in vitro</u> and <u>in vivo</u>.

Thus according to the revised model of steroid-receptor interaction (Walters, 1985), it is possible that the receptors obtained during the cytosolic preparation of brook trout ovarian follicles as described in chapter 1, could have come from the oocyte nucleus or germinal vesicle (GV) during the homogenization process mainly due to breakdown of the GV and dilution of the cytoplasm. If such were the case more unoccupied receptors should be found in the nuclei pellet fraction of the ovarian follical preparation during earlier stages of maturation. This possibility was investigated initially, by gently homogenizing the stage 1 ovarian follicles in low ionic strength buffer without

molybdate, and then measuring the nuclear receptor activity by 1) binding studies as described in chapter 1, and 2) by DNA cellulose column chromatography (Callard and Callard. 1987: Alberts and Herrick, 1970: Fox and Pardee, 1971). Only non-specific binding was obtained from the nuclear pellet assays, using the above methods. The possibility that the high non-specific binding (due to the contamination of cytosolic and membrane associated proteins) could have masked a small specific activity in the nuclei was investigated by isolation of whole intact nuclei. Various methods have been used for isolation of somatic cells nuclei (Lawson, et al .1984). Ideally isolated nuclei should contain all of the sub-nuclear components and functional activities initially present (Simard, (1970); Bouteille, et al .1975; Puvion and Bernhard, 1975), and also be free from contamination by cytoplasmic material. There are three main considerations to take into account during nuclear extractions from cells 1) the disruption of cells to avoid nuclear breakdown, 2) solution used to stabilize nuclear structure and/or composition, and 3) separation of nuclei from solubilized extranuclear material. Generally nuclei have higher densities (1.32) compared to other cell organelles, therefore nuclei can be separated from other cell components by isopycnic density centrifugation. The method used for oocyte nuclei separation was initially used in obtaining nuclei from erythrocytes of brook and rainbow

trout. The nuclei were then used in binding studies with radiolabelled 17 $\alpha, 20\,\beta$ -DHP, and photoaffinity labelling with labelled R5020.

A direct association of steroid-receptor complexes with the chromatin in target cell nuclei has been observed for estrogen (Hamilton, 1968; Steggles, <u>ei</u> <u>al</u> .1971), testosterone (Steggles, <u>ei</u> <u>al</u> .1971), aldosterone (Swaneck, <u>ei</u> <u>al</u> .1970), and progesterone (Steggles, <u>ei</u> <u>al</u> .1971). In the case of progesterone in chick oviduct system, it has been demonstrated that receptor binding is associated with non-histone proteins of the nuclei, which when complexed with DNA constitute the chromatin acceptor sites (Spelsberg, <u>ei</u> <u>al</u> .1971). The presence of acceptor binding sites, in the isolated occyte and erythrocyte nuclei for the 174,20 $\beta$ -

DHP-receptor complex, was also investigated using covalently bound [3H]R5020-receptor complex, obtained after photoaffinity labelling and purification of cytosolic preparations.

129

# Materials and methods

## FISH

Female, prespawning brook trout, <u>Salvelinus fontinalis</u> (length 22-28 cm, weight 0.12-0.23 kg) were obtained from Long Pond, St. John's, Newfoundland using gill nets by the Ocean Sciences Centre / Marine Lab personnel. The fish were caught during the week of September 3, 1987, and were exposed to natural photoperiods and housed in a fiberglass round tank of 2250 l capacity at ambient temperature in filtered pond water. Rainbow trout <u>Oncorhynchus mykiss.</u> were purchased from a fish hatchery in Hopeall, Newfoundland and used immediately.

### Steroids

Promegestone, [174-methyl [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 (specific activity 85 ci/m mol) and [1,2-<sup>3</sup>H]174-HP (specific activity 50 ci/m mol) were purchased from New England Nuclear Corporation (Canada), Lachine , Quebec. [1, 2-<sup>3</sup>H]174,20<sup>ff</sup>-DHP (specific activity 50 ci/m mol) was synthesized from [1,2-<sup>3</sup>H]174-HP (Simpson, <u>ci al</u> . 1964). The tritiated steroids were purified by paper chromatography or thin layer chromatography using standard methods. Radioinert 174,20<sup>ff</sup>-DHP was purchased from Steraloids, Inc., Wilton, N.Y. Inert R5020 was supplied by New England Nuclear Corporation (Canada), Lachine, Quebec.

## Chemicals

Trizma pH 7.4, sodium molybdate, glycerol, EDTA, activated charcoal, dithiothreitol, MOPS, HEPES, polyoxyethyiene 23-Lauryl ether (Brij 35) and common inorganic and organic chemicals were purchased from Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis Missouri, U.S.A. Common organic solvents were purchased from Fisher Scientific, Caledon, BDH and were of highest purity available. Liquid scintillation fluid (Ready safe) was purchased from Beckman Instruments, Toronto, Ontario. Millipore MilliQ, 18 mega ohm water was used throughout (Amicon Canada Ltd. Oakville, Ontario).

# Measurement of protein

Protein samples were measured using the Bio-Rad micro dye-binding procedure with gamma globulin as the protein standard (Bio-Rad protein assay kit 1).

#### DNA isolation and measurement

The isolated nuclei preparation was taken up in 5% perchloric acid by heating at 70 deg C for 15-20 min, and the supernatant used for DNA measurement with diphenylamine reagent (Schneider, 1945; Burton, 1956).

#### Measurement of radioactivity

Liquid scintillation counter Model 300C TRI-CARB United Technologies/Packard Instruments, fitted with a DPM option program was used. The [<sup>3</sup>H] standards efficiency curves were generated at least every 30 days. [<sup>3</sup>H] efficiency check was carried out at each count using automatic efficiency control. All samples were counted at 0.2% statistical precision or 20 min whichever came first.

# Attempted nuclear binding assays

Fish were sacrificed by a sharp blow on the head, and the ovaries were dissected out. The ovarian epithelium, and attached connective tissue was removed and the ovarian follicles were weighed (3.5 g), and then carefully homogenized in 10 ml of TED buffer (10 mM TRIZMA, pH 7.4; 1.5mM EDTA: and 1mM dithiothreitol) in a Potter-Elvehiem homogenizer (glass/teflon) with a mechanical drive. The speed of the homogenizer was increased slowly till breakage of the minced ovarian follicles occurred. The homogenate was then centrifuged at 2,500 rpm (750 x g) for 30 min. The pellet was quickly washed with TED buffer containing 0.1% Triton X-100 (5 ml), and after centrifugation rewashed with TED buffer (5 ml). The pellet was then suspended in 0.5M KCl in TED buffer using a glass rod. The resulting nuclear suspension was then centrifuged at 10,000 rpm (25,000 x g) for 10 min, the supernatant separated and diluted (1:5) with TED buffer and then treated with charcoal-dextrap to remove endogenous steroids for 30 min. All the experimental procedures were carried out between 1-4 deg C. Binding studies using [3H] 17&.20B-DHP The procedure as described in chapter 1 for binding studies

using cytosolic receptor preparation was followed, a) The free from bound steroid separation was carried out using charcoal-dextran solution at time intervals of 5 and 10 min as previously described, b) Free steroid was separated from bound using protamine sulphate (250 µl of 1 mg/ml in TED buffer) in each assay tube containing 250 ul of nuclear extract. Protamine-precipitated protein was incubated in duplicate with increasing concentrations of labelled steroid (1-10 nM) for 12 h in the presence (non-specific) or absence (total) of 1000 fold excess inert steroid. Bound and free steroid were separated, after addition of 250 ul of hydroxy-apatite slurry to the samples (to aid in washing of the protamine sulphate precipitated nuclear proteins). The tubes were centrifuged, and the pellet washed with 3x 1ml of ice cold TED buffer, and then extracted with 1 ml of ethanol at room temperature for 1 h. Aliquots (500 ul) of ethanol extracts were then counted with scirtillator.

# DNA cellulose column chromatography

DNA cellulose (1.5 g, Lot 33F-80301 from Sigma Chemicals, capacity 5.7 mg double stranded DNA/g ) was mixed with 1.5 g of Avicel microcrystalline cellulose (Brinkman Instruments), and suspended in TEDG buffer (50mM TRIZMA 7.4, 0.25mM EDTA, 0.5 mM DTT and 10% glycerol). After removal of suspended 'fines' the DNA cellulose matrix was packed into a Pharmacia C10/10 column. The column was coupled with an AC10 adapter to a Gilson minipuls 2 pump and Gilson micro fractionator. Total bed volume of the column matrix was 6.7 ml. Two columns were run simultaneously, and used under identical conditions.

# DNA cellulose column chromatography of nuclear pellet extract.

Frozen brook trout ovarian tissue from stage 1 and stage 6-7 was used. Ovarian tissue (5.0 g) was gently homogenized (after mincing with scissors), using glass/teflon homogenizer for 3x10 sec at 60 sec intervals in 20 ml of TEDG buffer pH 7.4. The homogenate was then centrifuged at 2.500 rpm (750 x g) for 30 min. After separating the supernatant from the pellet, the latter was quickly washed with 5.0 ml of buffer and recentrifuged for 5.0 min. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was resuspended in 5.0 ml of TEDG buffer containing 0.5M KCl or NaCl and centrifuged at 15,000 rpm (25,000 x g). The above nuclear pellet extract was diluted (1:10) using TEDG buffer, then treated with charcoal-dextran for 60 min to remove endogenous steroids. The nuclear extract containing charcoal-dextran was then recentrifuged at 15,000 rpm (25.000 x g) for 10 min. Two 5.0 ml aliquots of the above charcoal-dextran treated supernatents were then equilibrated with [3H]174,20\$-DHP (5 nM) with or without inert steroid (100nM) for 12h, and then applied to

two separate but identical DNA cellulose columns. The samples were equilibrated on the columns for 60 min at 4-6 deg C, and then washed with TEDG buffer till all the unbound radioactivity was removed (50 ml); the column was then further eluted using 0.05 to 1.0M linear KCl or NaCl gradient in TEDG buffer. Eighty fractions of 0.6 ml were collected, and 20Qul samples were counted for radioactivity in 10 ml of scintillation fluid; the rate of flow through both columns was 9 ml/h.

# Isolation of nuclei from erythrocytes of brook and rainbow trout

Fish were removed from tanks and sacrificed by a blow on the head, and then placed on ice. A blood sample was taken, without heparin using a syringe, from the caudal artery in the caudal peducile within 60 sec of introducing the hand net and catching the fish. The blood was immediately centrifuged (1.0 ml) in duplicate samples in 1.5 ml polypropylene micro test tubes (Bio-Rad Laboratories, catalog 223-9505), using a IEC Micro-MB centrifuge for 2 min at room temperature. The serum was aspirated, and to the red blood cells precipitate was added 0.5 ml of fish homogenization buffer (FIB) (20 mM (3-[N-N-morpholino] propane sulphonic acid) MOPS, 0.5% Triton X-100, 2 mM Mg (CH3COO)2, 3MM CaCl2, 0.1MM EDTA, 2mM DTT), the tubes were vortexed to hemolyze the cells, and their contents apolied on to the surface of

fish cushion buffer (FCB) (2M sucrose, 2mM Mg(CH<sub>3</sub>COO)<sub>2</sub>, 3mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.1mM EDTA, 20 mM MOPS pH 7.2, 2mM DTT) (10 ml) contained in 'ultra-clear' tubes (Beckman 344059) and centrifuged in a Beckman model L5-50 ultra-centrifuge using a SW 41-Ti rotor at 25,000 rpm (77,100 x g) for 60 min at 5 deg C. The supernatant was carefully aspirated and to the pellet (nuclei) at the bottom of the tube was added 0.5 ml of nuclear storage buffer (NSB) (50% w/w glycerol, 5mM DTT, 30mM HEPES (N-2-Hydroxy ethyl piperazine-N'-2-ethanol sulphonic acid) pH 7.55, 10mM potassium acetate, 10 mM magnesium acetate, a.d gently mixed.

# Binding of erythrocyte nuclei to [3H] R5020-receptor complex

Cytosol preparation after photoaffinity labelling with [ $^{2}H|$ R5020 (chapter 3) was fractionated on a Sephacryl S-300 column and the peak tube containing covalently labelled receptor complex (500  $\mu$ l) was equilibrated with the above nuclei suspensions for 8h at 1 deg C. The control tubes contained denatured [ $^{3}H|$ R5020-receptor complex obtained by warming the tube at 60 deg C for 60 min. After equilibration the samples were applied to FCB and contrifuged to separate out the free radiolabelled receptor complex from that bound to the nuclei as described above. The supernatant was aspirated out and the pellet mixed with

136

500 ul of NSB and transferred to the scintillation vial, 2.0 ml of Protosol was then added and the capped vials kept overnight at 50 deg C. After cooling, 20 ml of scintillation fluid was added and samples counted after 6 h adaptation in the dark or until constant counts were obtained. The experiment was repeated three times. Rainbow trout erythrocytes nuclei were also used in binding studies with brook trout [94]R5020-receptor complex.

Photoaffinity labelling of brook trout erythrocyte nuclei in an attempt to demonstrate the presence of nuclear binding sites

The nuclei were prepared in duplicate tubes from 0.5 ml of blood as described in the last section, and suspended in 1.0 ml of TETS buffer containing 0.1% Brij 35. Samples 250 ul, were than added to 12 x 75 mm glass tubes containing vacuum evaporated [3H]85020 (3.7 ml) and photoaffinity labelled for 20 min under standard conditions as described in chapter 3. The control tubes were not photoaffinity labelled but treated similarly as the samples. The reaction was terminated by addition of charcoal-dextran (250 ul), and samples left at 1 deg C for 60 min. The tubes were centrifuged at 3,500 rpm (1650 x g) for 10 min, and then 250 ul of supernatent counted. Furthermore, nuclei from 0.5 ml blood were suspended in FHB (1 ml) and 250 ul in triplicate were photoaffinity labelled but treated with

[<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 and kept in the dark. The separation of free steroid from steroid bound to the nuclei was carried out by isopycnic centrifugation in FCB as described. The pelleted nuclei were then counted for radioactivity after solubilization in Protosol as described.

Isolation of nuclei from stage 1 and 3 overian follicles of brook trout, and photoaffinity labelling of nuclei Brook trout ovarian follicles (10 g) after separation from ovarian epithelium, were placed in a 30 ml syringe and gently squeezed out, the cell sap was pressed out through size 50 nylon mesh to remove membranes and connective tissue, About 7.0 ml of filtrate was recovered, to which was added 28 ml of FHB and gently stirred using a glass rod until a homogeneous solution was obtained. The above homogenate (5.0 ml) was then applied into six tubes containing FCB (6 ml) and ultracentrifuged to obtained pelleted nuclei as described for erythrocytes. The presence of nuclei was demonstrated by measurement of protein and DNA. The nuclei were suspended in NSB (2 ml) and added to a scintillation vial containing vacuum evaporated [3H]R5020 (3.7 nM). After mixing three samples were photolyzed for 30 min and 3 control vials were treated similarly but kept in the dark. Aliquots (1.0 ml) of photolyzed and non photolyzed nuclei were applied on FCB (9 ml) and ultracentrifuged to separate [3H]R5020-nuclear

receptors from free [9H]R5020 as described. The supernatants were aspirated, and the pelleted nuclei containing bound [9H]R5020-receptors were suspended in 500 ul of NSB and transferred to a scintillation vial, digested in Protosol and then counted as described previously.

#### Gel filteration chromatography of nuclear pellet extract

The nuclear pellet extract from frozen stage 3 brook trout ovarian follicles was prepared in 0.5M KCI containing TED buffer as described. The nuclear extract was then diluted with TED buffer (3 ml to 10 ml), and a 5 ml aliquoi equilibrated with [3H]progesterone (20 nM) for 22 h at 1 deg C. The equilibrated sample was then applied to a Sephacryl S-300 column previously equilibrated with 0.15 M KCI in TED buffer at pH 7.4. and eluted using the same buffer. The experiment was then carried out using nuclear extract from the same batch of frozen ovarian follicles equilibrated with [3H]progesterone (20 mM) in the presence of inert progesterone (30 M). The complete experimental protocol for Sephacryl S-300 column chromatography has been described in chapter 1.

# Results

# Nuclear pellet extract assays.

As mentioned in the introduction section of this chapter, no specific binding was demonstrated in the nuclear pellet extracts, using either charcoal-dextran or protamine sulphate methods for separation of bound steroid from free after equilibration either with labelled progesterone or MIS 17φ,20β-DHP.

#### DNA cellulose elution chromatography of nuclear extracts.

The elution pattern from DNA cellulose column chromatography for brook trout gill nuclear cortisol receptors is represented in Fig. 2.2. The cytosolic preparation from the same fish did not bind DNA cellulose as depicted in Fig. 2.4. Oocyte (stage 6) nuclear receptors, elution pattern from DNA cellulose column is indicated in Fig. 2.3, the cytosolic extract also bound DNA cellulose (Fig. 2.5). The specific binding obtained with nuclear extracts of brook trout ovarian follicles was very small and not reproducible. The peak receptor binding activity did not clute at the same KCl concentration even from the same nuclear pellet preparation. Similar results were also obtained from nuclear extracts of stage 1 ovarian follicles. Fig. 2.2. KCl gradient elution pattern from DNA cellulose column chromatography of brook trout gill nuclear pellet extracted receptors, equilibrated with [<sup>3</sup>H]cortisol (5 nM) in the absence ( $\blacksquare$ ), and the presence of inert (3  $\mu$ M) steroid ( $\spadesuit$ ).



141 0.

Fig. 2.3. KCl gradient elution pattern from DNA cellulose column chromatography of brook trout stage 6 nuclear extracted receptors, equilibrated with [□H]1TK,20β-DHP (5nM) in the absence ( ■ ), and the presence of inert (3AM) steroid ( ● ).

e fine and the set of the set of



142 0.

こ、なるない、などのからしたい the base of the states of Ales & To special

Fig. 2.4. KCl gradient elution pattern from DNA cellulose column chromatography of brook trout gill cytosolic receptors, equilibrated with [<sup>3</sup>H]cortisol (5nM) in the absence (■), and the presence of inert (3nM) steroid (● ).



143 a.

Fig. 2.5. KCl gradient elution pattern from DNA cellulose column chromatography of brook trout stage 1 cytosolic receptors, equilibrated with [3H]17K,20∯-DHP (5nM) in the absence ( ■ ), and the presence of inert (3µM) steroid.



1440.

# Photoaffinity labelling of brook trout oocytes and erythrocyte nuclei.

The photoaffinity labelled and control nuclei, both gave binding activity. Control levels were equivalent or even higher than photoaffinity labelled sample values. The experiment was then repeated using denatured nuclei (alkali treated at pH 12 for 60 min at 40 deg C, and then reacidified to pH 7), and the results obtained were similar. These results suggested non-specific steroid binding to the nuclei. The separation of free steroid from photoaffinity labelled nuclear receptor was also carried out using the isopycnic density method, and similar results were obtained. The time of photoaffinity labelling was then reduced to 60 sec. and the results obtained were similar. Using erythrocyte nuclei, the binding obtained was higher than with the oocyte nuclear preparation, supporting the hypothesis that non-specific hydrophobic binding of steroid to DNA bases might be occurring.

# [34] <u>R5020-receptor complex binding to erythrocytes</u> nuclei.

Very little binding to the nuclear material was observed in either the sample or the denatured receptor steroid complex control, <u>Ga.</u> 2000 dpm/10<sup>6</sup> erythrocyte nuclei. This indicates that a small amount of non-specific binding occurred in the nuclei.

Gel filteration chromatography of ovarian nuclear pellet extract.

Sephacryl S-300 elution pattern from brook trout nuclear pellet extract equilibrated with [<sup>3</sup>H]progesterone (20 nM) gave MW of 298,000 and 32,000 (Fig. 2.6).
Fig. 2.6. Sephacryl S-300 elution pattern of brook trout stage 3 nuclear extract. The nuclear extract in 0.5M NaCl was diluted to 0.15M NaCl, and then 5 ml equilibrated with  $[^3H]$  progesterone (20 nM) in the presence and absence of inert steroid (3µM). The specific binding peak occurred at MW 298,000 and 32,000 (  $\bullet$  ). Non-specific binding peak activity occurred at MW 285,000 (  $\bullet$  ).



#### Discussion.

The results obtained from the nuclear pellet assay, and from isolation and binding experiments of intact nuclei from oocyte protoplasm demonstrated that non-specific binding occurred for [3H]17¢,20<mark>f</mark>-DHP.

DNA cellulose column chromatography has been used by various researchers, to isolate receptors quantitatively from the nuclear pellet extract. Transformed receptors which are normally present in the nuclei, also have high affinity for DNA cellulose and phosphocellulose, while unbound receptors do not bind DNA cellulose or phosphocellulose. Also steroid binding proteins from blood or tissues do not hind DNA cellulose. DNA cellulose column chromatography indicated very little specific binding occurred for [3H]17#C.208--DHP, and this binding was not reproducible since the receptor labelled steroid complex was eluted at different KCl concentrations through the DNA cellulose column. The cytosolic preparation from brook trout ovarian follicles also specifically bound to DNA cellulose, but the amount of binding was very small compared to the specific binding observed from cytosolic dextran-charcoal assay. An attempt was made to identify the nature of the eluted labelled complex from DNA cellulose column by PAGE (5% gel). The peak tubes from 3 runs after concentration by lyophilization from the nuclear and cytosolic ovarian follicles preparation did

not give any bands on the gel when stained with Coomassie blue. It is probable that the very small amount (50-100 dpm) of [<sup>3</sup>H]17¢,20Å-DHP or a labelled impurity is adsorbed on to the cellulose moiety of the column and is released during elution.

A nuclear pellet assay for glucocorticoid receptors, carried out as reported by Chakraborti, <u>st</u> <u>al</u>. 1987, and DNA cellulose column chromatography of gill tissue nuclear extracts from brook trouts, previously injected with cortisol (to induce cortisol nuclear receptors in the nuclei), both gave reproducible specific binding activity, using [<sup>3</sup>H]cortisol as the binding ligand (samples of gill tissue nuclear extracts were provided by Professor Weisbart, St. Frances Xavier University, Antigonish, N.S.). The same methods and reagents were utilized with the ovarian nuclear extracts and gave no specific binding. This rules out the possibility that any of the reagents, e.g. DNA cellulose, hydroxy apatite, protamine sulphate etc. or the conditions of the assay contributed to the failure to detect nuclear.

The frozen ovarian follicular nuclear extract, once frozen and thawed, after dilution and equilibration with [<sup>9</sup>H]progesterone (20 nM) was eluted through a Sephacry] S-300 column and gave specific binding peaks at MW's 298,000 and 32,000. These MW's values are close to those obtained from cytosolic preparations. Since all of the above reported experimental evidence indicates the absence of nuclear receptors, these solubilized receptors must have come from the sub-cellular organelles precipitated with the nuclear pellet. The evidence for the presence of plasma membrane bound receptor activity from the zona radiata membrane of the ocyte is given in chapter 3.

#### References.

Alberts, B. and Herrick, G. 1970. DNA-cellulose chromatography. <u>In</u> "Methods in enzymology," Vol. 21 "Nucleic Acids" (L. Grossman and K. Modare, eds.), pp 198-217. Academic Press, New York.

Bouteille, M., Laval, M., Dupuy-Coin, A. M. 1975. <u>In</u> "The cell nucleus", (H. Busch, ed.), pp. 3-21. Academic Press, N. Y.

Callard, I. P. and Callard, G. V. 1987. Sex steroids receptors and non-receptor binding proteins, <u>In</u> "Hormones and reproduction in fishes, Amphibians and Reptiles." (D. O. Norris and R. E. Jones, eds.), pp. 355-378. Plenum Press, New york.

Callard, G. V. and Mak, P. 1985. Exclusive nuclear location of estrogen receptors in <u>Squalus</u> testis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. (USA) 82, 1336-1340.

Carlson, R. A., Gorski, J. 1980. Characterization of unique population of unfilled estrogen binding sites associated with the nuclear fraction of immature rat uteri. Endocrinology. 106, 1776-1785.

Clark, C. R., MacLusky, N. J., Naftolin, F. 1982. Unfilled nuclear oestrogen receptors in the rat brain and pituitary gland. J. Eudocrinol. 93, 327-337.

Chakraborti, P. K., Weisbart, M., and Chakraborti, A. 1987. The presence of corticosteroid receptor activity in the gills of brook trout <u>Salvelinys</u> <u>fontnalis</u>. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 66, 323- 332.

Defer, N., Dastugue, B., Kruh, J. 1974. Direct binding of corticosterone and estradiol to rat liver nuclear non-histone proteins. Biochimie. 56, 559-563.

Fox, T. O. and Pardee, A. B. 1971. Proteins made in the mammalian cell cycle. J. Biol. Chem. 245, 6159-6165.

Garola, R. E., McGuirc, W. L. 1977. An improved assay for nuclear estrogen receptors in experimental and human breast cancer. Cancer Res. 37, 3333-3339.

Geier, A., Beery, R., Levran, D., Menczer, Y., Lunefeld, B. 1980. Unoccupied nuclear receptors for estrogen in human endometrial tissue. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 50, 541-545.

Geier, A., Haimshon, M., Luncfeld, B. 1982. Evidence for

origin of the unoccupied oestrogen receptors in the nuclei of human breast cancer cell line (MCF-7). Biochem. J. 202, 687-692.

Gelbard, H. A., Stern, P. H., U'Prichard, D. C. 1980. 1 ,25-dihydroxyvitamin Da nuclear receptors in the pituilary. Science. 209, 1247-1249.

Giannopoulos, G., Goldberg, P., Shea, T. B., Tulchinsky, D. 1980. Unoccupied and occupied estrogen receptor myometrial cytosol and nuclei from non-pregnant and pregnant women. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 51, 702-707.

Gorski, J., Toft, D., Shyamala, G., Smith, D., Notides, A. 1968. Hormone receptors: studies on the interaction of estrogen with the uterus. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 24, 45-48.

Hamilton, T. 1968. Control by estrogen of genetic transcription and translation. Science 161, 649-661.

Jenson, E. V., Suzuki, T., Kawashhima, T., Slumpf, W. E., Jungblut, P. W., DeSombre, E. R. 1968. A two step mechanism for the interaction of estradiol with rat uterus. Proc. Natl. Acad. SCI. USA. 59, 632-635.

Lawson, D. E. M., Wilson, P. W. 1974. Intracellular

animeters. Name . . . .

localization and receptor proteins for 1, 25,dihydroxycholecalciferol in chick intestine Biochem J. 144, 573-579.

Lawson, G. M., Tsai, M., Tsai, S. Y., Minghetti, P. P., McClure, M. E., O'Malley, B. W. 1984. Steroid hormone receptors. Nuclei and Chromatin: isolation, characterization and structure. <u>In</u> "Laboratory methods manual for hormone action and molecular endocrinology" (W. T. Schrader, and B. W. O'Malley, eds.), pp.1-49. 1014 ed., chap. 7.

and and a state of the state of the

Millerate a "the star of dear" as "to find and "

Levy, C., Mortel, R., Eychenne, B., Robal, P., Baulieu, E. E. 1980. Unoccupied nuclear ocstradiol receptor sites in normal human endometrium. Biochem. J. 185, 733-737.

Maeda, T., Sato, B., Noma, K., Kishimoto, S., Aono, I.,Matsumoto, K. 1983. Characterization of a unique nuclrar estrogen binding component in an estrogen responsive mouse Leydig cell tumor. Cancer Res. 43, 4091-4094.

Mester, J., Baulieu, E. E. 1972. Nuclear estrogen receptor of chick liver. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 261, 236-238.

Ozon, R., Belle, R. 1973. Recepteurs de l'oestradiol-17 dans la foie de poule et l'amphibien <u>Discoglossus pictus</u>. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 297, 155-157. Kream, B. E., Reynolds, R. D., Knutson, J. C., Eisman, J. A., DeLuca, H.F. 1976. Intestinal cytosol binders of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin Ds and 25-hydroxyvitamin Ds. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 176, 779-782.

Panko, W. B., MacLeod, R. M., 1978. Uncharged nuclear receptors for estrogen in breast cancers. Concer Res. 38, 1948-1953.

Puvion, K. and Bernhard, W. 1975. Ribonuclear protein components in liver cell nuclei as visualized by cryoultramicrolomy. J. Cell Biol. 67, 200-214.

Schimke, R. T., McKnight, G.S., Shapiro, D. J., Sullivan, D., Palacios, R. 1975. Hormonal regulation of ovaalbumin synthesis in the chick oviduct. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 31, 175-178.

Sheridan, P. J. 1975. Is there an alternative to cytoplasmic receptor model for the mechanism of action of steroids? Life Sci. 17, 497-499.

Sheridan, P. J. 1983. Androgen receptors in the brain: What are we measuring? Endocrinol. Rev. 4, 171-175.

Sheridan, P. J., Buchanan, J. M., Anselmo, V. C., Martin, P. M. 1979. Equilibrium: the intracellular distribution of steroid receptors. Nature. 282, 579-584.

Simard, R. 1970. The nucleus: action of chemical and physical agents. Intl. Rev. Cytol. 28, 169-211.

Sonnenschein, C., Soto, A. M., Colofiore, J., Farookhi, R. 1977. Estrogen target cells; establishment of a cell line derived from rat pituitory tumor Mt/F4.Exp. Cell Res. 101, 15-19.

Spelsberg, T. C., Steggles, A. W., Chylil, F. and O'Malley, B. W. 1972. Progesterone-binding components of chick oviduet.5. Exchange of progesterone-binding capacity from target to non-target tissue chromatins. J. Biol. Chem. 247, 1368-1374.

Spelsberg, T. C., Steggles, A. W. and O'Malley, B. W. 1971. Progesterone binding components of chick oviduct. 3. Chromatin accepter sites. J. Biol. Chem. 246, 4188-4197.

Steggles, A. W., Spelsberg, T. C., Glasser, S. R. and O'Malley, B. W. 1971. Soluble complexes between steroid hormones and target-tissue receptors bind specifically to target-tissue chromatin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 68, Swaneek, G. E., Chu, L.L.H. and Edelman, J. S. 1970. Sterospecific binding of aldosterone to renal chromatin. J. Biol. Chem. 245, 5382-5389.

Walters, M. R. 1985. Steroid hormone receptors and the nucleus. Endocrine Reviews. 6, 512-543.

Walters, M. R., Hunziker, W., Norman, A.W. 1980. Unoccupied 1,25-dihydroxyvilamin Dg receptors: nuclear/cytosol ratio depends on ionic strength. J. Biol. Chem. 255, 6799-6804.

Walters, M. R., Hundziker, W., Norman, A. W. 1981 a. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin Da Receptors: intermediate between friodothyronine and steroid hormone receptors. Trends Diochem. Sci. 6, 268-272.

Walters, M. R., Hundziker, W., Norman, A. W. 1981 b. A mathematical model describing the subcellular localization of nin membrane hound steroid, seco-steroid, and thyroning receptors. J. Steroid Biochem. 15, 491-494.

Williams, D., Gorski, J. 1972. Kinetic and equilibrium analysis of estradiol in uterus: a model of binding site distribution in uterine cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 69, 3464-3468.

Yund, M. A., King, D. S., Fristrom, J. W. 1978. Eedysteroid receptors in imaginal discs of <u>Drosphila mclanogaster</u>. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 75, 6039-6043.

Zava, D. T., McGuire, W. L. 1977. Estrogen receptor: unoccupied sites in nuclei of a breast tumor cell line. J. Biol. Chem. 252, 3703-3706.

Zava, D. T., Charmness. G. C., Horwitz, K. B., McGuire, W. L. 1977. Human breast cancer: biologically active estrogen receptor in the absence of estrogen. Science. 196, 663-669.

#### Chapter 3

#### Introduction.

# Plasma membrane bound 17<sup>24</sup>.20<sup>29</sup>-DHP receptors in brook trout

The primary action of steroids is on gene transcription (Yamamoto, 1985). The range of steroid actions is immense; to quote a few, steroid hormones affect various physiological systems and processes e.g. intermediary metabolism, immune system, ionic transport in intestinal and renal epithelia, hypothalamic and pituitary hormone synthesis and secretion, and also certain aspects of behavior. Thus it is difficult to perceive a common cellular mechanism of gene transcription for all the above steroid actions, and it is becoming increasingly clear that steroid hormones can act non-genomically either through specific receptors in the cytoplasm or in the plasma membrane (Szego and Pietras, 1981; Baulieu, 1983 ). In the last decade experimental data has been obtained by various researchers (Pictras and Szego, 1977, 1979 a and b. 1980; Blondeau and Baulicu, 1985; Savart and Cabillic, 1986; Smith and Ecker. 1971; Suyemitsu and Terayama, 1975; Rao, <u>ci</u> al. 1976,1977; Fant, ct al . 1979; Alllera, et \_al . 1980; Strel'chyonoc, ct al. 1984; Savart and Cabillic, 1986; Miguel, et al. 1987; Sadler and Maller, 1982; Sadler, et al. 1985;

Ozegovic, <u>et al</u>. 1977; Koch, <u>et al</u>. 1978) which indicate the presence of plasma membrane receptors for various steroid hormones, and their action via non-genomic mechanisms.

In <u>Xenopux laevix</u> oocytes progesterone binds to an oocyte membrane receptor protein (Sadler, <u>ci al</u>. 1985; Blondeau and Baulieu, 1984; Sadler and Maller, 1982; Ishikawa <u>ci al</u>.

1977). The possibility that a membrane receptor for the salmonoid progestin, 17%,20β-DHP may also exist was investigated. Nagahama and Kishimoto (1987), have demonstrated that micro injection of 174,20B-DHP into full grown immature gold fish oocytes was ineffective in inducing GVBD, while external application was effective. These results suggests that the action of 17%, 20\$-DHP may be via membrane-bound receptors. Supportive evidence for a membrane-bound receptor was demonstrated by findings that physiological response (GVBD) to 17#,20\$-DHP was blocked by cAMP (DeManno and Goetz, 1987, 1986; Jalabert and Finct, 1986). Further evidence for membrane bound receptor is provided from studies using translational and transcriptional inhibitors of protein synthesis; it has been demonstrated that transcription of RNA is not a requirement for steroid induced final maturation, although translation is (Goetz, 1983), substantiating that this action of 174,20P-DHP is different from the mechanism of classical steroids



action in somatic cells where transcription of RNA from DNA is the preliminary mode of steroid action.

The presence of a protein with receptor activity for 17#, 20 . DHP was demonstrated from fresh ovarian follicles of brook trout cylosolic preparation (Maneckjee, ct al. 1987, 1988, and chapter 1). The levels of receptor activity decreased from stage 1 to 5 and the receptor activity was not detected in stage 6-7 cytosolic preparation. In Atlantic salmon Salmo salar Quananiche cytosolic preparation from fresh stage 6-7 oocytes demonstrated no receptor binding activity with either tritiated progesterone or 1704,20 \$-DHP as the ligand. Although the cytosolic preparation from previously frozen stage 6-7 oocytes demonstrated small amounts of binding activity with labelled 17%,20B-DHP and progesterone. Similar results were also obtained from brook trout cytosolic preparations. Since no nuclear receptor binding activity was obtained from either fresh or frozen ovarian follical preparations (chapter 2), the above results indicate that partial solubilization of plasma membrane bound receptors occurred in stage 6-7 occytes during freezing/thawing cycle due to breakdown of membrane structure by ice crystals.

Since photoaffinity (PA) labelling using labelled synthetic progestin 17,21-dimethyl-19-nor-pregn-4, 9-diene-3-20-dione (R5020) has been utilized for the isolation and

characterization of the membrane-bound oncyte progesterone receptors in <u>Xenopus</u> <u>lacvis</u>, this method was applied to demonstrate the presence of MIS 174,20 $\beta$ -DHP receptors in the isolated zona radiata membrane preparations from stage 6-7 occytes. The plasma membrane of the occyte is intercalated with the zona radiata membrane of the occyte.

Affinity labelling of the binding sites for small ligand molecules with protein molecules has in numerous instances been helpful to identify the functional group components of such sites or to identify which protein in a complex mixture of proteins contains the site of interest. Usually it is not possible to use natural ligand as its own affinity reagent since it may not contain a suitable chemically reactive group. The structures of progesterone, MIS 17#,20\$-DHP and synthetic progestin R5020 are shown in Fig. 3.1. Both progesterone and R5020 are competetive inhibitors of MIS 176-,20 p-DHP in binding with brook trout cytosolic receptor activity (chapter 1, Table 1.2). It is probable that progesterone and R5020 bind at the same site on the receptor as the natural steroid 172,20\$-DHP. R5020 contains a keto group in conjunction with a conjugated double bond, and is more readily excited by light of 280-320 nm to electronically excited states in chemically reactive species. The photoaffinity (PA) labelling of receptors by R5020 is a three stage process.

protein + ligand <-----> protein.ligand
 protein.ligand <---> protein.ligand\*
 protein.ligand\* ----> chemically modified protein

1) non-covalent binding of the ligand to the appropriate site on the receptor molecule; 2) absorbtion of light by the bound ligand resulting in its electronic excitation; 3) reaction of the excited ligand with a functional group(s) in its binding site (Martyr and Benisek, 1973).

#### Materials and methods

#### Isolation of zona radiata membrane fraction.

The stage (6-7) ovulated oocytes which were loose in the abdominal cavity were centrifuged at 35,000 rpm (151,000 x g) for 90 min at 1 deg. C in a Beckman Model L5-50 ultracentrifuge using a SW 41-Ti rotor and "ultra-clear" tubes (Beckman 344059). The concept used involves rupture of the oocytes by centrifugal force and separation of cell organelles by differential and isopycnic centrifugation. where yolk proteins act as the medium of separation. The bottom of the tubes contain the zona radiata membrane fraction which was separated by removing the upper fractions and then cutting the tube just below the surface of the membrane fraction to avoid contamination by the upper layer during removal. The membranes were gently resuspended in TETS bufffer using a glass rod and then vortexed and left in ice water to settle out; the upper aqueous layer was aspirated out, and the treatment repeated four times. At this point there was no bound [3H]R5020 receptor complex after photoaffinity labelling of the supernatant. After the final wash the membranes were centrifuged at 10,000 rpm (15,000 x g) for 10 min at 5 deg C.

#### Photoaffinity labelling using labelled R5020.

Cytosolic preparation, zona radiata membranes suspended in

TETS buffer, and Brij 35 (0.1%) solubilized extract of the zona radiata membranes in TETS buffer were all photoaffinity labellled using [94]R5020. The [94]R5020 solution was added to the glass scintillation vials or 12 x 75 mm disposable tubes and evaporated using a vacuum oven (Napco model 5381, Fisher Scientific). Samples were added and then vortexed and photoaffinity labelled on ice using two Westinghouse lamps (FS20; lamda max. 320 nm) positioned 5 cm above the sample, control samples contained [94]R5020 but were keept in the dark under similar conditions.

## <u>Photoaffinity labelling of brook front oncyte cell sup</u> (protoplasm).

The fresh ovarian follicles (stage 2) were quickly separated from connective tissue and placed in TBSS AT 1 deg C. The separated follicles (3 g) were placed on a 50 micron nylon screen and gently dabbed with tissue to remove TBSS adhering to the screen and the follicles. The follicles were then individually cut with a scalpel blade on the screen and the protoplasm of the oocyte gently squeezed out and collected. The follicular cells attached to the zona radiata remained intact and stayed on the nylon screen. The protoplasm (0.12 g) was mixed with TETS buffer containing Brij 35 0.1% (10 ml) at 1 deg C and then centrifuged (151,000 x g) for 60 min at 4 deg C. The resulting supernatant (5 ml) was then photonfrinity labelled (4.13 mM, [34]R5020) using standard method as described above. The photoaffinity labelled sample was then applied on to a Sephacryl S-300 column, and eluted using TETS buffer containing Brij. Aliquots (250 /ul) of alternate fractions were added to scintillation fluid (10 ml) and then counted for radioactivity. The control 151,000 x g supernatant was also treated with [34]R5020 but not photoaffinity labelled, and fractionated on the Sephacryl S-300.

## Saturation and Scatchard plots of zona radiata membrane receptor activity using labelled 17¢,20**β**-DNP.

For the determination of ligand binding, 250 Ål of solubilized zona radiata receptor preparation were pipetted into 12 x 75 mm glass tubes (Canlab T-1290-3) containing 0.15 - 5 nM [31]R5020. All samples were incubated in duplicate. Incubation was started in batches of 8 tubes every 20 min. After J20 min the incubation was terminated by addition of 250 Ål of charcoal-dextran suspension (0.5% charcoal, 0.05% dextran in appropriate TETS buffer used for extraction of zona radiata preparation). The charcoal-dextran treatment for the separation of free from bound was carried out for 5 min and 15 sec, after which the batch of 8 tubes was immediately centrifuged at 3000 rpm (1650 xg) for 10 min. The supernatant 250 Ål was counted for radioactivity in 10 ml of scintillation fluid.

#### Inibition of photoaffinity labelling of cytosolic

preparation by excess inert R5020 and 174.20P-DHP. Cytosolic preparation (250,41) was pipetted into 12 x 75 mm glass tubes (CanLab T-1290-3) containing vacuum evaporated [34]R5020 to yield 0.19 nM steroid. The concentration of inert 174.20P-DHP and R5020 used was 3 pM. The initial reaction rates of covalent binding to receptor protein were measured at 1.3.5 and 10 min, the reaction was terminated by the addition of 250 ul of charcoal-dextran, and the separation time for free and bound steroid was 30 min. The conditions of photoaffinity labelling and centrifugation step for the separation of charcoal-dextran from bound steroid were the same as in above section.

#### Saturation of photoaffinity labelling with time.

Cytosol preparation (250 µl) was pipetted into 12 x75 mm glass tubes containing vacuum evaporated [34][x5020 at a concentration of 3.705 mM. The samples were photoaffinity labelled for various times and reaction terminated by addition of charcoal-dextran. The conditions of photoaffinity labelling and separation of free steroid that covalently bound to receptor were as described above.

# Saturation of photoaffinity labelling of cytosol, with regards to concentration of labellled R5020.

Cytosolic preparation (250 µl) was pipetted into 12 x 75 mm

glass tube containing vacuum evaporated [311]R5020 to yield 0.1 to 12.5 mM steroid. Time for photoaffinity labelling was 2 min, the reaction was terminated by addition of charcosl-dextran. The conditions of photoaffinity labelling and separation of free from covalently bound to the receptor were as described above.

Effect of inert 174.20 DHP concentration on initial rate of photoaffinity labelling to extosolic preparation Cytosolic preparation (250 µl) was pipetted into 12 x 75 mm glass tubes containing vacuum evaporated [3H]R5020 (0.19 nM) and inert 174.20 DHP at various concentrations. Time of photoaffinity labelling was 30 sec. The reaction was terminated by addition of charcoal-dextran. The conditions of photoaffinity sabelling and separation of free steroid from covalently bound to the receptor were as described above.

### Demonstration of membrane hound receptors from zona radiata using four different methods.

1) The membrane fraction was prepared as described, and photoaffinity labelled in TETS buffer (5 ml) for 60 min with [3H]R5020 (5mM). The control membranes were not photoaffinity labelled but treated similarly with [3H]R5020. After photoaffinity labelling the membranes were centrifuged at 10,000 rpm (15,000 x g) for 10 min, the supernatant was decanted and membranes re-suspended in 10 ml of TETS buffer by gentle mixing. The washing procedure was repeated three times to remove the free steroid. The membranes were then removed from the centrifuge tube and dabbed with tissue-paper to remove adhering aqueous medium, and membrane samples in triplicate were weighed and then solubilised in 'Protosol' (2 ml), plus distilled water (1ml) by heating the membranes in capped scintillation vials at 70 deg for 8 h. After cooling, 20 ml of scintillation fluid was added and vials counted after being ca. 24 h in the dark till constant counts were obtained.

2) After photoaffinity labelling the brock trout zona radiata membranes were homogenized in TETS + 0.1% Brij 35 (5ml) buffer using a Polytron PCU-2-110 homogenizer for 3 x 5 see at 60 see intervals at 0 deg C. The homogenize was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm (15,000 x g) for 10 min. The supernatant was then applied on to a Sephacryl S-300 column and eluted using TETS buffer containing 0.1% Brij 35. Radioactivity in alternate fractions was measured by scintillation counting. The peak radioactive tubes were frozen and stored at -70 deg C. The control membranes were were not photoaffinity labelled but treated with [3H]R5020 under similar conditions and eluted through the Sephacryl S-300 column and fractions counted.
3) The membranes were isolated, photoaffinity labelled and washed as described previously, the control membranes were

not photoaffinity labelled but treated similarly with [3H]R5020. The photoaffinity labelled and control membranes were then step wise dehydrated in 30%: 50%: 70%: 90% and 100% ethyl alcohol (EtOH) (5 min at each step: twice in 100% EtOH). The membrane samples were than placed in xylene for 5 min, and the xylene removed by placing the membranes twice in melted way (Paraplast plus: MonoJect Scientific, Division of Sherwood Medical, St. Louis, MO USA). The membranes were then embedded in wax using Fisher Histo-Center (Fisher Scientific company, Don Mills, ONT). The blocks were trimmed and sections cut (15 microns thick) using a microtome ("820" Spencer Microtone, American optical corporation, U.S.A.). The sections were placed onto relatin coated slides with distilled water and slowly dried on a slide warmer (Fisher Scientific). The wax was removed by dipping the slides in xylene and then dipped in EtOH to remove the xylene. The membranes were rehydrated in the reverse order in EtOH-aqueous solutions. The slides were dipped int, photographic emulsion (Kodak Nuclear Tract Emulsion, type NTB2, Catalog # 165 4433, Kodak Company, Rochester, New York), in a dark room and left at -70 deg in the dark for three weeks. The emulsion coated slides were developed and fixed using standard methods. The autoradiographic sections of the membranes were photographed using a camera attached to the microscope.

4) Zona radiata membranes after washing, were solubilized in

TETS buffer containing 0.1% Brij 35 by homogenization in a Polytron PCU-2-110 instrument for 3 x 5 sec at 60 sec intervals at 0 deg C. The homogenate was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm (ca. 15,000 x g) for 10 min and supernatant (5 ml) photoaffinity labelled with [<sup>3</sup>R]R5020 as described previously for 60 min. The photoaffinity sample was then fractionated on a Sephaeryl S-300 column. Alternate fractions were counted for radioacctivity by scintillation counting. The main [<sup>3</sup>R]R5020 protein binding tubes were then frozen at -70 deg C. Control sample was not photoaffinity labelled, but treated similarly as the photoaffinity labelled sample in every aspect.

## Ion exchange chromatography of evisoolic preparation after photoaffinity labelling with labelled R5020. a) Using hydroxyapatite column chromatography: cytosolic preparation (1 ml) was added to a scintillation vial containing vacuum dried [34]R5020 (5nM) and photoaffinity labelled for 30 min under conditions described previously. The photolysed sample was then applied to an hydroxyapatite column (Biogel HTP) total volume 2.5 mJ equilibrated with TETS buffer pH 7.4. The column was washed with 2.5 ml of TETS buffer initially to remove free [3H]R5020. The [3H]R5020-receptor complex was then eluted from the column using a stepwise gradient (5 ml) of KH2PO4/K2HPO4 buffers (0.05- 0.5M) pH

7.4.

b) DEAE Sephacel (Pharmacia Fine Chemicals, Lot No. 3020 wet particle size 40-150 microns) was mixed with TETS buffer pH 7.4. After removal of the suspended 'fines' the DEAE Sephacel matrix was packed into a Pharmacia C10/10 column. The column was coupled with an AC10 adaptor to a Gilson Minipuls 2 pump and a Gilson micro fractionator, Total bed volume of the column matrix was 7.8 ml. The column was washed with 50 ml TETS buffer. Cytosolic preparation (1 ml) from stage 1 brook trout occytes was added to a scintillation vial containing vacuum dried [3H]R5020 (5 nM) and mhotoaffinity labelled for 60 min under conditions described previously. The photolyzed sample was then applied on the DEAE Sephacel column. The column was washed with 50 ml of TETS buffer to remove free [3H]R5020. The labelled receptor complex was then eluted from the column using linear 50 ml KCl gradient (0.0-0.5M KCl) in TETS buffer pH 7.4 using a Bio-Rad model 385 gradient former (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Thirty-six 50 drops fractions were collected (1.39 ml/ fraction), and radioactivity measured using scintillation counting.

#### Results

#### Isolation of zona radiata.

Ultracentrifugation of whole intact stage (6-7) oocytes leads to separation of various fractions as shown in Fig. 3.2. After suspension of the membrane fraction in TETS buffer the zona radiata membranes take up a spherical shape from fresh oocytes (Fig. 3.3). A cross-sectional view of the zona radiata membrane shows the absence of follicular cells (Fig. 3.4).

## Photoaffinity labelling of cytosolic preparation using labelled R5020.

Photonffinity labelling leads to covalent binding of [3H]R5020 to the receptor protein. This binding was saturable with respect to time (Fig. 3.5). [3H]R5020 photonffinity labelling to the cytosolic receptor preparation is saturable below 5 nM [3H]R5020, but above this concentration cooperativity in binding is observed (Fig. 3.6). This increased binding above 5nM [9H]R5020 is also associated with a decrease in molecular weight of the receptor complex (see gel filtration chromatography below). [3H]R5020 photonffinity labelling to the cytosol receptor was inhibited by inert 17%-,20∯-DHP or inert R5020 during initial reaction rates (Figs.

#### Fig. 3.2. Various fractions obtained after

ultracentrifugation of whole brook trout oocytes. The concept involves breakage of oocytes by centrifugal force, and separation of organelles by differential and isopycnic centrifugation, where the york protein act as the medium of separation. M, zona radiata; Y, yolk proteins; N, nuclei; A, aqueous layer; O, oil layer.



Fig. 3.3. Zona radiata membranes obtained from brook trout stage 6-7 cocytes, washed and then suspended in TETS buffer.

175 0.



Fig. 3.4. Cross-sectional (CS) view of the zona radiata membrane from stage 6-7 oocytes. Note the absence of granulosa and thecal cells on the outer edge of the membrane.

ŝ

ş



Fig. 3.5. Photoaffinity labelling of the cytosolic receptor protein using [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 as a function of time.


1770.

Fig. 3.6. Photoaffinity labelling (2 min) of cytosolic receptor protein with [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 was saturable below <u>ca.</u> (5nM), as indicated by the extended solid line. Above (5nM), cooperativity in binding was observed as shown by dotted line joining the experimental points.



178 Q.

Fig. 3.7. Inhibition of photoaffinity labelling of cytosolic receptors using inert 176,20 μ-DHP (3μM) during initial reaction rates. The concentration of [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 used was 1.85 mM. At higher concentrations of [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 the inhibition was less pronounced due to the fast initial rate of photoaffinity reaction.



11 1 MIL discontinues

Fig. 3.8. Inhibition of photoaffinity labelling of cytosolic receptors using inert R5020 (3 µM). The concentration of [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 used was 1.85 nM. At higher concentrations of [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 the inhibition was less pronounced due to the very fast initial rate of the photoaffinity reaction.



3.7 and 3.8). Effect of increasing 174,  $20\beta$ -DHP concentration on the initial reaction rates of [3H]R5020 photosffinity binding to cytosol is shown in Fig. 3.9.

## <u>Demonstration of photoaffinity labelled receptors in zona</u> <u>radiata membranes</u>. In brook trout stage 6-7 zona radiata isolated membranes the photoaffinity binding per gram of

membranes was 139,000 ± 15,000 dpm (n=3), which is equivalent to 0.727 nmol of [34]RS020 hinding sites per gram of membranes. In rainbow trout stage 4-5 membranes the photo affinity hinding per gram of membranes was 122,000 dpm, which is equival int 0.633 nmol of [34]RS020 binding sites per graw of membranes.

The molecular weight (MW) of the [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020-receptor complex was 355,000 (Fig. 3.10), the second peak was due to the free [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 and was eluted at (Ve) slightly greater than the total volume of the column. In the control run, the receptor preparation was not photoaffinity labelled but was treated similarly with [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 but kept in the dark. Similar results were obtained when the zona radiata membranes were first solubilized and then photoaffinity labelled with [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020, and eluted from a Sephacryl S-300 column.

The plasma membrane of the occyte is intercalated within the zona radiata membranes. The [3H]R5020 photoaffinity labelled zona radiata membranes after autoradiography showed Fig. 3.9. Effect of increasing 174,20<sup>4</sup>-DHP concentration on the initial rate of photoaffinity labelling with [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020. Time of photoaffinity labelling was 30 sec.



Fig. 3.10. Sephacryl S-300 elution pattern of the solubilized zona radiata membranes after photoaffinity labelling with [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020. The membranes were isolated from brook trout stage (6-7) occytes, then solubilized in TETS buffer containing 0.1% Brij 35, and a sample (5 ml) was photoaffinity labelled [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 (5 mM) for 50 min and eluted from the column ( **O** ). Control preparation contained [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 and was treated similarly, but was not photoaffinity labelled ( **D** ).



1830.

Fig. 3.11.a. Zona radiata photoaffinity labelled membrane section after autoradiography. Clusters of black spots indicate presence of [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 covalently bound to the receptor protein in the cross-sectional view of the membrane section.

1840.



Fig. 3.11.b. Control membrane section was treated similarly with [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 but not exposed to 320 nm radiation, and autoradiographed as discussed in the text.



clusters of black spots within the cross-sectional view (Fig. 3.11a), indicating the presence of [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020-receptor complex. In the non-photonffinity !abelled membranes these spots were not present (Fig. 3.11b).

# Steroid binding studies using labelled 17#.20**B**-DNP with solubilized zona radiata membranes.

The zona radiata membrane extracted receptor protein from brook trout stage 6-7 occytes demonstrated cooperativity of binding to  $[^{3}H]17\%, 20]{^{3}-DHP}$  in the presence of excess inert 17\%, 20]{^{3}-DHP} (3  $\mu$ M), higher binding to  $[^{3}H]17\%, 20]{^{3}-}$ -DHP was observed in the presence of inert 17\%, 20]{^{3}-DHP} than when the inert was absent at all concentrations of labelled steroid. When binding of  $[^{3}H]17\%, 20]{^{3}-DHP}$  to the membrane receptors was obtained in the absence of inert steroid, the binding showed saturation, and Scatchard plots were highly linear (p <.05). Values obtained for association constant (K<sub>n</sub>) and maximum binding capacity (N<sub>max</sub>) for the zona radiata solubilized receptors in TETS buffer, TETS + 0.15M NaCl and TETS + 0.1% Brig 35 are reported in Table 3.1.

<u>Gel filtration chromatography using Sephacryl S-300.</u> Cytosolic preparation from stage 1 brook trout overian follicles photoaffinity labelled with [ªH]R5020 (5nM)

Sample +	Ка (H <sup>-1</sup> )	N(max) nM	Protein mg/ml	N <sub>max</sub> f moles/ mg protein
mbranes lubilized in TS buffer S1	4.75 × 10 <sup>7</sup>	0.88	12.0	7.67
nbranes lubilized in TS buffer S2	4.79 x 10 <sup>7</sup>	1.25	13.3	7.66
mbranes lubilized in TS buffer + .15M NaCl	8.17 × 10 <sup>7</sup>	1.12	17.4	64.3
mbranes lubilized in TS buffer + .1% Brig 35	1.99 × 10 <sup>7</sup>	9.87	23.1	427.2

TABLE 3.1 Binding parameters of brook trout occytes (stage 6-7) membranes

6) at 60 sec intervals in ice water. Homogenates were left for 30 min buffers using Polyron PCU-2-110 instrument for 3 x 5 sec (on position The supernatants were used for binding studies using  $[^{3}H]_{17\alpha,20\beta-DHP}$ zona radiata membranes were isolated, then homogenized in the above at 1.C and then centrifuged at 35,000 rpm (151,000 x g) for 60 min. Ka - association constant .

M<sub>max</sub> - maximum binding capacity S1 - sample 1; S2 - sample 2 Fig. 3.12. Sephacryl S-300 elution pattern of the cytosol preparation from frozen stage 1 oocytes of brook trout after photoaffinity labelling with  $[^{3}H]$ R5020 (5mM) (  $^{\circ}$  ), and with  $[^{3}H]$ R5020 + inert R5020 (3mm) (  $^{\circ}$  ).



188 0

gave MW at 501,000, and in the presence of inert R5020 (2 uN) the MW decreased to 347,000. This change in MW is also associated with increased binding (Fig. 3.12). Also compare Fig. 3.6 where receptor binding to [3H]R5020 above 5mM leads to cooperativity in photoaffinity labelling. This cooperativity in binding was also observed using [3H]R5020 and inert progesterone (3mM) instead of inert R5020. Zona radiata membrane solubilized from previously frozen stage 6-7 oocytes after photoaffinity labelling with [3H]R5020 (5mM) gave MW of 355,000, a value very close to the cytosolic receptor preparation after transformation (Fig. 3.10).

#### SDS-PAGE analysis

a) Sub-unit MW of [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 photoaffinity labelled protein from cytosolic preparation of stage 1 brook trout ovarian follicles. Four bands were detected at MW 83,000, 67,000, 24,000 and 23,000 from the 501,000 MW peak tube fraction of Sephacryl S-300 (Fig. 3.13). b) Sub-unit MW of the [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 photoaffinity labelled protein from zona radiata membranes. Similar bands to cytosolic photoaffinity labelled protein were obtained with MW 355,000 peak fraction of zona radiata solubilized receptor complex (Fig 3.13), indicating that sub-unit structure of cytosolic and membrane receptors are same. c) Sub-unit MW of [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 photoaffinity labelled protein from previously frozen plasma Fig. 3.13. SDS-PAGE analysis of [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 photoaffinity labelled receptors from cytosol and zona radiata membranes. The cytosolic preparation was photoaffinity labelled for 50 min with [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 (5 nM) and then fractionated on Sephacryl S-300 column, the peak radiacative tube containing the [<sup>3</sup>H]-receptor complex (MN 501,000) was analyzed on SDS PAGE. Membrane receptor (MEN); low MN standards from pharmacia (LMM); cytosolic receptors (CTT).



Fig. 3.14. SDS-PAGE analysis of [\*]][R5020 photoaffinity labelled protein from previously frozen plasma of brook irout. Blood plasma (1:5) diluted in TETS buffer was photoaffinity labelled for 50 min with [\*]][R5020 (5nM) and then fractionated on a Sephacryl S-300 column, the peak radioactive tube containing [\*]][R5020-receptor complex (WW 589.000) was analyzed on SDS-PAGE.

[311]R5020-receptor complex was also run in parallel. Plasma binding protein (PL); low molecular weight standards from pharmacia (LMW); membrane receptors (MEM).



of brook trout. The peak tube fraction NM 589,000 from Sephacryl S-300 when analyzed on SDS-PAGE in parallel with the membrane extracted photoaffinity labelled sample showed no correspondence in NN between plasma protein bands and membrane receptors bands, indicating that they are different (Fig. 3.14).

### Ion exchange column chromatography of photoaffinity labelled cytosolic receptor preparation

a) Hydroxyspatite column chromatography. The [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 receptor complex was eluted from the hydroxyspatite column using step wise gradient (0.05-0.5M) and gravity flow. Step-wise gradient was used because the flow rate diminished when a peristatic pump was used in conjunction with a linear gradient. [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020-receptor activity was obtained in 0.2M and 0.3M phosphate buffer fractions, with maximal binding in 0.3M. SDS-PAGE analysis of the 0.2M and 0.3M fractions after concentrating by freeze drying gave a bana at 84,000 MW, demonstrating that [<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 is photoaffinity labelled mainly on the 84,000 MW subunit of the receptor protein.

b) DEAE Sephacel column chromatography.

[3H]R5020-receptor activity was present in the 0.19M KCl fraction (Fig. 3.15). SDS-PAGE analysis of the peak fraction (12) after concentrating by freeze drying gave a band at MW 84,000, although when the total protein from all Fig. 3.15. [3H]R5020-receptor complex elution profile from DEAE Sephacryl column. Linear gradient KCl (0.05 - 0.5 M) in TETS buffer was used for the elution of the column. The peak activity of the complex was eluted in the 0.19M KCl containing fraction.

193a.



the radiolabelled tubes in Fig. 3.15 were combined and concentrated and then ana, ysed by SDS-PAGE, all the four bands plus other contaminating bands were observed.

## Photoaffinity labelling of oocyte cell sap (protoplasm) for isolation of receptor activity.

Sephacryl S-300 elution pattern of the photoaffinity labelled oocyte protoplasm and control sample in TETS containing 0.1% Brij buffer gave a major peak of receptor activity at MW 324,000, minor peaks of activity were also obtained at MW 110,000. 26,000 and 12,000 (Fig. 3.16). The peak tube at MW 324,000 on SDS PACE gave similar subunits as the purified cytosolic and membrane extracted photoaffinity labelled proteins. Fig. 3.16. Sephacryl S-300 elution pattern of the diluted protoplasm from brook trout stage 2 ovarian follicles after photoaffinity labelling with [3H]R5020. Protoplasm (0.12g) was diluted to 10 ml with TETS containing 0.1% Brig, and then centrifuged. Supernatant (5 ml) was then photoaffinity labelled and eluted through the column ( $A \rightarrow \Phi$ ). Control (5 ml) was also treated with labelled R5020 but not photoaffinity labelled ( $\phi \phi \phi$ ).



195a.

and a set of a strain of a set of the state of a set of a set of a set of a set of the set of the set of the set

ŝ

### Discussion .

Goetz, <u>et al</u>. (1987), have demonstrated that plasma levels of MIS 174.20 $\beta$ -DHP in brook trout <u>Salvelinus</u> <u>fontinalis</u> are very low prior to GVBD (0.70 ng/ml), and increase dramatically at GVBD (148 ng/ml). The cytosolic receptor activity in brook trout ovarian follicles fell from stage 1 to 5 and no activity was present in cytoplasm during stages 6-7 (chapter 1; Maneckjee, <u>at al</u>. 1987,1989). Also the presence of nuclear receptor activity was not demonstrated either in stage 1 or stage 6-7 ovarian follicles (chapter 2). The goal of this study (chapter 3) was to demonstrate the presence and location of MIS 174.20 $\beta$ -DHP receptor activity in brook trout oocytes during final stages of maturalion (stages 6-7), when the plasma levels of MIS are the highest.

The method as described in the lext for the isolation of zona radiata membranes by ultracentrifugation of whole occyles has not been described in the literature. The plasma membrane of the occyte is intercalated with the zona radiata. That the  $17 \ll 20 \beta$ -DHP receptor activity is membrane-bound or associated with protein was demonstrated by solubilizing the zona radiata membrane fraction. Initially 0.1% Triton X-100 in TETS buffer was used for

solubilizing the receptors without success because of <sup>19</sup> micelle formation. A literature search revealed that a 0.1% solution of Brij. 35 was used for solubilizing amphibian progesterone receptors (Sadler, <u>ci al</u>. 1985). When TETS buffer containing 0.1% Brij 35 was used for solubilizing the zona radiata membrane bound receptors, an increase in maximum binding capacity was obtained from Scatchard analysis using labelled 174,20**f**-DHP; an increase in total soluble protein was also observed (Table 3.1).

The affinity constant (Kg) for the zona radiata membrane bound receptors after solubilization in TETS buffer containing 0.1% Brij. 35 was 1.99 x 107 M-1, this value is 10 fold lower than observed for cytosolic receptors. Also membranc receptors showed cooperativity in binding to [3H]174,20B-DHP; cooperativity was not observed with cytosol receptors in binding studies with [3H]17K,208-DHP during Scatchard analysis. Due to its lower Ka value the membrane receptors could not be isolated from a Sephacryl S-300 column chromatography using labelled steroid, as the binding ligand because of complete dissociation of receptor ligand complex during column elution. [3H]R5020 a synthetic progestin with conjugated double bonds binds progesterone receptors covalently when photoaffinity labelled at 320 nm. [3H]R5020 photoaffinity labelling was ideally suited to

197

labelling the zona radiata receptors for isolation and characterization. Initial experiments were carried out on cytosol preparations to show that photoaffinity labelling using [3]]R5020 was saturable with time and concentration of [3]]R5020. The initial rate of photoaffinity labelling was partially inhibited by inert  $17\not_{\star}$ - $.20\not_{T}$ -DHP and R5020 (3 $\mu$ M).

[3H]R5020 photoaffinity labelled cytosolic protein after fractionation on the Sephaeryl S-300 column gave peak binding activity at MW 501,000. The subunits of this photoaffinity labelled cytosol protein on SDS-PAGE under reducing and non-reducing conditions were similar (agrees with subunits) to the cytosol [311]174,208-DHP-receptor complex from peak activity tube after Sephacryl S-300 elution (MW 250,000). These results demonstrated that 311 R5020 binding in cytosol has the same subunit composition as |3H|17d.20β-DHP receptors, although the MW of [311]R5020 binding moiety is twice as large. The cytosol phe paffinity labelled receptor complex obtained after chromatography on hydroxyapatite or DEAE Sephacel. gave on SDS-PAGE analysis a single band corresponding to MW 84,000. The low MW bands of the subunit were not present, indicating that only 84,000 MW subunit of the receptor binds to 13H1R5020 at or below 5nM concentration. The zona radiata membrane solubilized protein in TETS

buffer containing 0.1% Brij 35 after photoaffinity labelling

198

and fractionation on Sephacryl S-300 gave a MW of 355,000. SDS-PAGE analysis of this peak fraction gave the same subunit structure as the cytosol [3H]R5020 photoaffinity labelled component. The above evidence suggests that the membrane component may be derived from the cytosol receptors. It is of interest to note that when cytosolic preparation was photoaffinity labelled with [3H]R5020 (5nM) in the presence of inert R5020 (3 AM) for 50 min, higher binding was obtained (cooperative effect above 5nM) than in the absence of inert steroid, and also the MW of the steroid-receptor complex decreased to 347,000. Thus the cytosolic receptor protein dissociates from MW 501,000 to MW 347,000 in order to incorporate more binding sites (Fig's. 3.6. and 3.12.). Also the membrane receptors showed cooperative binding with [3H]17#,20B-DHP during Scatchard analysis; in the presence of inert 17%, 20B-DHP, the membrane receptors gave higher binding. Thus it is possible that 17%, 20<sup>β</sup>-DHP enters the oocytes during early stages of its synthesis from granulosa cells and interacts with the cytosolic receptors which leads to transformation of the cytosolic receptors and its incorporation into plasma membrane where it becomes a functional receptor during the later stages of maturation when MIS 174,208-DHP levels are highest. This hypothesis postulates that transformation / translocation phenomenon involving 17,2,208-DHP regulates the functional receptor levels in the plasma membrane of the

Labelled MIS 176,20 $\beta$ -DHP is readily taken up by the oocytes, the uptake into the oocyte membranes and protoplasm is by passive diffusion and not carrier mediated (chapter 4.). This data rules out the possibility that membrane bound 276– ,20 $\beta$ -DHP receptors are carrier proteins for 176,20 $\beta$ -DHP.

Supportive indirect experimental evidence for membrane bound / associated receptors for MIS 17%,20B-DHP during resumption of maturation in fish oocytes comes from recent work of several researchers, and was briefly mentioned in the introduction part of this chapter. Nagahama and Kishimoto reported that micro injection of 17d, 208-DHP into full grown immature goldfish oocyte was ineffective in inducing GVBD. while external application brought about maturation (Nagahama, 1987). Steroid induced GVBD is blocked by inhibitors of translation but not transcription indicating that the mechanism of action involved in the steroid maturation of oocytes has special characteristics which is different from classical steroid mechanism of action via nuclei (Detlaff and Skobilina, 1969; Goswami and Sundararaj, 1973; Jalabert, 1976; Theojan and Goetz, 1981; DeMenno and Goetz, 1986; 1987).

Inhibitors of phosphodiesterase such as
3-isobuty1-1-methylxanthine (IBMX), thcophylline,

1-ethyl-4-hydrazino-1-pyrazolo [3, 4-6]

pyridine-5-carboxylic acid ethyl ester hydrochloride (SQ 20,006 Squibb) and activators of adenyl cyclase such as forskolin and cholera toxin which increase the intracellular levels of cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate (cAMP) inhibit steroid-stimulated maturation (GVBD) in <u>vitro</u> in several species (Goetz and Hennessey, 1984; Jalubert and Finet, 1986; DoManno and Goetz, 1986;1987. These results indicate that cAMP is involved in the mechanism of action of  $17a_{c} 20\beta - DMP$  induced maturation.

In amphibians, progesterone is considered to be the MIS. Smith and Ecker, (1971); Masui and Markel, (1971), demonstrated that progesterone induced GVBD in <u>Xenopus</u> oocytes only when the steroid was added to the incubation medium. When the progesterone was injected directly into the occyte it had no effect. Ishikawa, <u>ci al</u>. (1977), induced GVBD in <u>Xenopus</u> occytes by incubation of denuded occytes with deoxycorticosterone bound to amino-ethylated agrose beads. These results indicate that the action of the steroid is on the outer occyte surface. Sadler and Maller (1982), identified a single protein (MW 110,000) from the outer vitelline envelope containing the plasma membrane of <u>Xenopus</u> occytes using [20]85020 photoaffinity labelling and SDS-PAGE. The K<sub>a</sub> for the photoaffinity

agreement with the concentration of R5020 required to bring about 50% maturation, R5020 after photoaffinity labelling inhibited adenyl cyclase activity in the membranes, and inhibition was proportional to the level of R5020 bound. Sadler, ct al. (1985), further supported the physiological significance of the R5020 plama membrane receptor (MW 110,000) by inhibition studies using synthetic progestin RU486, and showed that photoaffinity labelling was specific to provesterone receptors on the plasma membrane. Blondeau and Bauliau (1984), reported a 30,000 MW protein binding 1ºH1R5020, after photoaffinity labelling. These authors homogenized defolliculated whole oocytes and established that a 10,000 x g pellet contained the plasma membrane fraction. They also found [3H]R5020 photoaffinity labelled protein in various other fractions. Vitelline envelope fraction and vitelline membrane platelets fractions had binding activity corresponding to MW 98,000, which is lose to MW 102,000 reported by Sadler, et al. 1985. In chapter 1 on cytosolic receptors, binding activity was also shown to be associated with MW 29,0000 to 44,000 protein. It is possible that this protein is either a precursor or a breakdown product of the receptor protein, since it was not observed from the solubilized membrane fraction. Alternatively it is also possible that conditions of photoal linity labelling used by Blondeau and Bauliau disrupts the receptor protein, since they found a decrease

202

in photoaffinity labelling after a very short time of photoaffinity interaction.

Maller 1985, has proposed the following hypothesis for the interaction of progesterone with the Xenopus oocytes: progesterone interacts with the oocyte plasma membrane receptors which leads to a decrease in cAMP mediated entirely or in part by an inhibition of adenyl cyclase. Subsequent events include an increase in intracellular pH and the phosphorylation of ribosomal protein S6; the later playing a role in translation control of maturation. Late events in maturation involve the appearance of the maturation promoting factor (MPF), a cytosolic protein responsible for GVBD. There is also evidence for increased levels of Ca2' ion after MIS action on the oocytes. which indicates involvement of membrane phospholinids in the action of the steroid via phosphatidylinositol (Baulieu, et al . 1978; Morril, et al . 1981; Schorderet-Slakine, et al . 1982).

Initially there was controversy surrounding the mechanism of action of MIS progesterone in amphibians, since various researchers were unable to demonstrate with certainty the decrease in levels of cAMP after incubation with progesterone, although adenyl cyclase was shown to be inhibited. The various factors contributing towards the

measurement of cAMP levels leading to the above results were due to 1) variability in total content of cAMP in the oocyte 2) small magnitude of the decrease in cAMP compared to the total oocyte cAMP, and 3) limitations on the precision of the available assay methods. In rainbow trout, cAMP levels decreased significantly after 17%, 208-DHP treatment within 7 hours of incubation (Jalabert and Finet, 1986). These authors were able to show the decrease in cAMP because of the large number of oocytes used per sample, and large number of analysis per sample, Similar measurments of cAMP levels have also been made on brook trout oocytes, but ; ignificant decreases have not been detected (DeManno and Goetz, 1987). Jalabert and Finet (1986), also demonstrated increased levels of cAMP after administration of phosphodiesterase inhibitor IBMX (10-5M), and IBMX (10-5M) + forskolin (5 x 10-5M), forskolin is an activator of adenyl cyclase. The above authors demonstrated increased levels of cAMP in late stage occytes, and occyte sensitivity to 17d,208-DHP positively correlated with cAMP concentration. They also showed direct inhibition of maturation by cAMP.

Allera, A., Rao, G. S. and Breuer, H. 1980. Specific interaction of corticosteroids with the component of the cell membrane which are involved in the translocation of hormone into the intravesicular space of purified rat liver plasma membrane vesicles. J. Steroid Biochem. 12, 259-266.

Baulicu, E. E. 1978. Cell membrane, a target for steroid hormones. Molec. Cell. Endocr. 12, 247-254.

Baulieu, E.E. 1983. Steroid-Membrane-Adenylate cyclase interactions during <u>Xenopus</u> <u>laevis</u> oocyte meiosis reinitiation: a new mechanism of stroid hormone action. Exper. Clin. Endocrinol. 81, 3-16.

Baulicu, E. E. 1985. Progesterone inhibited phosphorylation of an unique Mr 48,000 protein in the plasma membrane of <u>Xenopus lacvis</u> occytes. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 3617-3625.

Baulicu, E. E., Godeau, F., Schorderet, M., Schorderet-Slatkine, S. 1078. Steroid induced meiolic division in <u>Xenopus</u> occyles: surface and calcium, Nature (London) 275, 593-598. " Annual and

Blondeau, J. P. and Baulieu, E. E. 1985. Progesterone inhibited phosphorylation of an unique Mr 48,000 protein in the plasma membrane of <u>Xenopus</u> <u>laevis</u> oocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 3617-3625.

DeManno, D. A. and Goetz, F. W. 1987. The effects of forskolin, cAMP, and eyanoketone on steroid induced meiotic maluration of yellow perch <u>Percha</u> <u>flavescens</u> oocytes <u>in</u> <u>viira</u>. Gen. Comp. Endoerinol. 66, 233-243.

DeManno, D. A. and Goetz, F. W. Steroid induced final maturation in brook front <u>Salvelinua</u> <u>fantinalis</u> ooeytes <u>in vitra</u>: the effects of forskolin and phosphodiesterase inhibitors. This paper is referred to (in press) in the above reference, but I have not been able to locate it. I wrote to Dr. Goetz about it, but did not receive a reply.

Detllaff, T. A. and Skoblina, M. N. 1969. The role of germinal vesicle in the process of oocyte maturation in <u>Anura</u> and <u>Acipenseridae</u>, 'nn. Embryol. Morphog. (suppl.f.), 233-243.

Fant, M. E., Harbison, R. D. and Harrison, R. W. 1979. Glucecorticoid uptake into human placental membrane vesicles. J. Biol. Chem. 254, 6218-6221. Goctz, F.W. 1983. Hormonal control of oucyte final maturation and ovulation in fishes. <u>In</u> Fish Physiology, Vol. 9B. (W. S. Hoar and D. J. Randall, eds.) pp.117–170. Academic Press, New York.

Goetz, F. W. and Hennessey, T. 1984. The <u>in vitro</u> effects of phosphodiesterase inhibitors on 17**κ.20β** -dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one induced germinal vesiele breakdown in brook frout <u>Salvelinus fontinalis</u> oceyles. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 77, 785-786.

Goetz, F. W., Fostier, A. Y., Berton, B., Jalabert, B. 1987. Normonal changes during meiotic maturation and uvulation in the brook trout <u>Salvelinus</u> <u>fontinalis</u>. Fish Physiol. Biochem, 3, 203-211.

Goswami, S. V. and Sundararaj, B. I. 1973. Effect of actinomycin D, mytomycin C, puramycin and cyclohezamide on deoxycorticosterone-induced <u>in vitra</u> maturation in socytes of the catfish. <u>Heteropenustes fuscilis</u> (Bloch). J. Evo. Zool. 185, 327-332.

Ishikawa, K., Hanaoka, Y., Kondo, Y. and Imai, K. 1977. Primary action of steroid hormone at the surface of amphibian oocyte in the induction of germinal visical breakdown. Molec. Cell Endocrinol. 9, 91-100. " the strength into a

Jalaberi, B. 1976. <u>In vitro</u> occyte maturation and ovulation in rainbow trout <u>Salmo</u> <u>gairdneri</u>, northern pike <u>Esox lucis</u> and goldfish <u>Carassius</u> <u>avratus</u>. J. Fish Res. Board Can. 33, 974-988.

Jalabert, B. and Finet, B. 1986. Regulation of oncyte maturation in rainbox trout. <u>Salmo gairdneri</u>: role of cyclic AMP in the mechanism of action of the maturation inducing steroid (MIS). 174(-hydroxy.20)-dihydroprogesterone. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 2, 65-74.

Koch, B., Luiz-Bucher, B., Briaud, B., and Mialhe, C. 1978. Specific interactions of corticosteroids with binding sites in the plasma membranes of the rat anterior pituitors gland. J. Endocrinol. 79, 215-222.

Maller, J. L. 1985. Review. Regulation of amphibian oocyte maturation. Cell Differentiation 1C, 211-221.

Maneckjee, A., Weishart, M. and Idler, D.R. 1987. Isolation and characteristics of  $174.20\beta$ -dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one receptor activity in ovarian tissue of brook front. <u>Salvelinus fontinalis</u>. Proceedings third international symposium on reproductive physiology of fish. (D. R. Idler, L. W. Crim and J. M. Walsh, eds.). Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, Newfoundland.

Maneckjee, A., Weisbart, M. and Idler, D. R. 1988. The presence of 17**x**.20<mark>3</mark>-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one receptor activity in the ovary of brook front <u>Salvelinus</u> <u>fontinalis</u> during terminal stages of oocyte maturation. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 6, 19-38.

Martyr, R. J., and Benisek, W. F. 1973. Affinity labelling of active sites of  $\Delta^{\mathbb{S}_{-}}$  kelosteroid isomerase using photoexcited natural ligands. Biochemistry 12, 2172-2178.

Masui, Y. and Markert, C. L. 1971. Cytoplasmic control of suclear behavior during meiotic maturation of frog oceytes. J. Exp. Zool. 177, 129-146.

Miguel, T., Guantes, M. J., Vallejo, Λ. I., Sancho, M.J., and Macarulla, M.J. 1987. Characterization of contisol binding sites in chicken liver plasma membrane. Int. J. Biochem. 19, 957-962.

Morril, G. A., Ziegler, D. and Kostellow, A.B. 1981. The role of ca\*\* and cyclic nucleotide: in progesterone initiation of meiotic division in amphibian occytes. Life Sci. 29, 1821- 1825. Nagahama, Y. 1987. Endocrine control of oocyte maturation. <u>In</u> "Hormones and reproduction in fishes, amphibians and reptiles." (D. 0. Morris and R.E. Jones, eds.) pp. 171-193. Plenum Press, New York.

Ozegovic, B., Schon, E., and Mikovic, S. 1977. Interaction of [<sup>3</sup>H]aldosterone with rat kidney plasma membranes. J. of Steroid Biochem. 8, 815-819.

Pietras, R. J. and Szego, C. M. 1977. Specific binding sites for estrogen at the outer surface of isolated endometrial cells. Nature, 205, 09-72.

Pietras.R. J. and Szego. C.M. 1979a. Metabolic and proliferative responses to estrogen by hepatocytes selected for plasma membrane binding sites specific for estradiol.17-beta. J. Cell Physical, 98, 115-159.

Pictras, R. J. and Szego, C. M. 1979b. Estrogen receptors in sterios plasma membrane. J. Steroid Biochem. 11, 1471-1483.

Pietras, R. J. and Szego, C. M. 1980. Partial purification and characterization of estrogen receptors in subfraction of hepatocyte plasma membranes. Blochem. J. 191, 743-760.

Rambo, C.O., and Szego, C. M. 1983. Estrogen action at

endometrial membranes: alterations in luminal surface detectable within seconds. J. Cell Biol. 97, 679-685.

Rao, G.S., Shulze-Hagen, K., Rao, M.L., and Breuer, H. 1976. Kinelic of steroid transport through cell membranes. Comparision of uplake of cortisol by isolated rat liver cells with binding of cortisol to rat liver cytosol. J. of Steroid Biochem. 7. 1123-1129.

Rao, M.L., Rao, G.S., Eckel, J., and Breuer, H. 1977. Factor involved in uptake of corticosterone by rat liver cells. Biochim, Biophys. Acta. 500, 322-332.

Sadler, S. E., and Maller, J.L., 1982. Identification of steroid receptor on the surface of <u>Xenopur</u> oneyles by photoaffinity labelling, J. Biol. Chem. 22, 419-426.

Sudler, S. E., Bower, M. A. and Maller, J. L. 1985. Studies of a plasma membrane steroid receptor in <u>Neuponn</u> observes using the synthetic progestin R486. J. Steroid Biochem, 22, 419-426.

Savart, M. and Cabillic, Y. 1986. Specific binding of dexamethasone to plasma membranes from skeletal muscle. Biochim, Biophys. Acta, 812, 87-95. 載

Schordet-Slatkine, S., Schordertet, M. and Baulicu, E. E. 1982. Cyclic AMP mediated control of meiosis: effects of progesterone, cholera toxin and membrane active drugs in <u>Xenopus Inevis</u> occytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 79, 850-854.

Smith, L. D. and Ecker, R. E. 1971. Interaction of steroids with <u>Rana pipens</u> occytes in induction of maturation. Develop. Biol. 25, 232-247.

Strel'C'yonoc, O.C., Avvakumov, G. V. and Survillo, L.I. 1984. A recognition system for sex-hormone-binding-protein-estradiol complex in human decidual endometrium plasma membranes. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 802, 459-466.

Suyemitss. T., and Terayama, H. 1975. specific binding sites for natural glucocorticoids in plasma membranes of rat liver. Endorrinology. 26, 1499-1508.

Szego, C. M. and Pietras, R. J. 1981. Membrane recognition and effector sites in steroid hormone action. <u>In</u> Biochemical actions of hormones (Edited by Litwack, G.), Vol. 8, 307-463. Academic Press, New York.

Theofan, G. and Goetz, F. W. 1981. The in vitro effects of

actiomycin D and cyclohexamide on germinal vesical breakdown and ovulation of yellow pearch <u>Perchn</u> <u>flavescens</u> oneytes. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A89, 557-561.

Vijayasaradhi, S., Khar, A. and Gupta, P.D. 1987. Effects of steroid hormones on vaginal epithelial cells: an <u>in vilro</u> model for steroid hormone action. J. Biosei, 12, 257-265.

Yamamoto, K. R. 1985. Steroid receptor regulated transcription of specific genes and gene networks. Ann. Rev. Genet. 10, 209-252.

### Chapter 4 .

Transport of 176,201 -DHP into the brook trout <u>Salvelinus</u> <u>fontinalis</u> ovarian follicles.

#### Introduction

MIS 174,202-DHP receptor activity was demonstrated on zona radiata membrane preparations of the stage (6-7) occytes (Maneckjee, <u>ci</u><u><u>pl</u>, 1989 a and b). It was decided to measure the levels of MIS in the occyte protoplasm (cytoplasm + nucleus), because if this MIS action was similar to classical steroid action via nuclei, the levels of MIS within the protoplasm should correlate with the number of MIS-receptor complexes present in the protoplasm during the various stages of maturation due to receptor MIS interaction.</u>

When extremely low levels of MIS were found in the occyte protoplasm, it was important to determine if MIS uptake was occurring into the occyte after its synthesis from the granulosa cells. Since it is possible that the physiological action of MIS is at the plasma membrane level via receptors, uptake of MIS into the occyte protoplasm is not physiologically necessary, and may not occur. After establishing <u>in vitro</u> uptake of labelled MIS into the 215 ovarian follicles, the mechanism of uptake was also investigated.

#### Methods and Materials

#### Chemicals

N-2-Hydroxyethyl piperazine-N'-2-ethane sulfonic acid (HEPES), sodium chloride, potassium chloride, magnesium sulphate 7H2O, magnesium chloride. 6H2O, calcium chloride. 2H2O, penicillin G and streptomycin sulphate were obtained from Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, Mizsouri, U.S.A. Common organic solvents, hydrochloric acid, and sodium hydroxide were purchased from Fi.her Scientific, Calcdon and BDH, and were of highest purity available. MilliPore Milli Q 18 mega chem water was used throughout the experimental procedure.

Measurement of lotal 17%,20<sup>3</sup>-DHP levels (free + glueuronide) in the occyte protoplasm from Atlantic salmon Salmo salar Quananiche during final stages of maturation .

The frozen ovarian follicles stored at -70 deg C were thaved at 0 deg C, and individually cut. The protoplasm of the overte was separated from the ovarian follicle outer layers (zona radiata plus outer follicular layers and some connective tissue) by aspiration. To a known volume of overte protoplasm was added labelled 174, 20 (2-DHP as an internal standard for recovery calculations and then dialyzed against 25% ethanol/aqueous solution in a dialysis bag. The ethanol/aqueous dialyzed extracts (3 x 100 ml) containing the steroid were freeze-dried, and the freeze-dried powder was taken up in aqueous solution and then extracted with ether to remove the free steroid. The aqueous extract contained the glucuronide, and the sample was incubated with bovine liver beta-glucuronidase (EC 3.2.1.31, Sigma chemical Co. Ltd.) at 1000 Fishman U/ml in 0.1 M sodium acetate huffer pll 4.5 at 37 deg C for 24 h to convert the glucuronide to free steroid. The free steroid was then extracted and evaporated under nitrogen, put on a paper chromatogram, and developed with

toluene-hexane-mulhanol-water (33:66:80:20) for 6 h at 23 deg C. Appropriate areas of the paper strips, as indicated by radioscan of adjacent reference strips of tritiated 174.-,20β-DHP were eluted with ethanol. An aliquot of the eluate was removed to measure recovery: the remainder was evaporated to dryness and redissolved in huffer for assay. Radioimmunoassays were set up using the buffers and charcoal procedure described by Simpson and Wright. for 11-oxotestosterone (1977). The initial ether extracts of free steroid samples were also similarly chromatographed and after extraction radioimmunoassayed. An antiserum to 174,20β-

DRP was produced in rabbits as described by Idler and Ng, (1979). The cross reactivity with various steroids has been described previously (So. <u>ct al</u>. 1985).

217

## Labelled MIS 174, 208-DHP uptake experiments .

Fish were removed from the tank, and sacrificed by a blow on the head and then immediately placed on ice. The ovarian tissue was dissected out, and the connective tissue was removed from the ovarian follicles using forceps. The ovarian follicles were placed in TBSS buffer pH 7.5 (20 mM HEPES, 0.15 M NACI, 3 mM KC1, 0.3 mM MgSO4 7H<sub>2</sub>O, 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> GH<sub>2</sub>O, 3.5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> 2H<sub>2</sub>O,

penicillin 10<sup>5</sup> units/ 1, steptomycin sulphate 100 mg/ 1). [3]]17α,20β-DHP to yield 5nM solution was piperted into a scintillation vial and then evaporated to dryness in a vacuum oven (NAPCO model 5831, Fisher Scientific Co.). TBSS buffer (5ml) was then added to the vial and vortexed, and to the resulting steroid solution at 10 deg was added brook trout ovarian follicles (20). The vials containing the ovarian follicles were incubated at 10 deg C in the presence of moist oxygen with slow agitation in a water bath shaker (Eberbach Corporation, Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA) connected to an RTE-8 refrigerated cooling unit (NESLAB Instruments, USA) for various time periods. The incubation was terminated by separation of ovarian follicles from incubation mixture. and a known amount of incubation mixture counted for radioactivity. The ovarian follicles were then quickly washed with 5 ml of TBSS at 1 deg C on a filter of nylon

mesh size 50. The ovarian follicles were then squeezed through a glass syringe (1 ml), and oceyte protoplasm separated from oceytes outer membranes using nylon mesh size 50. The membranes were suspended in TBSS and gently vortexed to solubilize the cell protoplasm and the supernatant was aspirated off, after which the membranes were dabbed with tissue, aliquois weighed, and then digested in 'Prolosol' (2ml) plus water (1ml) at 50 deg C for 8 h. The digested samples were then cooled and counted using scintillation fluid (20 ml) after dark adaptation. A known aliquot of oceyte protoplasm was also weighed and treated similarly. The 'Protosol' digestion was carried out in capped scintillation yials.

Initial rates of labelled 17#.20<sup>4</sup>-DHP uptake into the pocytes, and occyte outer membranes at various steroid concentrations.

The [3H]174,20B-DHP uptake experiments were carried out at various concentrations of the steroid under initial rate conditions. The incubation and experimental conditions were the same as in the previous experiment. The amount of radioactivity was measured in the proloplasm and the outer membranes of the occytes as described previously. Double reciprocal plots of initial rates of upta<sup>16</sup> against concentration of steroid were plotted to establish the

219

Section of Section 1.

# McLabolism of labelled $17 \approx .20\beta$ -DHP after uptake into stage (4-5) ovarian follicles at 10 deg C .

Brook trout ovarian follicles (20) were incubated in the presence of oxygen and [3H]174,20B-DHP (100 nM) in TBSS (5 ml) at 10 deg C till GVBD occurred (47 h, 15 min). The incubation medium was extracted with 35 ml (7 x vol) of dichloromethane and then evaporated to dryness using rotary evaporator under vaccum below 40 deg C (Buchi HB-140), the resulting extract was then extracted in ethanol (3 x 3 ml) and made up to 10 ml. Aliquots of ethanol extracts were counted by scintillation counting, and 600,000 dpm (known values) of ethanol extracts were chromatographed on paper using toluene:hexane:methanol:water (33:66:80:20) system. Marker steroids (possible metabolites of 17%,208-DHP, and inert 17%, 208-DHP were applied on the paper, 20 µg/spot) were also run simultaneously on adjacent strips for detection in UV or by phosphomolybdic acid technique. The sample chromatograph strips were cut and scanned for radioactivity using Packard model 7201 Radiochromatogram scanner and recording ratemeter. The ovarian follicles were homogenized in 10 ml TBSS, and centrifuged at 10,000 rpm (15,000 x g) for 10 min. The supernatant was extracted with dichle-omethane (35 ml x 2), also the precipitate was mixed with dicbloromethane (10 ml x 2) and extract separated by

centrifugation. The dichlomethane extracts were combined and rotary evaporated to dryness. The flask contents was extracted with methanol (3 ml x 3) and counted for radioactivity. The methanol extract and the marker steroids were then chromatographed on paper using heptane:methanol (80:20) system, and the strips scanned for radioactivity.

#### Results .

# Uptake of labelled 170,20<sup>3</sup>-DHP into the occute protoplasm

The decrease in [3H]174,20 $\beta$ -DHP from incubation medium with time is shown in Fig.4. J.a. The uptake of [3H]174-,20 $\beta$ -DHP by the eccyte protoplasm and outer membranes (zona radiata + outer follicular cells) is indicated in Fig.4. 1. b. These results directly indicate that occyte membranes are permeable to 176,20 $\beta$ -DHP and that the uptake reaches equilibrium within 12 h of incubation.

### Demonstration of [3H] 17%,208-DHP mode of transport .

When a double reciprocal plot of the uptake of labelled  $174^{-}$ ,  $20\beta^{-}$ -DHP against the concentration of  $[^{3}H]_{174}, 20\beta^{-}$ -DHP (1-100 nM) was plotted using the data obtained by sampling the incubation medium. The plot yielded a stright line passing through the origin (Fig.4. 2. a.) demonstrating that the transport of  $[^{3}H]_{174}, 20\beta^{-}$ DHP intr the ovarian follicle is by passive diffusion and is not carrier mediated. In carrier mediated transport (saturable) the straight line cuts the abscissa (Vmax finite), while in simple diffusion the line passes through the origin (Ymax is infinity; 1/ Ymax = 0) (Jacobson, and Snier, 1984).

Fig. 4.1. a. The decrease in  $[^{3}\mathrm{H}]17\varkappa,20\,\beta\text{-DHP}$  from the incubation medium occurring with time.

The cocytes were incubated in the presence of  $[3H]17 \cancel{-}$ , 20  $\cancel{-}$  DHP (5 nM) in TBSS at 10 deg. C, in the presence of moist oxygen with slow agitation.



Fig. 4.1. b. Rate of uptake of  $[311]17\kappa \cdot 20\beta$ -DHP into the protoplasm and the membranes of the oocytes with time.



Similarly double reciprocal plots of aptake into the oocyte protoplasm gave a straight line passing through the origin, indicating passive diffusion as the mode of transport (Fig. 4.2. b.). The deviation from linearity was observed in the case of transport into the membranes at lower concentration of the steroid mainly at 1 M where the value for the initial rate of uptake was higher than anticipated thereby giving a lower value for 1/ Vmax (Fig. 4. 2. c.). This higher aptake indicates binding of the labelled steroid to the receptor sites in the zona radiata part of the membrane. The double reciprocal plot was linear at higher concentrations 2 nM and above, suggesting that the amount of binding occurring to the receptor protein is limiting and becomes negligible compared to the total uptake of steroid at higher oncentrations.

Levels of  $174.20\beta$ -DHP in the ovarian follicles . The levels of MIS  $174.20\beta$ -DHP measured by radioimmunoassay were very low and arc given in Table 4.1.

#### Metabolism of labelled MIS .

After GVBD (47 h. 15 min) the incubation medium contained 31.7% of initial radioactivity added. 68.3% was taken up by the ovarian follicles. The incubation medium contained 48% organic soluble radioactivity, and 52% aqueous soluble radioactive material (probably glucuronide). The organic

225

Sub- alter

Fig. 4.2. a. Double reciprocal plot of  $[^3H]_{17K}, 20\beta$ -DHP decrease from the incubation mixture/(100 ul) into the oncytes at various concentrations of labelled steroid (1-100 nM). V = initial rate of decrease in  $[^3H]_{17K}, 20\beta$ -DHP from incubation mixture per hour in dpm. S = concentration of labelled steroid in nM. (X—X) indicates the linear regression filted line.



2264.

Fig. 4.2. b. Double reciprocal plot of uptake into the protoplasm of the occytes (0.100 g) in dpm at various concentrations of labelled steroid (1-100 mM). The linear regression analysis gave regression co-fficient of 0.9973, (P < 0.01). (X——X) denotes the linear regression fitted line.



227 a.

Fig. 4.2. c. Douvle reciprocal plot of uptake into the membrane fraction of the occytes (0.030 g) in dpm at various concentrations of labelled steroid (1-100 nM). The linear regression analysis gave regression coefficient of 0.9896 using the first five points (P < 0.010).



2280.

## Table 4.1.

Concentration of 174,  $20\beta$ -DHP in protoplasm and membranes of occytes in different stages of maturation (n = 2).

Stage oocyte	Total 17¢,20β-DHP	Total 17d, 20P-DHP
	(pg/ml protoplasm)	(pg/g membranes)
0-1	310, 266	163, 93
1-2	118, 80	205, 145
4	100, 86	213, 156
6-7	344, 172	513, 249

extract of incubation mixture after paper chromatography demonstrated the presence of labelled 17#,20B-DHP (49.2% of organic extract). Also 33.5% of the organic extract radioactivity stayed at the origin, indicating the presence of steroids more polar than 17, 20, -DHP, and 17.3% of organic extract radioactivity ran off the paper, indicating the presence of non polar steroids. The presence of marker steroids used during paper chromatography a) 5 $\beta$ -pregnane -3 $\beta$ -,17κ, 20β-triol, b) 5κ-pregnane-3κ-17κ,20β-triol and c) 5κpregnane -33,17,208-triol were not observed during radiochromatogram scanning of the paper strips. The organic extract of ovarian follicles on paper chromatography (heptane 80: methanol 20) gave 3 peaks of radioactivity, the peak at origin constituted 40-50% of radioactivity, the second the peak was 17%,20β-DHP and constituted 40% of radioactivity and the furthest peak from the origin contained 5-10% of radioactivity. The peak at the origin was extracted out in ethanol, concentrated using N2 and rechromotographed using (toluene:hexane:methanol:water 33:66:80:20) system, with the above marker steroids, the radioactivity peak after scanning did not correspond with the marker steroids.

230

#### Discussion.

Levels of MIS 17¢,20\$-DHP from plasma of brook trout Salvelinus fontinalis during final stages of maturation have been recently reported by Goetz, et al . (1987). The MIS level during stage 2 (GV, just off centre) were 0.7 ng/ ml plasma, and level of steroid at stage 5 (GVBD) were reported to be 148 ng/ml plasma. The levels of MIS present in the oocyte protoplasm and the outer membranes as given in Table 4.1 are at least 1000 fold smaller than the plasma values. These results led into the investigation of uptake of MIS  $17\alpha$ ,  $20\beta$ -DHP occurring into the oocyte protoplasm and the outer membranes. After establishing that MIS uptake was occurring into the oocyte protoplasm, the mode of uptake or transport of MIS was investigated. The results demonstrated passive diffusion as the mode of transport into the oocyte. and also indicated the presence of a binding protein for MIS in the outer membranes of the oocyte. The presence of receptors for MIS  $17\varkappa$ ,  $20\beta$ -DHP in the zona radiata membranes of brook trout oocytes has been reported (Maneckjee, et al . 1989 a and b, and chapter 3), and the results reported in this chapter further support the evidence for the presence of the membrane bound receptors for the MIS  $17\alpha$ ,  $20\beta$ -DHP. The very low levels of MIS 17d, 208-DHP found in the oocyte protoplasm indicates the absence of MIS bound receptors complexes in the oocyte cytoplasm and nuclei. Thus the
action of MIS  $174.20\beta$ -DHP is not directly on the nuclei, as in the classical steroid mechanism of action.

Since in vitro the uptake of MIS 174,20 $\beta$ -DHP does occur into the oocyte protoplasm, but the levels of MIS 174,20 $\beta$ -DHP observed in protoplasm of oocytes are atleast 1000 fold lower than reported in plasma. These results indicate that either in vivo uptake of MIS does not occur into the oocyte or after its in vivo uptake into the oocyte protoplasm the MIS 174,20 $\beta$ -DHP is metabolised. The paper chromatography of the organic extract of the oocyte protoplasm (after labelled MIS 174,20 $\beta$ -DHP uptake), indicated a presence of a major and a minor labelled metabolites of MIS 174,20 $\beta$ -DHP. These metabolites were not characterized in this study. Although it is possible that these metabolites may have secondary roles during maturation.

High affinity binding to glucocorticoids has been demonstrated in the membranes of rat liver cells (Suyemitzu and Terayama, 1975; Terayama, <u>ei al</u>. 1976), and rat hypophysis (Koch, <u>ei al</u>. 1976,1977,1978). Also high affinity binding to estrogens has been demonstrated on the surface of the endometrial and liver cells (Pietras and Szego, 1977, 1978). High affinity steroid membrane binding proteins in liver cells have been implicated in the transport of steroids (Rao, et al . 1977 b). The experimental evidence from the double reciprocal plots of initial rates of labelled steroid uptake against the concentration of MIS 17¢,20<sup>β</sup>-DHP clearly demonstrated a passive diffusion mode of transport into the protoplasm of the occyte at and above the physiological concentration of the steroid. The 17d, 20B-DHP activity is present on the oocyte plasma membrane (intercalated with zona radiata) and does not seem to be involved in the transport of the steroid. Jackson and Chalkey, (1974) hypothesised that estradiol receptors in the uterine endometrial cells originally bound to the plasma membrane, undergo conformational change after binding the steroid and are transferred into the cytoplasm and then into the nucleus. This possibility can be ruled out in the case of 17\$,20\$-DHP membrane bound receptors because 1) the levels of cytosolic receptors decreases during final maturation, when physiological action of 174,20 \$-DHP occurs, 2) the presence of nuclear receptors could not be demonstrated with any certainty, 3) the physiological action of 17%,20 -DHP does not involve the classical steroid mechanism i. e. transcription of mPNA from DNA in the nucleus, since no specific nuclear binding to MIS was observed (Maneckjee, et al . 1989 a and b).

In the initial rates of [3H]17#,20\$-DHP uptake

experiments into the oocytes, the labelled steroid could have been metabolized to glucuronide and other labelled metabolites inside the oocyte protoplasm, and efflux of these metabolites of [3H]17a, 20B-DHP could have occurred into the incubation medium. Since the concentration of these metabolic products would be higher inside the oocyte than outside in the incubation medium at any given time. It is not possible during the initial rate 'time period' that uptake of these metabolites reoccuring into the oocytes from the incubation medium, unless the metabolites uptake occurs by active transport. After a 48h incubation with [3H]17#,20B-DHP, the presence of labelled steroid as [3H]17%,208-DHP was demonstrated on the outside incubation medium as well as in the ooplasm by paper chromatography. Thus the measurements of radioactivity as indicator of 17%,20<sup>β</sup>-DHP uptake during the initial rates can be justified.

The uptake of [3H]174,20<sup>2</sup>-DHP was saturated within 6-12 h into the ooplasm, which is very slow compared to uptake of steroids into somatic cells eg. liver and endometrial cells (Rao, <u>et \_al</u> . 1977; Muller and Wotiz, 1979; Peck, <u>et al</u> . 1973). The initial rate was chosen within 10% of this value which is standard practice in enzyme kinetics. This slow rate of uptake into the ooplasm is due the presence of outer layers of cells and membranes i.e. thecal cells, granulosa cells, basal membrane and zona radiata. In Fig. 4.2.C., the rate of uptake at low concentration of [3H]17#,20 -DHP mainly at (1nM) into the outer layers of ovarian follicles is higher than anticipated, which leads to lower value for (1/V) on the graph. This could be explained in terms of the presence of MIS  $174,20\beta$ -DHP receptors in the zona radiata membrane binding to the steroid and giving total higher uptake values. At higher concentrations of steroid this receptor binding value is much smaller than the total uptake of labelled steroid and becomes negligible. The steroid concentrations for the uptake experiments were chosen with consideration of the amount of steroid present under physiological conditions. During final maturation plasma levels of steroid 174,20 -DHP have been reported in salmonoids to reach 50-500 ng/ml (150-1500 nM), Goetz, et al . 1987. Also the association constant (Ka) for the 17x,20<sup>β</sup>-DHP zona radiata membrane bound receptor activity was found to be 2.0 x 107 M-1 which is within the range of values used for the study of the initial rates of uptake.

The results obtained for 17∉,20∯-DHP uptake into the oocytes is in agreement with the generally accepted concept of steroids transport into animal cells occurring by passive diffusion (Giorgi, 1980).

### REFERENCES

Giorgi, P.E. (1980). The transport of steroid hormones into animal cells. Int. Rev. Cyto. 65, 49-115.

Goetz, F.W., Fostier, A.Y., Breton, B., Jalabert, B. (1987). Hormonal changes during meiotic maturation and ovulation in the brook trout (<u>Salvelinus fontinalis</u>). Fish. Physiol. Biochem. 3, 203-211.

Idler, D.R., and Ng, B. (1979). Studies on two types of gonadotropins from both salmon and carp pituitaries. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 38, 421-440.

Jacobson, G.R., and Saier, M.H. (1984). Biological membranes transport. In "Biochemistry". Edited by Geoffrey Zubay. Addison Wesley 9091, Don Mills, Ontario. p. 624.

Jackson, V., and Chalkley, R. (1974). The cytoplasmic estradiol receptors of bovine uterus, J. Biol. Chem. 249, 1627-1636.

Koch, B., Lutz, B., Briand, B., and Mialhe, C. (1976). Heterogeneity of pituitary glucocorticoid binding evidence for a transcortin-like compound. Biochim Biophys Acta, 444, 497-507.

Koch, B., Lutz, B., Briand, B., and Mialhe, C. (1977). Glucocorticoid binding to plasma membranes of the adenohypophysis. J. Endocrinol. 73, 399-400. Koeh, B., Lutz, B., Briand, B., and Mialhe, C. (1978). Specific interaction of corticosteroids with binding sites in the plasma membranes of the rat anterior pituitary gland. J. Endocrinol. 79, 215-222.

Maneckjee, A., Weishart, M., and Idler, D.R. (1989a). The presence of 17a,20ødihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one receptor activity in the ovary of the brook trout, <u>Salvelinus</u> <u>fontanalis</u>, during terminal stages of oocyte maturation. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 6, 19-38.

Maneckjee, A., Idler, D.L., and Weishart, M.(1989b). Demonstration of membrane and cytosol receptors for 17A 201-diblydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one in brook trout <u>Sabvelinus</u> <u>fontinalis</u> oocytes by phototoaffinity labelling using synthetic progestin 17, 21-dimethyl-19nor-pregn-4.9-diene-3.20-dione (R5020). Subanited for publication, Fish Physiol. Blochem. 1989.

Møller, R.E. and Wotiz, H.H. (1979). Kinetics of estradiol entry into uterine cells. Endocrinology, Vol. 105, 1107-1114.

Peck, E.J. Jr., Burgner, J. and Clark, J.H. (1973). Extrophilic binding sites of the uterus. Relation to uptake and retention of estradiol <u>in vitro</u>. Biochemistry, 12, 4596-4603.

Pietras, R.J., and Szego, C.M. (1977). Specific binding sites for 0-estrogen at the outer surfaces of isolated endometrial cells. Nature (London) 265, 69-72.

Pietras, R.J., Hutchens, T.W., and Szego, C.M. (1978). Hepatocyte plasma membrane subfractions enriched in high affinity, low-capacity binding sites specific for estradiol-17*p*.

## Endocrinology 102, Supp. (76).

Rao, M.L., Rao, G.S., and Brener, H. (1977). Uptake of estrone, estradiol- $17\beta$  and testosterone by isolated rat liver cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 77, 566-573.

Rao, M.L., Rao, G.S., Eckel, J., and Brener, H. (1977a). Factors involved in the uptake of corticosterone by rat liver cells. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 500, 322-332.

Simpson, T.H., and Wright, R.S. (1977b). A radioimmunoassay for 11-oxotestosterone: Its application in the measurement of levels in blood serum of rainbow trout (<u>S. gairdneri</u>). Steroids 29, 383-398.

So, Y.P., Idler, D.R., Truscott, B., and Walsh, J.M. (1985). Progestogens, and androgens and their glucuronides in the terminal stages of oocyte maturation in landlocked Atlantic salmon. J. Steroid Biochem. 23, 583-591.

Suyemitzu, T., and Terayama, H. (1975). Specific binding sites for natural glucocorticoids in plasma membranes of rat liver. Endocrinology, 96 1499-1508.

Terayama, H., Okamura, W., and Suyemitzu, T. (1976). In "Control Mechanisms in Cancer". (W.E. Criss, T. Ono, and J.R. Sabine, eds.), pp. 83-87. Raven Press, New York.

### Chapter 5.

### Introduction.

This chapter is divided into two sections. The first section, describes the purification of cytosolic receptors from stage 1 brook trout ovarian follicles, where the cytosolic receptors are most abundant. The purpose of purification, was to try and isolate the 4 subunits of the purified cytosolic receptor in order that the sequence of the amino acids of each subunit can be carried out for further studies at a later date. The amino acid, and the gene sequences for the various steroids receptors are known, and similarities between the sequences have been observed (Evans, R. M., 1988; Green et al . 1986; Shepel and Gorski, 1988); it would be of interest to establish, whether the genes for the MIS receptor have any common features, with other steroid receptor genes. The purification of the cytosolic receptor is important, because it is the unmodified form of the receptor which is initially synthesized in the cytoplasm, and the amino acid sequences of the subunits may reflect more closely to the DNA sequences than that of the membrane receptor. The membrane receptor subunits might have been modified before its insertion into the plasma membrane. The purification of the membrane associated receptor was carried out for the preparation of antibodies and has been described in the

When a server that have

1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1

second section of this chapter (section b.)

Chapter 5b. also discusses the production, isolation, characterization, purification, properties and various applications of the antibodies produced in rabbits to MIS 174-,200-DHP receptor protein from the zona radiata, containing the plasma membrane of the oocyte. The antibodies towards the membrane receptors were produced because they are the most likely final functional form of the receptor protein involved in the physiological action of the MIS 174,20B-DHP in salmonoids.

#### Chapter 5a.

Purification of brook trout cytosolic receptor preparation . The purification was attempted using various biochemical methods, and using frozen tissue from stage 1 ovarian follicles of brook trout.

a.) Ammonium sulphate precipitation, of cytosolic receptor preparation.

The receptor activity from cytosolic preparation precipitated out maximally, in the the 0-30 % ammonium sulphate fraction. After solubilization and dialysis, of the precipitated receptor in TETS buffer, only 30% of initial specific binding activity was recovered. SDS PAGE pattern of the ammonium sulphate precipitated solubilized preparation, did not show any significant improvement over the initial cytosolic preparation, during this purification step. Also specific activity (specific binding to [3H]174,20Å-DHP per mg of protein), was about the same as the initial cytosolic preparation, thereby indicating no improvement in purity during this purification step. This was due to a loss of receptor binding activity, during the ammonium sulphate preceptation.

b.) <u>Sephacryl S-300 column chromatography, of cytosolic</u> preparation.

After equilibration with labelled 17%,20P-DHP, the cytosolic preparation from brook trout stage 1 ovarian follicles was eluted from Sephacryl S-300 column in TETS buffer containing 0.15M NaCl (details on Sephacryl-S300 gel chromatography in chapter's 1 and 3 of thesis). Only 3-5 % of specific binding activity was recovered after elution. The loss of specific binding activity was due to two factors: 1) dissociation of receptor-ligand complex, and 2) transformation of the receptors during elution through the column. Dissociation alone does not explain the fact that the combined active peak fractions containing the binding activity from the Scphacryl S-300 cluate when re-cquilibrated with labelled 174-,208-DHP, and assayed, showed no specific binding activity (equivalent amount of binding was obtained in both the total and the non-specific tubes). Also when the cytosolic preparation (without pre-equilibration) was eluted from the Sephacryl column, and the eluted fractions post-equilibrated with labelled 17%, 20%-DHP and assayed, no specific binding was obtained (equivalent amount of total and non-specific binding was present in the active fractions). But when the cylosolic preparation was equilibrated with labelled 174,208. DHP, and then treated with charcoal-dextran for 30 min, to remove both the bound and free steroid, and the resulting receptor supernatant solution re-equilibrated with labelled steroid there was no loss in specific binding activity. Therefore the elution through the Sephacryl S-300 column and

loss in specific binding activity (transformation) may be due to removal of other proteins, cofactors, or metal ions present in the crude cytosolic preparation, and not only due to dissociation or separation of the binding steroid ligand during elution through the column. The peak receptor activity tube fraction (after elution from the Sephacryl S-300) on electrophorsis (page 4% gel), gave a single broad band. On SDS-PAGE four subunits were obtained as described in chapter 1 using the commasic blue staining procedure. This method has its limitation, due to the very small amount of protein that can be purified each time through the column, and due to the cytosolic receptor transformation during elution.

## c.) DEAE Sephacel column chromatography.

[<sup>3</sup>H]R5020 photoaffinity labelled brook trout cytosolic preparation, when applied on to DEAE Sephacel column, and then eluted using KCl gradient in TETS buffer gave peak receptor activity at 0.19 M KCl. The peak activity tube on SDS PAGE gave a single band at 84,000 MW (chapter 3, Fig. 3.15). When the main tubes containing the photoaffinity labelled receptor activity were pooled, and then concentrated (freeze-dried), and then applied on to the SDS PAGE gave the usual four bands at MW 84,000, 65,000, 24,000 and 23,000. Also when the cytosolic preparation was equilibrated with 174, 20 $\beta$ -DHP, and then applied on to the

244 Although when cytosolic preparation was applied on to the DEAE Sephacel column (without photoaffinity labelling or equilibration with labelled  $17_{a}, 20\beta$ -DHP), three peaks of receptor activity were detected on post photoaffinity labelling the various fractions (Fig. 5.1.). The ratio of the peaks varied from preparation to preparation, and was dependent on the protein concentration (weight of ovarian follicles used per ml of buffer during initial homogenization of cytosolic preparation). Better resolution of peaks was acheived, when the protein concentration of the cytosolic preparation was kept low (less than 100 pg/ml). At higher protein concentrations, the peaks merged and gave rise to a single broad peak. The peak activity tube from this sing e broad peak of receptor activity did not give the normal four bands on SDS PAGE, but was contaminated by other proteins. When the tubes containing the two peak fractions (fractions 24 through 48, Fig. 5.1.), were pooled. concentrated by freeze-drying (lyophilization), and fractionated on a Sephacryl S-300 column, a single peak of receptor activity was obtained at MW 182,000 (assayed by post photoaffinity labelling the fractions). When the peak receptor activity tube fractions (MW 182,000) from Sephacryl S-300 column were pooled, concentrated, equilibrated with 17K-,20B-DHP (3 ,uM), and then eluted from the the DEAE Sephacyl column (.05-.5M KCl), only peak of receptor activity was obtained at 0.225M KCl (the receptor activity was measured

Fig. 5.1. DEAE Sephacel column chromatography of cytosolic preparation from stage 1. brook trout ovarian follicles (33g/60 ml in TETS buffer). Cytosolic preparation (50 ml), was applied on to a DEAE Sephacel column (23 cm x 1.5 cm dia.), washed with TETS buffer (50 ml), and eluted with a linear KCl gradient (0.0-0.5M in TETS buffer; total volume 120 ml). Eighty nine fractions collected each <u>cas</u> 1.4 ml; 250  $\mu$ l aliquots assayed using photoaffinity labelling under standard conditions as described in chapter 3. The peak receptor activity was obtained at 0.125M, 0.195M and 0.325M KCl.



cpm/250 ul × 10<sup>-3</sup>

245 0.

Fig. 5.2. DEAE Sephacel column chromatography of receptor preparation previously partially purified (see text), and then equilibrated with  $17 \ll 20$  (-DHP (3  $\mu$ M). 15 ml of the equilibrated sample was applied on to a DEAE Sephacel column (22 cm x 1.5 cm dia.), and then washed with 60ml of TETS buffer, and then eluted using linear KCl gradient (0.0-0.5M in TETS buffer; total volume 120ml). Fractions (81) were collected, and 250  $\mu$ ul aliquots were photoaffinity labelled using labelled E5020. The peak receptor activity was obtained at 0.255M KCl.



2-01x lu022/mdp

by post photoaffinity labelling the fractions). (Fig. 5.2.).

In one attempt at large scale purification brook trout stage 1 ovarian follicles (10.5 g), were homogenized in TETS buffer (60 ml at pH 7.4). After centrifugation, the supernatant was equilibrated with inert 176,20<sup>B</sup>-DBP (3 AM), and applied to a DEAE Sephacel column and eluted using a KCl gradient. Sixty-four fractions were collected, and 250 Al aliquots assayed by photoaffinity labelling. Three peaks of receptor activity were obtained (Fig. 5.3.), after concentrating the three peak fractions by lyophilysation, the SDS PAGE from all the three peak tubes of receptor activity gave the usual 4 bands at MW 84,000, 67,0000, 24,0000 and 23,0000. Various other bands at high MW were indicated the presence of contaminating proteins in these fractions (Fig. 5.4.).

# d.) Chromatofocusing .

Chromatofocusing separates proteins, through differences in their pI values with high resolution and high capacity. Chromatofocusing consists of a special exchanger gel (PBE exchanger, Pharmacia), with various charged groups. The gel is adjusted to one pH and eluted with a special eluent (Polybuffer, Pharmacia) at a second pH; thereby forming a pH gradient on the column, just as if two buffers at different pH were gradually mixed in a mixing chamber of a gradient Fig. 5.3. DEAE Sephacel column chromatography of cytosolic preparation of brook trout ovarian follicles (10.6g/60 ml of TETS buffer). Cytosolic preparation (60 ml), was applied to a DEAE Sephacel column (24.75cm x 1.5cm dia.), washed with 60 ml TETS buffer, and eluted using linear KCl gradient (0.0-0.5M in TETS buffer; total volume 120 ml). Fractions (64) were collected, and 250 µl aliquots photoaffinity labelled using [<sup>3</sup>H]85020. Three peaks of receptor activity were observed at 0.11M, 0.18M and 0.2855M KCl concentration.



2480.

8 - Mar 2011

St. 11.139 1

Fig. 5.4. SDS gel electrophoresis of the peak tube fractions obtained from DEAE Sephacel column chromatography of cytosolic preparation, of brook trout ovarian follicles equilibrated with  $174, 20^{\circ}$ -DHP (Fig. 5.3.). From left to right, tube 20 (10,20,30 and 50  $\mu$ l of sample), tube 28 (110,20,30, and 50  $\mu$ l), tube 40 (10,20, $\mu$ l), low molecular weight standards (LMW), and samples from each peak tube (20  $\mu$ l).

a na sana anna a sana a sana a sana a



maker. When such a pH gradient, is used to elute proteins bound to the PBE exchanger gel, the proteins elute in the order of their isoelectric points.

#### Experiment # 1.

PBE 94 gel (Pharmacia), was suspended, packed, and then equilibrated in to a C10/40 column (23 x 1 cm. Pharmacia). using starting buffer (TRIS/CH3COOH pH 8.3, 0.025M). The pH of the eluent from the column, after equilibrating with 500 ml of starting buffer was 8.0. Cytosolic preparation from brook trout ovarian follicles (stage 1, 3.5g/ 20ml buffer), was applied on to the column (after buffer exchange in the elution buffer by dialysis). The column was then eluted, using eluting buffer [poly buffer 96 (30%) + poly buffer 74 (70%), diluted (1:10), and pH adjusted to 5.0 using acetic acid). A total of 80 fractions (2.5 ml) were collected. The fractions were measured for pH and for receptor activity by photoaffinity labelling, using [3H]R5020. The receptor activity was obtained as a broad peak in the very early fractions (Fig. 5.5.). indicating that the pl of the receptor protein was higher than the starting pH of the eluted buffer(pH 8.0). The marker protein hemoglobin, gave a pI value of 6.7 in the tube number 48.

### Experiment #2.

Fig. 5.5. Chromatofocusing elution pattern obtained from cytosolic preparation of brook trout ovarian follicles. The cytosolic preparation (after buffer exchange), was applied on to a PBE 94 gel exchanger, equilibrated at pH 8.0, and then eluted using elution buffer at pH 5.0. The receptor activity did not bind the gel, as indicated by the initial broad elution peak, because the pI of the receptor activity, was higher than the pH of the initial eluted solution. dpm ( $-\Phi$ ); pH ( $+\Phi$ ).



2514.

Hq

The above PBE 94 gel column, was initially washed with NaCl (1M. 100ml), and then equilibrated with starting buffer (cthanolamine/acetic acid pH 9.4, 0.025M, 500ml), The cytosolic preparation from stage 1 ovarian follicles in TETS buffer was dialysed (buffer exchange) with Polybuffer 96, at pH 6.0 (Polybuffer (1:10) diluted after adjustment to pH 6.0 with acetic acid), and then applied to the PBE 94 column. The column was eluted using the Polybuffer 96 (1:10 at pH 6.0). The pH and receptor activity were measured in the 80 fractions (3.35 ml) collected (by photoaffinity labelling, using [3H]R5020). A broad peak of receptor activity was obtained between pH 9.48- 8.50, during initial elution through the column indicating that pI of the receptor protein, was higher than the pH of the initial eluted solution (Fig. 5.6.). The marker protein hemoglobin gave a pI value of 6.9.

#### Experiment # 3.

PBE 118 gel (Pharmacia) for higher pH range (11 - 7), was suspended, packed, and than equilibrated in a C10/40 column (26.5 x 1 cm, Pharmacia), using starting buffer (triethylamine/HCl pH 11.0, 0.025M). The eluent, from the column after equilibrating with 400 ml of starting buffer had a pH of 11.0. Cytosolic preparation, from brook trout ovarian follicles stage 1 (3.5g/20 ml), was used after buffer exchange in elution buffer by dialysis. After Fig. 5.6. Chromatofocusing elution pattern, obtained from cytosolic preparation of brook trout ovarian follicles. The cytosolic preparation (after buffer exchange), was applied on to a PBE 94 gel exchanger equilibrated at pH 9.6, and then eluted using elution buffer at pH 6.0. The receptor activity did not bind the gel, indicating that the pI of the receptor is higher than the the pH of the initial eluted buffer solution.

ang penang p

dpm (D-D); pH (A-A).



application of the sample, the column was eluted with pH 9.0 elution buffer (Pharmacyte 8-10.5, diluted 1:45). Eighty fractions were collected, and measured for pH and receptor activity (by photoaffinity labelling using [3H]R5020. The receptor activity was obtained in fractions with pH 9.75-9.70 (Fig. 5.7.). The pH in fractions (30-80) remained at 9.0. The column was then further eluted using the same eluent buffer as above, after adjusting its pH to 7.0. No receptor activity was observed in the next 80 fractions (final pH 7.0). The fractions containing the receptor activity (10.11.12 and 13), were concentrated (freeze dried), and then taken up in 1 ml of TETS buffer. On SDS PAGE analysis of these fractions, only 4 bands at MW 84,000, 65,000, 24,000 and 23,0000 were observed, with maximum staining obtained in fraction 11 (Fig. 5.8.). The concentrated fractions 10,11,12 and 13 were pooled, and then applied on Sephacryl S-300 column (to remove endogenous ampholines), and then eluted using TETS buffer containing 0.15m NaCl. The fractions were assayed for receptor activity by photoaffinity labelling using labelled R5020. Two peaks of activity were obtained, the active fractions from each peak were combined, and freeze dried. The freeze dried powders, were taken up in ammonium acetate solution (0.05 M. pH 7.0), and than dialyzed in the same solution for 24 h with three changes of 1.5 l each. The dialyzed samples were freeze dried, and a small sample of each used for SDS PAGE

Fig. 5.7. Chromatofocusing elution pattern obtained from cytosolic preparation of brook trout ovarian follicles. The cytosolic preparation (after buffer exchange), was applied on to a PBE 118 gel exchanger equilibrated at pH 11, and then eluted using elution buffer at pH 9.0. The receptor activity, was obtained in fractions whose pH were 9.75-9.70 (fractions 9,10,11,and 12). Thus the receptor protein pI is between 9.75-9.70.

a b sa sang

dpm (D-D ); pH (A-A).

建氯乙酸 编成 新说的复数形式 计分子 化化合金合金 化合金合金合金



255a.

Ηd

Fig. 5.8. SDS gel electrophoresis pattern obtained (after chromatofocusing) from active receptor fractions 10,11,12,13,14 and 15. The maximum activity was obtained in the fraction 11 (Fig. 5.7), which corresponds to the maximum staining obtained in fraction 11. Low molecular weight standards LMW. Fractions (F).

and have been been a set of the s



Fig. 5.9. SDS gel electrophoresis of purified receptor samples after chromotofocusing, and Sephacryl S-300 elution. Two peaks of receptor activity were obtained, see text. Lanes 3,4 (10 and 20  $\mu$ l sample from peak 1); lanes 5,6 (10 and 20  $\mu$ l sample from peak 2); lanes 9,10 (10  $\mu$ l sample peak 1, + 10  $\mu$ l sample peak 2); lanes 1,12 (25  $\mu$ l sample peak 1, + 25  $\mu$ l sample peak 2); lanes 1,2,7,8,13 and 14 low molecular weight standards (LWW).

the second se

Sector and a sector se sector sect



analysis. Four bands of MH 84,000, 65,000, 24,000 and 23,000 from both samples were observed. (Fig. 5.9.).

# Attempted separation of the subunits of receptor protein. using reversed phase HPLC.

The chromatography was perfomed using a Beckman 110A pump system, connected to a Beckman 332 gradient former, and a Hitachi model 110-40 spectrophotometer (set at 280 nm). attached to a chart recorder-integrator (Altex model C-RIA). Initially an attempt was made to seperate the sub-units. using a column containing 4-carbon (C4) hydrophebic group separating medium (Bio-Rad RP 304 column 25 x 4.6 mm). The column was conditioned according to the manufacture. instructions, by washing it with 90% acetonitrile (ACN), and then with HPLC grade water (18 mega-ohm Millipore water). and finally equilibrated with 0.1% trifluroacetic acid (TFA) in HPLC water (all solutions were degassed, and equilibrated with Helium gas, before use, and during HPLC runs at room temperature 22 deg C). The samples for analysis, were also made up in the degassed solutions. The samples to be analysed were made up in 0.1%TFA-water, and then incubated at 37 deg C for 120 min to dissociate the subunits. The incubated sample were injected, and then eluted initially with 0.1%TFA-water (10 min), and then finally eluted using a gradient containing 0.1% TFA in 0-95% ACN over 30 min. The flow rate throughout the run was iml/min. The protein
concentration in the two samples were measured by the bicinchoninic acid procedure (Smith, et al . 1985; Olson, et al. 1985). The reagents for the protein assay were purchased from Pierce Chemical Company. The protein concentrations from the two peaks of receptor activity obtained after Sephacryl S-300 column chromatography were: peak 1. 380 µg/ml; total 950 µg, and peak 2. 410 µg/ml; total 1025 Aug. The HPLC column was then tested for proper functioning, by performing several blank runs (by injecting the solution in which the sample was prepared). Also, Bio-Rad reverse whase column calibration standards were used for checking the separation capabilities of the column (consisting of cytochrome C, lysozyme and myoglobin), A typical result obtained, for blank and standard proteins, are shown in appendix (Trace 1 and 2). The receptor samples. from peak 1, and peak 2 (Sephacryl S-300), were then applied on to the column (10 Aug protein/injection), and the typical results obtained are shown in appendix (trace 3 and 4). Two main peaks, and two minor peaks were obtained from both samples. The retention times were low, but reproduceable. The samples were eluted during the column washing period, with 0.1%TFA in water, and not during the actual gradient elution. All runs were carried out at least in triplicate.

The protein elution occurred very early during the run, indicating that very little hydrophobic binding was

occurring between the sample protein, and the C-4 hydrophobic groups of the column matrix. The possibility, that increased column retention times could be achieved. by increasing the size of the hydrophobic binding groups on the column matrix was investigated: a) by using C-8 (Beckman RPMC Ultra pore, series 7RPMC26, 75 x 4.6 mm ), and b) C-18 (Beckman Ultra pore, 150 x 4.6 mm) columns . After conditioning the C-8 column, a typical control run (containing the 0.1%TFA in HPLC water) is depicted in Appendix (trace 5). Trace 6 in Appendix shows, the elution pattern obtained using the Bio-Rad RP molecular standards. The elution times of the standard proteins were increased, during the elution through the C-8 column, although, the background was not as stable, and reproduceable as when using the C-4 column. Also the retention times for both of the Sephacryl S-300 samples were lower, than with results obtained from C-4 column (Appendix; Traces 7, and 8), and separation not as well defined. In most runs, two main peaks, and a small broad peak were observed from both Sephacryl S-300 samples, although, it is possible that the first peak could have been composed of two proteins (Appendix; Traces 7, and 8). The possibility, that dissociation of the subunits of the receptor protein in 0.1% TFA, may have not been complete was also investigated, by incubating the two samples in propionic acid final concentration [1M] for 36 h at 37 deg C (Burzawa-Gerard, et

al . 1976). But similar results were obtained as with 0.1% TFA method as described above. The three peak fractions obtained during the various runs, were collected (Gilson model 203 fraction collector, using the peak tube collection mode). Since the results obtained from the C-8 column, were not as sutisfactory as the results from the C-4 column, further work was carried out in anticipation of getting better results using a C-18 column (Beckman Ultra pore RPMC. 150 x 4.6 mm). The typical results obtained for the control, and the reverse phase protein standards using C-18 column are shown in the Appendix (Traces 9, and 10). Due to the high hydrophobicity of this column, not all of the RP standard proteins eluted from the column completely (under the conditions very similar to that used as described above). Although the two samples from the Sephacryl S-300. were eluted, as shown in the Appendix (Traces 11, and 12). The results from all of the three reverse phase columns were similar, and gave between 3 to 4 peaks. The SDS gel electrophoresis of the eluted subunits (separated peaks, after concentrating) from both Sephacryl S-300 samples was carried out, under the same conditions as described in chapter 1. in order to estimate the molecular weights of the purified subunits. The gels were stained by Coomassie blue, and silver nitrate (Morrissey, 1981)

methods. The gels were stained with Coomassie blue for 24 h (instead of 60 min). After destaining very faint bands were

observed (not strong enough for photography). Peak 1 from both samples, displayed a very faint band near 84,000 MW band position. The silver nitrate staining method was then attempted in order to get better staining of the bands, but the method did not stain these protein subunits, or the low molecular weight standards used on the gels. The silver staining method was repeated twice, without any success. Attempted affinity purification of eviosolic receptors . Synthesis of Thiopropyl-Sepharose 68 derivatives of MIS 17K-.20β-DHP and testosterone, using <sup>60</sup>Co

### gamma-radiation.

Thiopropyl-Sepharose 6B, lot number 03304 was purchased from Pharmacia Canada, and (6 gm) washed to remove the stabilizing additives, using freshly prepared Milli-Q 18 mega ohm degassed, helium saturated water (the Milli-Q water was degassed by sonication under vacuo, and saturated with helium gas, prior to use). The free -SH groups of the purchased gel, were protected by thiopyridyl groups (to prevent them from oxidation), and the protecting groups had to be removed prior to use. These groups were removed by treating the gel with a solution (200 ml) containing 0.3M sodium bicarbnate, ImM disodium EDTA, and 1% DTT at pH 8.4.(prepared in Milli-Q degassed, helium saturated water). The gel was further washed, with a solution containing 0.1M acetic acid, 0.5M NaCl, and 1 mM dipodium EDTA (2 1), followed by, degassed, helium saturated Willi-Q water, and then with double distilled degassed, helium saturated ethyl alcohol. The gel was filtered, and then divided into two equal parts by weight, and placed into scintillation vials. A solution of testosterone (75 mg/5 ml) in double distilled degassed helium saturated ethyl alcohol was added to one of the vials. A solution of MIS 174,20<sup>6</sup>-DHP (75 mg/5 ml) was added to the second vial containing the gel. The vials were flushed with nitrogen gas, and sealed and sent to Dr. Kazi Shamsuzaman at the Radiation Applications department of Atomic Energy of Canada, Research Company, Pinawa, Manitoba, Canada. The GOCO radiation of the above vials containing the thiopentyl-Sepharose 6B and the steroids were carried out according to the method of Brandt, <u>st</u> <u>al</u>. (1977).

all the subscriptions that we way to an a

b) <u>Affinity column chromatography using the thio-Sepharose</u> <u>6B derivatives of 174.20</u><sup>2</sup> - DHP and testoterone.

The covalently bound thio-Sepharose derivatives of 17g,20g-DHP and testosterone, obtained after gamma radiation were washed several times with ethanol (200 ml previously degassed and saturated with helium). The extracts were then evaporated to dryness using a Buchi rotatory evaporator `~ test the presence of free steroids. Each derivative on the gel matrix was then treated with 0.1M iodoacetamide (100 ml) for 5 min, to block any free -SH groups present, and then washed with MilliQ 18 M ohm water. The 17K, 20P-DHP

derivative was then packed into a Pharmacia C10/10 column. The column was coupled via a AC10 adapter to a Gilson minipuls pump, and a Gilson micro fractionator; total bed volume of the column was 3.3 ml. The column was first equilibrated with TRIS buffer (10 mM Trizma 7.4, 1 mM EDTA) at pH 7.4. The soluble (151,000 x g) receptor fraction prepared from frozen stage 1 ovarian follicles (7.0 g / 40 ml of TRIS buffer) was then slowly pumped through the column (10 ml/h). The column was further washed with TRIS buffer (10 ml), and then eluted with 0.1M glycine/HCl buffer at pH 3.0. Fractions (50 drops) were collected, the pH adjusted to 7.0 and then assayed for protein, and receptor activity by photoaffinity labelling as previously described in chapter 3. Receptor activity was observed in the washing buffer and also in the initial eluate from the column. Protein and receptor activity were not observed in the glycine/ HCL eluate from the column. The same experimental procedure was then repeated using testosterone thio-Sepharose 6B derivative.

Chapter 5b.

Production, isolation, characterization, purification and properties of rabbit antibodies to 17#.209-DHP membrane receptor protein.

Introduction.

Production of antibodies to receptor protein from the membrane receptors of MIS 17#,208-DHP was attempted to block in vitre the physical optical action (GVBD) of the steroid. The in vitro application of antibodies to denuded occytes would provide evidence of steroid action at the plasma membrane of the occyte via the receptors, if the application inhibited the action of 17K. 208-DHP on GVBD. At present the evidence from the maturation studies, indicates specific GVBD response to 17%,208-DHP which is partly inhibited by competetive inhibitor R5020 (chapter 1.; Maneckjee, et al . 1989.). Other application aspects of antibodies to the membrane receptors were also considered and partly attempted: 1) Immunocytochemical localization (detection) of receptor activity on the zona radiata membrane with antibodies using flurorescent anti rabbit gamma globulins produced in goat. 2) Covalant binding of the receptor antibodies to CNBR-activated Sepharose 4B, for batch affinity purification of the receptors. 3) Radio labelled antibodies could be used, for radioimmuno localization of the receptors by combined histochemical/autoradiography method, and for quantitative estimation of receptors by

various methods, e.g.sucrose gradient sedimentation, column chromatography, and gel electrophoresis.

This part of chapter 5, describes the experimental aspects of production, isolation, characterization, purification and some properties of rabbit antibodies made from purified receptor protein isolated from the zona radiata membrane fraction of stage 6-7 occytes of brook trout.

### Methods and materials.

#### Fish.

The source of receptor activity used in the preparation of antibodies to the membrane receptor protein, was from the same batch of brook trouts as reported and described in Methods and Materials section of chapter 2. The stage (6-7) occytes, were collected during late October and early November 1987. The occytes (losse in the abdominal cavity), were scooped up and placed into plastic sample bags (Fisherbrand catalog # 01-816C size 9 x 18 in) in a single layer, and immediately frozen flat at -70 deg C.

### Isolation. and purification of membrane receptors for antibodies production.

The frozen occytes (stage 6-7) from brook trout were carefully unfrozen at 0 deg C, and the zons radiata membrane fraction isolated by ultracentrifugation as described in

chapter 3 (23 g of pocytes were used in a single batch purification procedure). The membranes were washed in TETS buffer (3 x 5ml), and then homogenized in TETS buffer containing 0.1% Brii 35 (10 ml). After ultracentrifugation of the homogenate (151,000 x g, for 60 min), the supernatant was applied on to a calibrated Sephacryl S-300 column, and fractionated using TETS buffer containing 0.1% Brii. About 3.5 ml fractions were collected, and 250ul aliquots from alternate fractions of the 160 fractions collected were photoaffinity labelled, and assayed for receptor activity as described in chapter 3. The peak tube containing the receptor activity was then immediately frozen at -70 deg C. The above receptor isolation and purification procedure was repeated (10 times). The peak activity receptor tubes from each of the 10 runs were combined, and then freeze-dried. Small quantity of the freeze-dried powder was taken up in water, and samples analyzed on PAGE (4% gel) and by SDS PAGE as described previously. Also protein analysis was carried out on the sample.

## Preparation of rabbit antibodies, to membrane-isolated

Initially, a single New Zealand white male rabbit was used in the production of antibodies. Intradermal injection at multiple sites on the back, consisted of 105 mg of freeze dried powder (90 ug of receptor protein) dissolved in water

(2 ml), and to it added monophosphoryl lipid (MPL) plus thehalose dimycolate (TDM) emulsion (2.0 ml consisting of 0.5 mg MPL, 0.5 mg TDM in 2% Tween 80, Ribi ImmunoChem Research. Inc. Hamilton ONT). Also a single subcutaneous injection (1 ml), of killed mycobacteria (Pertusis vaccine strain 18334) was given. Two months after the primary injection, booster injections were given every month intramuscularly to the hind limbs consisting of 65 Aug of receptor protein in 2 ml of water, plus 2 ml Freund's adjuvant (Difco Laboratories). Blood was removed from the artery in the rabbit ear and serum antibody titer was monitered using the immunodiffusion technique (Immunodiffusion gel box, catalog 170-4168; Agarose immunodiffusion tablets, catalog 170-3002. BIO-RAD Laboratories, Richmond, California). A second rabbit was also injected after 5 months following the first rabbit. The receptor protein was similarly prepared, although only 75 Ag of receptor protein was initially injected. Booster injections were given thereafter every month using 50 Aug of receptor protein as described above (Chard, 1987).

### Purification of antibodies from serum proteins .

Immunoglobulins containing the antibodies to the membrane receptor protein (IgG subclasses), were purified from crude rabbit serum by affinity chromatography using Staphylococcal Protein A bound to Agarose (BRL). Protein A column (30 x 1

cm), containing 23.56 ml of gel was first washed with 0.1M glycine-HCl buffer pH 3.0 (200 ml), by clution through the column. The column was than washed with 0.1M NasH/NaHsPO4 buffer pH 7.0 (200 ml). A serum sample (7 ml, rabbit #2 date 21.9.88) was applied to the column, and then washed with the above phosphate buffer until all the unbound serum proteins other than the gamma globulins (IgG) were eluted from the column. Thirty-five fractions of 100 drops were collected, and its optical density (0.D.) measured at 280 nm. The column was further eluted using the glycine-HCl buffer at pH 3.0. The pH, and the O.D. of the eluted fractions were then measured. The fractions containing the IgG were combined, the pH adjusted to 7.0, and then divided into 1 ml aliquots and frozen at -70 deg C. Similarly, the experiment was repeated using serum (7 ml)

from a control rabbit injected with carrier medium only (not containing the receptors), and fractions containing gamma globulin were also purified.

### Inhibition of receptor binding to MIS [3H] 174.206-

\_DHP. by antibodies to the receptor protein . [9H]174,20ß-DHP binding with cytomolic receptor preparation were carried out in the presence of receptor and control antibodies as described in chapter 1 (steroid binding studies). The concentration of [9H]174,20ß-DHP was 4.3 nM, and antibodies solutions were at (1:8) dilution of plasma. During Protein A purified antibodies inhibition experiments, the cytosolic receptor preparation was preincubated for 90 min with the antibodies, prior to the addition of the [3H]174,20\$-DHP.

Attempted in vitro inhibition of cocyte maturation using antibodies to the membrane receptor protein . The fish were killed by blow on the head and kept on ice. The ovary was dissected out and placed in TBSS at 4 deg C. The individual follicles were separated out, by removal of connective tissue under dissecting microscope using fine tweezers. The separated ovarian follicles were then incubated in TBSS (20 follicles/ 5 ml TBSS in a scintilation vial), at 10 deg C in a thermostatically controlled shaking water bath. The vials were gently shaken at 5 times per min. The experimental protocol was as follows:-

Vial #	Description				
1,2	20 O.F.* in TBSS				
3,4	20 O.F. + 174,20 -DHP, 50 ng/ml				
5,6	20 O.F. + purified antibodies (AB)				
7,8	20 O.F. + purified control antibodies (CAB)				
9,10	20 O.F. pre-incubated for 2h with AB, + 174,20β-				
DHP					

11,12 20 O.F. pre-incubated for 2h with CAB +  $17\omega$ ,  $20\beta$ -DHP

\* stage 4 brook trout ovarian follicles

The vials were removed from the water bath, at least twice within each 24 h period and placed on ice, and the ovarian follieles were examined visually under a dissecting microscope for GVBD. The experiment was continued for total of 70.5 h, when the visual examination indicated 100% GVBD in the visls 3 and 4. Then each visl was re-examined, after addition of egg clearing solution (chapter 1) for GVBD and scored. The experiment was repeated using stage 4 ovarian follieles from a different fish.

# Removal of outer follicular layers from the ovarian follicles .

1) From early stage 1 Salmo salar Quananiche ovarian follicles: it was very difficult to remove the granulosa cells completely from the zona radiata membrane of the stage 1 oocytes. The removal of the outer connective tissue and the thecal layers, was accompanished after the ovarian follicles were incubated for a minimum of 4-6 h in calcium free TBSS, containing 5 mM EDTA at 4 deg C. The connective tissue and the thecal layers were both removed simultaneously, under the dissecting microscope by holding the connective tissue by fine tweezers (MS INOX), and slowly lifting the ovarian follicle from the solution. Then a cut was made below the thecal layer using micro scissors (#24 IREX), after which the cut was expanded, and the oocyte containing the granulosa cells, got detached from the outer layers. The presence of granulosa cells on the zona radiata was demonstrated by staining the oocytes with ethidium bromide (Greeley, <u>et al</u> . 1987). An attempt was made to remove the granulosa cells attached to the zona radiata by stirring the oocytes containing the granulosa cells over a nylon mesh (250 mµ pore size) using a gyro-rotator (at 75 rpm), in a cold room at 6 deg C without success (as indicated by the dye test). Partial removal of the granulosa cells did occur during this process.

2) Brook trout stage 4 ovarian follicles: the ovarian follicles were separated by removal of the connective tissue as described above, and then placed in calcium free Cortland buffer for 48 h, with several changes of buffer. The outer connective tissue and the thecal layers were removed under dissecting microscope by holding the connective tissue layer by two fine forceps (#5 INOX), and then pulling in the opposite direction to tear the tissue, whereby the ooc/te containing the granulosa cell layer burst forth from the slit created. The granulosa cells were then detached from the outer zona radiata membrane by placing the above oocytes in a 125-ml conical flask containing 25 ml of calcium free Cortland buffer, and gyro-rotating it at 100 rpm for 10 min at 1-4 deg C. The oocytes were separated from the granulosa cells, by placing the oocytes on a large pore nylon mesh and washing them with Cortland buffer. The oocytes were then placed in Cortland buffer for 60 min prior to use. 3). Brook trout stage 4 oocytes, can also be removed from the outer thecal and connective tissue layers, by simply holding the follicles in flat tweezers and pressing. The granulosa cells were then also detached from the oocytes by gyro-rotation as described above in method (2).

Attempted inhibition of maturation. by membrane receptor antibodies using 1.) denuded occytes, and 2.) occytes containing granulosa cell layer as obtained from methods (2) and (3), without the gyrorotatory step.

The denuded occytes, or the occytes containing the granulosa cell layer were first conditioned in Cortland buffer, for at least 60 min before incubation with antibodies. The experimental protocol was the same, as described above for the whole ovarian follicles, but only 10 occytes were used per each vial.

Identification of MIS receptors on zona radiata membrane (after incubation with receptor antibodies), using fluorescent anti-rabbit gamma globulins produced in goat. Zona radiata membrane fraction was prepared from fresh brook trout stage (6-7) oocytes by ultra-centrifugation as

described in chapter 3. The membranes were washed (3 x 5 ml), and then divided into two parts. One part was incubated with Protein A purified antibodies (1 ml), and the second part with Protein A purified control antibodies (1 ml) for 12 h at 10 deg C. The membranes were separated by filtration (nylon mesh), and then washed with TBSS (3 X 5ml) and frozen at -70 deg C. The membranes were then thawed at 0 deg, and placed in Bouin fixative at 4 deg C for 3 days. The Bouin solution was removed, and the membranes dehydrated using ethanol solutions (30%, 50%, 70%, 90% and 100%; 10 min at each stage, and twice in 100%). The ethanol was removed by decantation and the membranes placed in xylene. The xylene was removed by transferring the membranes in paraffin blocks using Fisher Histo-Center (Fisher Scientific Company).

### Results

# <u>Preparation of the membrane receptor for antibodies</u>

The total weight of freeze-dried powder obtained after combining the peak tubes from the ten Sephacryl S-300 runs was 0.78 g. The freeze-dried powder contained 0.670 mg of purified receptor protein. The SDS PAGE analysis gave 4 bands at MW 84,000, 65,000, 24,000 and 23,000. A single band at high molecular weight was obtained on 4% PAGE gel. In both SDS, and PAGE analysis, the gels were stained using Commasie blue method.

### Antibody titers .

The injection schedule of membrane receptor protein, and antibodies as detected by immunodiffusion method is given below. In the immunodiffusion method, using agar plate, the purified receptor preparation was placed in the centre well (.01g of freeze dried power/60  $\mu$ l of  $H_{20}$ ), and 30  $\mu$ l used per plate. Serum containing the antibodies to the receptor (30 ul), and also serum after dilution of 1:4, 1:10, 1:40, 1:100 and 1:400 were placed in the periphery wells.

### Crude antibodies titre in rabbit number 1 .

Date Injection # and amount Titre by immunodiffusion

.....

22.1.88	1st.	90 Mg		
21.3.88	2nd.	65 µg		
24.4.88	3rd.	50 µg	positive with	serum
26.5.88	4th.	50 µg	positive with	(1:4) dil serum
21.6.88	5th.	50 /ug	positive with	(1:10) dil serum
21.7.88	6th.	50 Ag	positive with	(1:40) dil serum
21.8.88	7th.	50 /ug	positive with	(1:100) dil serum
21.9.88	Rabbit	disposed off	by animal car	e, after
misplace	ment by	an animal can	re worker.	

Crude antibodies titre rabbit number 2.

26.5.88	1st.	75 Aug		
21.6.88	2nd.	50 Aug		
21.7.88	3rd.	50 µg	positive with	serum
21.8.88	4th.	50 ,ug	positive with	(1:4) dil serum
21.9.88	5th.	50 µg	positive with	(1:10) dil
serum				
21.10.88	6th	50 Ag	positive with	(1:40) dil
serum				
21.12.88	7th	50 AUG	not tested	
27.02.89	8th	50 ,ag	not tested	
15.05.89	9th	50 Aug	not tested	

Also serum antibodies to the membrane receptor protein at

(1:10) dilution, gave positive precipitation reactions with crude, and Sephacryl S-300 purified cytosolic receptor preparations in the immunodiffusion test, suggesting the structural similarity between the cytosolic and membrane receptor activity. Also Protein A purified antibodies to the membrane-receptor protein, gave a positive test with both purified membrane, and cytosolic preparations. Crude (serum) and Protein A purified antibodies from non injected control rabbit, did not give antigen-antibody precipitation reactions either with purified membrane, or crude and purified cytosolic preparations. Thus, specific antibodies to the receptor protein, were only present in the serum of the membrane-receptor injected rabbits.

## <u>Protein A affinity purification of the serum containing the</u>

Elution pattern from Protein A column, after application of the serum from receptor protein injected rabbit, is represented in Fig. 5.10. The column was eluted using phosphate buffer pH 7.0, and the protein peak represents proteins other than IgG class of proteins present in the serum. Elution pattern after application of glycine HCl buffer pH 3.0, is shown in Fig. 5.11. IgG class of protein fractions containing the antibodies to the receptor protein are eluted at about pH 3 from the Protein A column, as indicated in the figure. Similar IgG protein profiles were Fig. 5.10. Purification of antibodies to the receptor protein. Elution profile from protein A affinity column, of serum (7 ml) from rabbit injected with receptor protein. The serum was applied on to the column, and the column then washed with phosphate buffer as described in the text. The protein elution peak represents the serum proteins not bound to the protein A.





Airis Gilia

----

mn 082 .0.0

also obtained from the serum of a control injected rabbit (data not given).

### Inhibition of receptor binding to MIS [3H] 17#.208-\_\_\_\_\_\_DHP. by antibodies .

Crude antiserum at 1:8 dilution from receptor-injected rabbit, inhibited the cytosolic receptors binding to [3H]17α,20β-DHP (4.3 nM) by 72%. Crude control antiserum from non injected rabbit under similar experimental conditions did not inhibit cytosolic receptors binding to [3H]17x,20B-DHP. On the other hand, Protein A purified serum from receptor injected rabbit did not inhibit cytosolic receptors binding to [3H]17#,20B-DHP (under similar experimental conditions used with the crude antiserum). Further binding studies were then carried out with the cytosolic receptors using the Protein A purified receptor antiserum from injected rabbit (at various dilutions), where the antiserum was preincubated with cytosolic preparation, for 90 min, prior to the binding equilibration step with [3H]17%,20P-DHP. But no inhibition of binding of receptors to [3H]17d,20B-DHP was observed. It is interesting to note that, the purified antiserum from the receptor injected rabbit showed specific binding with [3H]17¢,20β-DHP under the experimental conditions used for binding studies.

Fig. 5.11. Purification of antibodies to the receptor protein. Elution profile from protein A affinity column after washing with phosphale buffer. The protein A column was further eluted with glycine/ HCl buffer at pH 3.0. The protein O.D. profile at 280 nm (→→→) represents, total gamma globulins fraction of serum proteins rontaining antibodies to the membrane receptor protein for MIS. The changes in pH (→→) with fraction number is also indicated.



Maturation studies in vitro. attempted inhibition by antibodies .

 Using stage 4 whole ovarian follicles: the results obtained from brook trouts # 45 and # 48 are given in Table 5.1. Some of the ovarian follicles also gave ovulation response after GVBD.

```
Table 5.1.
```

sample	% GVBD after 70.5 h		
description	fish #45	fish # 48	
O.F. + TBSS	15.4%	20%	
O.F. + 17d, 20 -DHP	100%	100%	
0.F. + (AB)*	15%		
0.F. + (CAB)**	36.4%		
O.F. pre-incubated (AB) +			
174,200-DHP	100%	100%	
O.F. pre-incubated (CAB)			
+ 170,20\$-DHP	93.5%	100%	

purified antibodies to the receptor protein.
purified antibodies from control rabbit.
Ovarian follicles (O.F.)
2). Using stage 4 denuded oocytes, and also stage 4 oocytes containing granulosa cell layers.

The defolliculated stage 4 occytes, obtained by either method 2 or 3 as described in the method section, all manifested spontaneous maturation and ovulation (100%) within 1 - 2.5 h. after removal of the follicular layers. The presence of the granulosa cell layer did not prevent spontaneous maturation from these late stage oocytes. Thus a definite conclusion can not be reached from these inhibition experiments using antibodies. The stage 1 oocytes from Atlantic salmon did not lose the granulosa cell layer completely during gyro-rotatory treatment, under the experimental conditions described. Also these early stage oocytes, did not exhibit spontaneous maturation and ovulation on removal of the outer follicular cells, as did the late stage 4 oocytes. Experiments using earlier stage oocytes from brook trout were not carried out, due to the unavailability of the ovarian follicles from these stages (see discussion).

#### Discussion

### MIS receptor subunits

The purified MIS 174,20 -DHP cytosolic receptors obtained after gel chromatography, chromatofocusig, DEAE cellulose, and hydroxy-apatite ion exchange column chromatography, all demonstrated four sub-units of receptor activity on SDS gel electrophoresis, under reducing and non-reducing conditions. The MW's of the subunits were 84,000, 65,000, 24,000 and 23,000 (total monomeric MW 196,000, if each of the subunits present per molecule). Although the actual receptor species present in solution was oligomeric, and slightly variable in MW's from preparation to preparation (see chapter 1 and 3.). Sadler, et al. 1985, reported that the MIS progesterone receptor from plasma membrane of Xenopus occytes, had a MW of 102,000, while Blondeau and Baulieu,(1984), indicated MW value of 30,000. These authors, homogenized defolliculated whole oocytes and demonstrated that the 10,000 x g pellet contained the plasma membrane fraction. They also found [3H]R5020 photoaffinity labelled protein in various other fractions. Vitelline envelope fraction, and vitellin membrane platelets fractions had binding activity corresponding to MW of 98,000. In chapter 1, the data presented on cytosolic receptor MW's from Sephacryl S-300 column chromatography indicated the presence of a low MW

284 specific binding activity protein to be between 29,000 to 44.000 MW. It is possible that this protein is either a precursor or breakdown product of the receptor protein (mero receptor), present in the cytosolic preparation. This low MW protein was not observed from the solubilized membrane extracts (chapter 3). It is interesting to note that when fresh ovarian follicles were used to prepare the cytosolic receptor preparation, the MW's obtained from the Sephacryl S-300 column chromatography were ca. 110,000, Although when frozen tissue was used the MW's were ca. 210,000 (chapter 1). Thus the receptor preparation from frozen tissue leads to the oligomeric form of receptor due to protein-protein interactions between the four tightly bound subunits, leading to total MW of <u>ca.</u> 210,000. The subunits which make up the MW of ca. 110,000, are possibly the active components of the receptor (84,000 + 24,000 = 108,000), and the other two subunits are possibly copurified with the actual receptor. Chick oviduct progesterone receptor complex is reported to be composed of 2-hormone binding subunits with MW's 79,000 and 105,000 (O'Malley, B., et al. 1988), and it is possible that the MIS 174,208-DHP receptor complex also contains these two subunits of MW's 84,000 + 24,000 =108,000, and 65,000 + 23,000 = 88,000. It is also interesting to note that on sucrose gradient ultracentrifugation of the cytosolic preparation containing 0.15M NaCl in absence of molybdate and DTT, the MW obtained

for the receptor complex was 71,000, in the presence of complete TETS bufffer the MW obtained was 92,000, and in TETS buffer containing 0.15M NaCl, the MW value was 116,000 (see discussion chapter 1).

The nuclear steroid hormone receptors for cortisol, estradiol, progesterone, vitamin D3, aldosterone, ouabain, thyroid hormones and various oncogene products have been cloned and purified by affinity chromatography from various species. All of these proteins show similar structural/ functional relationship. Thus they are grouped into a family of proteins, known as transcriptional response elements (Shepel and Gorski, 1988; Evans, 1988; Green, and Chambon, 1988; O'Malley, <u>ai</u> <u>al</u> . 1988). This family of transcriptional response elements have three funtional sites, 1) hormone binding domain, 2) DNA binding domain and 3) transactivating domain. The comparision of these domains for various receptors has been indicated in Fig. 5.12.

### Quabain binding receptors

Ouabain is a member of a class of compounds called <u>cardiotonic</u> <u>steroids</u>, the structure of which is depicted in Fig. 5.13. Ouabain receptors can also be classified within the family of transcriptional response elements. From its structure, the ouabain binding site on the receptor in terms of size and sequences of amino acids is very similar

Fig. 5.12.(A). Amino acid comparisons of steroid and thyroid hormone receptor sequences. Shown at the bottom is the division of receptors into six regions (A-F). Region 'C' corresponds to the putative DNA binding region, and is rich in cystein, and is highly conserved between receptors. Region 'E' correspond to hormone binding domain, this region also shows major similarities. Other regions of the receptors contain little or no significant similarities. (B). Percent sequence similarity between various receptors. Each row contains average values as described below the table. Numbers in the right half of the table (bold print), represents similarity in region 'C' of the receptor, while those below the diagonal (plain print) represent similarity in region 'E'. NA indicates a value which is not available. (Diagram from Shepel, L.A., and Gorski, J. 1988. BioFactors 1. 71-83).

机槽装饰机械 电超微磁器 计公司 网络拉拉斯斯斯斯特拉斯斯斯马斯 化丁二丁二丁二丁二丁二丁二丁二丁二丁二甲基

Fig. 5.12.



- Represents average of values for human and choken ER.
- Bepresents average of values for human, rabbit, and chicken progesterone receptors.
- Represents average of values for human and rat plucocorbood receptors.
  - Represents the human mineralscortscold recept Revenues average of values for chicken and r
- Represents average of values for chicken and rat vitamin D receptor.
- Represents average of values for v-erbA, human c-erbA (two forms), chicken c-erbA, and rat c-erbA.

286 0.

Fig. 5.13. The structure of ouabain, a cardiotonic steroid which inhibits the Na\*-K\* ATPase indirectly, and causes an increase in intracellular Ca\*\*, which stimulates contraction of the cardiac muscle cells. This explains the clinical use of digitalis in treating such conditions as congestive heart failure. The receptor protein for ouabain, has been characterized in the cytoplasm and plasma membrane of the cardiac muscle cells, similar to the receptors for MIS 174, 204-DHP.

Rentant Parts



PH

to the correponding glucocorticoid or estrogen receptor binding sites. The cuabain receptor is a plasma membrane bound protein, and couples ATP hydrolysis with Na<sup>+</sup> and K<sup>+</sup> transport across the plasma membrane. Ouabain receptor has been termed the alpha subunit of the Na+/ K+ ATPase (Kawakami, et al. 1985; Shull, et al. 1985; Shepel and Gorski, 1988). Although the ouabain receptor does not completely fit into the category of transcriptional response elements since it is a membrane/cytoplasmic protein, and does not have nuclear function, the sequence similarities in the steroid binding region supports the contention that the protein could have evolved from the same gene as the other transcription response elements. Thus it is possible that MIS 174,20\$-DHP receptors could have also evolved in a similar way. The amino acid sequence analysis of the 4 subunits will help to resolve this question.

### Antibodies inhibition.

Theoretically it seems simple to inhibit the maturation response (GVBD) by incubating the denuded oosytes (oosytes free from outer cell layers) with the antibodies to the plasma membrane receptors, prior to exposure to MIS  $17\alpha_{\star}, 20\beta$ DHP. Experimentally it is very difficult to achieve, due to following considerations: - 1) After denuding the ovarian follicles, antibodies access to the receptor sites on the

plasma membrane of the oocyte (which is intercalated from the inside of the opeyte surface in the zona radiata) must be achieved.2) Antibodies may also trigger the maturation response, since they may also interact with the receptor sites (if the antibodies are specifically directed to receptor domain which binds 174, 208-DHP). 3) Various researchers have reported ovarian follicles exhibiting spontaneous maturation and ovulation when denuded by surgical procedures (Greeley, ct al . 1987). Despite all these anticipated problems, an attempt was made to physiologically inhibit maturation, using 'Staphylococcal Protein A' (Golding, 1978) purified antibodies to membrane receptor protein. The main difficulty encountered during the oocyte maturation period in 1988, was the unavailability of brook trout in early stages of maturation (stages 1-3). Due to fresh water shortages in 1987 (very dry and warm weather conditions), the brook trout population in Fraser Mills hatchery (Antigonish, N.S) was transferred to a nearby lake. Due to a shortage of food in the lake, the oocytes in these fish did not develop, when the fish were brought back later in the year to the hatchery. During 1988, the same fish kept in the hatchery, matured about 6 weeks earlier than the anticipated period in November (other environmental cues might have also contributed towards early maturation in 1988). Although many antibody inhibition experiments were carried out on denuded ovarian follicles of stage 4 fish.

none were successful, due to the spontaneous maturation and ovulation response occuring within (1-3) h of removal of the outer follicle layers.

The crude rabbit serum polyclonal antibodies, and the Protein A purified antibodies at various dilutions, gave a positive precipitation reaction during immunodiffusion test with crude and purified cytosolic and membrane extra receptors. The similarly prepared crude and Protein A purified control antibodies gave negative precipitation reaction. The Protein A purified antibodies to the receptor protein also bound MIS [3H]17K,20 B-DHP, the similarly prepared protein A purified control antibodies did not bind the labelled steroid. These tests indicate the presence of specific antibodies to the membrane receptors. The cross reactivity between the cytoplasmic and membrane associated receptors, also indicate the presence of similar sequences of amino acids in the various domains of both forms of receptors. Polyclonal antibodies to the estrogen receptors from calf uterus also bind labelled estradiol, and this binding to the steroid does not prevent the antigen (receptors) binding to the antibodies (Jensen, ct al. 1981).

The antibodies titre obtained for the membrane receptor, was not as high as observed for various other antibodies
produced by Ialer (private communication; e.g. vitellogenin, and antibodies against various steroids). This might have been due two reasons, 1) due to the loss of first rabbit the injection schedule was too short. 2) The amount of antigen injected into the rabbit might not have been enough. Idler and his co-workers inject between 0.5-2 mg of antigen in rabbits initially, 50% of the initial dose at bimonthly intervals, and within a year's time obtain high titres of antibodies. Chard, (1987), whose protocol for the preparation of antibodies was followed, warns against using more than 100 ug of antigen in rabbits, since the rabbits become refractory to the production of antibodies at higher doses, and also the impurities in the purified antigen will tend to increase with the amount of antigen injected, and this could also lead to the production of antibodies to the impurities. Chard's protocol was followed mainly because of unavailability of high amounts of purified receptor protein. It is known that antibodies production in rabbits is variable, depending on the antigenicity of the antigen, the protocol used for the injection, and the various components of the injection medium also contribute towards the antigenicity of the antigen (Rudbach, et al. 1988.). The latest molecularly engineered microbial immunostimulators were used in the production of the MIS 174,208-DHP receptor antibodies. The purified antibodies were not coupled to the

and which

CNBR activated Sepharose, for the use in affinity purification of the receptors, because of low titre present at the time of writing, but booster injections every two months are still in progress. Also labelled antibodies (lodine) could be used for the detection and quantitative estimation of receptors, once the titre gets higher.

÷

#### References.

Blondeau, J.P., and Baulieu, E. E. 1984. Progesterone receptor characterized by pholoaffinity labelling in the plasma membrane of <u>Xenopus</u> <u>laevis</u> oocytes. Bic<sup>.,</sup>hem. J. 219, 782-792.

Brandt, J., Svenson, A., Carlsson, J., and Drevin, H. 1977. Covalent coupling of unsaturated compounds to thiol agarose using gamma-radiation. J. of Solid Phase Biochem. 2, 105-109.

Burzawa-Gerard, E., Goncharov, A., Dumas, A., and Fontaine, Y. A. 1976. Further biochemical studies on carp-gonadotropin (c-GTH); biochemical and biological comparison of c-GTH and a gonadotrophin from <u>Acipenser stellatus</u> path. (Chondrostei). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 29, 498-505.

Chard, T. 1987. An introduction to radioimmunoassay and related techniques. In "Laboratory techniques in biochemistry and molecular biology." (Burdon, R. H., and Knippenberg, P. H. eds.). vol. 6. part 2, pp.88-110. Elsevier Publications. Amsterdam.

Evans, R. M. 1988. The steroid and thyroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science 240, 889-895.

Goding, J. W., 1978. Use of Staphlococcal Protein A as an immunological reagent. J. Immunological methods 20, 241-253.

Greeley, M. S., Jr., Begovac, F. C., and Wallace, R. A. 1987. Removal of enveloping follicle cells can trigger resumpsion of meiotic maturation in <u>Fundulas</u> <u>hetroclitus</u> oocytes. J. Exp. Zool. 244, 177–180.

Green, S. and Chambon, P. 1988. Nuclear receptors enhance our understanding of transcription regulation. Trends Genet. 4, 309-314.

Maneckjee, A, Weisbart, M., and Idler, D. R. 1988. The presence of 174,20 -dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one receptor activity in the ovary of brook trout, <u>Salvelinus</u> <u>fontinalis</u>, during terminal stages of oocyte maturation. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 6, 19-38.

Morrissey, J. H. 1981. Silver stain for proteins in polyacryamide gels: a modified procedure with enhanced uniform sensitivity. Analytical Biochemistry 117, 307-310.

O'Malley, B., Schrader, W. T., and Ming-Jer Tsai. 1988. Molecular actions of steroid hormones. Adv Exp Med Biol 196, 1-10. Rudbach, J. A., Cantrell, J. L., and Ulrich, J. T. 1988. Molecularly engineered microbial immunostimulators. Technological Advances in Vaccine Development. 443-454.

Sadler, S. E., Bower, M.A., and Maller, J. L. 1985. Studies of a plasma membrane steroid receptor in <u>Xenopus</u> oocytes using the synthetic progestin RU486. J. Steroid Biochem. 22. 419-426.

Shepel, L. A., and Gorski, J. 1988. Steroid hormone receptors and oncogenes. BioFactors 1, 71-83.

Smith, P.K., Krohn, R. J., Hermanson, G. T., Mallin, A. K., Gartner, F. H., Provenzano, M. D., Fujimoto, E. K., Goeko, N.M., Olson, B.J., and Klenk, D.C. 1985. Measurement of protein using Bicinchoninic acid. Analytical Biochemistry 150, 76-85.

Chapter 6.

### Recent advances in steroid receptors localization, and mode of action of steroids vig cAMP .

The concept of receptors was first postulated by Paul Ehrlich, in a Croonian lecture at The Royal Society meeting (U.K.) in 1900, Elrlich's concepts of specific ligands binding cell surface recognition sites leading to modification of the cellular properties, may be responsible for the development of concepts for peptide hormone receptors action via cell plasma membrane (Sutherland, 1972; Kahn, 1976; Catt and Dufau, 1977). Nonetheless, quite a conflicting and contradictory view has prevailed in the localization of receptor macromolecules of steroid hormones. It has been widely accepted, despite certain evidence to the contrary that steroid hormones freely and indiscriminately enter cells (Peck, et al. 1973; Muller and Wotiz, 1979; Giorgi, 1980), and affect cytoplasmic receptors. The cytosolic receptor after binding to the steroid hormone, may then undergo transformation or activation thereby rendering it capable of migration into the nuclei, and interaction with the chromatin (classical steroid receptor model was discussed in chapter 1, and recent modifications discussed in chapter 2).

Early experimental evidence (after injection <u>in vivo</u>, and perfusion or uptake <u>in vitro</u>) for association of various classes of steroids (estrogens, androgens,

mineralocorticoids, glucocorticoids, cardiac glycosides and aglycones), with microsomal and mitochondrial:lysosomal particulate fractions containing cellular membranes has been extensively summarized in the review article by Szego and Pietras, 1980 (31 published citations). Futhermore in the same article, the authors have also cited (33 published citations) from various reseachers regarding direct experimental evidence for specific interactions (binding) of various classes of steroids, with surface plasma membranes of the target cells. Also in chapter 3 of the thesis, work of various researchers in the last decadu, related to the presence of plasma membrane receptors for various classes of steroids hormones, and their actions via non-genomic mechanisms was briefly mentioned.

Various classes of steroid hormones, alter the levels of cAMP in the target cells via specific receptors. The cAMP levels are modulated by activation or inhibition of adenylate cyclase and phosphodiesterase. Numerous reports have been published in recent years on cAMP, adenylate cyclase and phosphodiesterase, and their modulation by various classes of steroid hormones. A review article by

Harrelson and McEwen, (1987) quotes 59 published citations<sup>298</sup> on the steroid modulation of cAMP metabolism.

The mechanism by which steroids regulate cAMP metabolism is rather complex. More recent aspects of the adenylate cyclase system is briefly described below (review articles: Smigel, ot \_al. 1984; Birnbaumer, <u>ct al</u>. 1985).

Enzyme adenvlate cyclase : cAMP is synthesized from adenosine triphosphate (ATP) by adenylate cyclase. The primary component of the adenviate cyclase complex is the so called catalytic subunit, a large protein that resides in the inner side of the plasma membrane and is responsible for the actual hydrolysis of ATP (Fig. 6.1). The catalytic subunit has been partially purified and has approximate molecular weight of 135,000-150,000 (Coussen, et al . 1985; Yeager, et al . 1985). Also the genes coding for catalytic subunit from Escherichia coli and yeast have been cloned and the primary structure of the protein deduced (Aiba, et al . 1984; Casperson, et al . 1985; Katoka, et al . 1985), When purified from brain tissue of rat, the protein has been found to contain a calmodulin-binding site. Adenylate cyclase complex also consists of two regulatory units which are heterotrimeric proteins known as guanyl nucleotide-binding stimulatory coupling protein (Ns) and the guanyl nucleotide-binding inhibitory coupling protein (Ni).

Fig. 6.1. Simplified schematic diagram indicating the hormone action, leading to regulation of cAMP levels in eucaryotic cells. The agonist hormones act through N, activate adenylate cyclase, and antagonist hormones act through N; inhibiting adenylate cyclase. The CAMP generated is broken down by phosphodiesterase (PDE). Steroid hormones acting via cytoplasmic receptors that affect genomic activity, induce or repress gene p-oducts. These products may either be part of the adenylate cyclase system e.g. receptors, PDE, the regulatory proteins N, and N; In addition, a few direct effects of steroids have been identified, via membrane receptors e.g. progesterone action in <u>Xenopus</u> oocytes (reference Harrelson and McEwen, 1987).

## Fig 6.1



300 The basal adenylate cyclase activity of the catalytic subunit is fairly low, and it is Ns that is responsible for stimulating that activity to significant levels. The magnitude and efficiency of that stimulation can in turn be inhibited by Ni. Both Ns and Ni consists of d, \$, and Y subunits. The § and **f** subunits seem to be identical in both Ns and Ni, whereas the ≪ subunits seem to be different, which leads to Ns and Ni having different properties. In order to be functional the guanyl nucleotide-coupling proteins require Mg++ , and the binding and subsequent hydrolysis of guanosine triphosphate (GTP). Activation of the catalytic subunit seems to involve binding of GTP and Mg++ to Ng, followed by dissociation of the of subunit from the  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  subunits; and it is the  $\varkappa$  subunit of Ns which interacts with the catalytic subunit. Hydrolysis of GTP and the release of the & subunit from the catalytic subunit terminate the activation cycle, at which time the x , and Y subunits reunite. A similar inhibition occurs for Ni. Thus, in the unstimulated state, adenylate cyclase activity reflects the steady state between the activation cycle of Ns and the inhibition cycle of Ni. Activation or inhibition of adenylate cyclase by hormones acting via cell surface receptors accelerates either the activation cycle or the inhibition cycle, depending upon the particular type of receptor activated (there are exceptions to this general scheme). Thus the hormone binds the receptor, which causes a

conformational change in the receptor that causes it to interact with the appropriate GTP-binding protein (Fig. 6.1.).

Bused on the model discussed above, one can make several generalizations and speculations (based on further supporting experimental evidence) about how steroids modulate cAMP levels. a.) Steroids affect directly on adenylate cyclase, via membrane specific receptors (without nuclear intervention) : only a few cases of this mode of action of steroids has been reported, where there is no apparent mediation or requirement of gene transcription. The evidence for such a mechanism is most persuasive in the case of Xenopus oocyte maturation by progesterone. This mode of action will be discussed later in the chapter in more detail, since a parallel mechanism could also apply in the case of oocyte maturation in brook trout via MIS 17#,208-DHP. Briefly, progesterone (1 uM) acts via a membrane bound receptor (Sadler and Maller, 1982 ; Finidori-Lepicard, et al . 1981; Jordana, et al . 1981). The precise mechanism does not seem to involve alterations in the activities of Ni (Olate, et al . 1984: Goodhart, et al . 1984: Sadler, et al . 1984), but rather, the response to progesterone involves Ng. Phosphorylation of the 48,000 MW protein has been implicated in oocyte maturation, but further work has not been reported (Blondeau and Baulieu, 1985). The steroid action may also involve calcium effects on adenylate

302 cyclase, as progesterone causes a redistribution of membrane Ca++ with inhibition of adenylate cyclase. There have been a few other reports of direct steroid membrane-receptor effects on adenv1 cyclase (reported in review article. Harrelson and McEwen, 1987). In one of these reports Bergamini, et al - (1985), reported that in vitro addition of estradiol to membranes from human endometrium caused a three fold increase in adenvlate cyclase activity. Thus in a limited number of cases steroids alter adenylate cyclese directly at the membrane level, without an intermediate step of steroid induced gene transcription. b.) Gene transcription mechanism : In almost all other cases the initial action of the steroid hormone takes time to develop and may occur at the level of gene transcription. The time lag is usually several hours. The steroids first cause alterations in levels of gene products, which subsequently lead to changes in adenylate cyclase activity. This conclusion is supported by the fact that steroids are inactive on the adenylate cyclase system when they are tested in isolated membrane preparations, and also steroids effects are blocked by inhibitors of protein synthesis (except in the above cases mentioned in a.) and c.) Alterations in adenulate cyclase due to other second messengers and agonist . It is possible that some of the effects of steroids on the adenylate cyclase system may not involve changes in the amounts of the constituent proteins

of the adenylate cyclase system, but instead involve modification of their activities. for example, by interactions with other agonist or second messenger systems. In such instances, the possible involvement of gene expression and the nature of gene products involved, may not be of importance. For example, in cultured rat brain cells (astrocytes) somatostatin inhibits P-adrenergic receptors-Ns coupling, and in dog and rat myocardium, muscurinic agonists modulate catacolamine receptor-Ns coupling (Watanabe, et al . 1978; Yamada, et al . 1980; Rougon, et al . 1983; Niehoff and Mudge, 1985). A second possibility of steroid regulation is via other agonists that activate the adenvlate cyclase system. Londos, et al. (1985) have shown that endogenous adenosine has a powerful influence on basal and hormone stimulated adenylate cyclase activity, and thus it may influence the effectiveness of steroid and other hormones that are adenylate cyclase agonists. A third possibility is that steroid actions first affect second-messenger systems other than adenylate cyclase, and that these messengers subsequently alter the ability to generate cAMP, e.g., by phosphorylation of receptors, coupling proteins, or adenylate cyclase itself. Numerous reports suggest that two second-messenger systems adenylate cyclase and hormone stimulated phosphotidylinositol (PI) cycle may interact, even to the point of sharing as a component the inhibitory guanyl nucleotide-binding protein

Ni (Gilman, 1985). For example, in mast cells, Ca++ mediated histamine release and the stimulation of inositol triphosphate breakdown are blocked by islet-activating protein, a specific modifier of Ni (Nakamura and Ui, 1985). Conversely, Bell et al . (1985) reported that in S49 lymphoma cells, phorbol esters, activators of C kinase increase \$-adrenergic-stimulated adenylate cyclase by enhancing the interaction between the d-subunits of Ns and the catalytic subunit of adenylate cyclase. This suggests that some of the steroid effects on adenvlate cyclase discussed above may actually derive from steroid action on parts of the PI cycle, whose products subsequently exert their effects on adenylate cyclase. d.) Agonist-related desensitization and up-regulation . The steroid effects may be on the production and release of agonists that activate adenylate cyclase. Such action might also involve genomic regulation and take time to appear. Steroids tend to modify the sensitivity of target cell populations to hormones. which are responsible in the production of these steroids. For example, corticotrophic cells in the anterior pituitary, which are responsible for synthesizing adrenocorticotrophic hormone and thus controlling the synthesis of glucocorticoids, are themselves targets for glucocorticoid regulaton of their sensitivity to corticotropin-releasing factor. Glucocorticoids modulate cAMP levels in vivo and in vitro both cortisone and dexamethasone decrease cAMP

accumulation in the anterior pituitory gland elicited by corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) (Bilezikjan and Vale, 1983; De Souza, <u>et al</u> .1985), while CRF-stimulatd adrenocorticotrophic release is dependent on increased CAMP synthesis. This pattern of steroid feedback to alter their own production can also be seen for PTH and vitamin D in bone forming cells and for the gonadal steroids and pituitary sensitivity to gonadotropins.

#### Oocyte maturation in amphibians.

The action of MIS progesterone, with the isolated occytes of <u>Xenopus</u> appears to be sufficient to trigger the normal maturational response of GVBD and other cytological changes (Smith, <u>si</u> <u>nl</u>. 1968). To trigger the maturation response the progesterone must act on the external cellular membrane instead of entering the cell to bind a cytosolic receptor, since microinjecction of progesterone into the <u>Xenopus</u> <u>laevis</u> occytes fails to induce the process (Drury and Schorderet-Slatkine, 1975). Also, since enucleated occytes respond to progesterone, interaction with the nuclear chromatin is not involved in the process (Masui and Clark, 1979).

Oocyte maturation has been divided into early events, and late events. GVBD is considered as the morphological end point for many studies of oocyte maturation, and GVBD50 refers to the time required after progesterone administration for 50% of the occytes to manifest GVBD. On relative time scale if progesterone administration is considered to be at time 0.0, and GVBDso refers to relative time period of 1.0 (Wasserman and Masui, 1975), within relative time scale of 0.1 GVBDso, a rapid drop in the level of cAMP occurs to about 40-60% of the basal level in the occyte (Maller <u>et al</u> . 1979; Morril <u>et al</u> . 1977; Schorderet-Slatkine <u>et al</u> . 1982; Speaker and Butcher. 1977).

In eukryotic cells, cAMP is believed to exert its effects exclusively through the activation of a protein kinase. The mechanism of activation involves the dissociation of an inactive complex of regulatory and catalytic subunits, as indicated:

 $R_2C_2 + 4cAMP \langle ---- \rangle \{R(cAMP)_2\}_2 + 2C$ 

about the second of the

Call of the local division of the local divi

Thus the regulatory subunit (R) is an inhibitor of the catalytic subunit (C), when bound to it; cAMP relieves the inhibition by binding to the (R), which causes dissociation of the R2C2 complex giving rise to a catalytic subunit of the protein kinase. The catalytic and regulatory subunits from different tissues or different species are highly conserved and can interact with each other. Thus an injection of regulatory subunit into the occyte (which

would bind the endogenous cAMP. lowering its levels) leads to maturation in the absence of progesterone. On the other hand injection of catalytic subunit totally blocks progesterone action (the equilibrium in the above equation is shifted in favor of release of cAMP). These results indicate that the decrease in cAMP is necessary for occyte maturation (Maller and Krebs, 1977). On injection of an inhibitor of the catalytic subunit reduced phosphorylation occurred, which led to maturation (Bover, 1980), Mulner, et al . (1979) have shown that progesterone treatment of oocytes reduces in vivo synthesis of cAMP from microinjected [Y-32P]ATP. Further. Sadler and Maller (1981) have demonstrated that treatment of the intact oocytes with progesterone prior to membrane isolation reduces the adenvlate cyclase in these fractions. Also Finidori-Lepicard et al . (1981) have shown that a fraction of the oo.yte adenylate cyclase can be inhibited by physiological concentrations of progesterone. These results were supported by the work of Jordana et al. (1981) who also demonstrated the requirement for guanine nucleotides for the hormone inhibition. These findings suggest a model in which the prophase arrest of the resting occyte is maintained by a phosphoprotein (substrate of cAMP-dependent protein kinase). Dephosphorylation of this protein is necessary to cause oocyte maturation (Maller and Krebs. 1977). Dephosphorylation of this protein can also be carried out by a phosphatase protein, whose activity might be under progesterone control. Foulkes and Maller, (1982) and Kuchon, <u>at</u> <u>al</u>. (1981) demonstrated that the activity of protein phosphatase-1 can have an effect on oocyte maturation. Thus a concerted model postulates that a high steady-state level of a phospho protein is necessary and sufficient to maintain the prophase block of the oocyte, and that the level of protein is maintained by the rate of phosphorylation by cAMP-dependent protein kinase and the rate of dephosphorylation by protein phosphatase (Maller, 1985).

#### Molecular mechanisms of cAMP decrease .

Three ways in which cAMP levels could be lowered by the progesterone in the oocyte are: 1.) by inhibition of adenviate cyclase, 2.) by activation of phosphodiesterase (or combination of 1. and 2.), and 3.) by excretion of cAMP from the cell. Several laboratories has indicated that cAMP does not appear in the incubation medium after the progesterone treatment (Maller, 1985). Cholera toxin an irreversable activator of adenylate cyclase, which blocks the progesterone mediated oocyte maturation in a dose dependent manner (Maller, <u>si</u> <u>al</u>. 1979; Sadler and Maller, 1981). These results suggested that the activity of adenylate cyclase can affect the oocyte maturation on adenylate cyclase activity was demonstrated after injection and conversion of Y-[32P-ATP] into cAMP by the oocyte in the presence and absence of progesterone. Progesterone decreased the rate of cAMP synthesis (Mulner, et al . 1979). These results were further supported by in vitro experiments using isolated membrane preparations, where progesterone inhibited the adenulate cyclase activity in a dose dependent manner (Sadler and Maller, 1981; Jordana, et al . 1981; Finidori-Lepicard, et al . 1981). Also the half maximal concentration at which the progesterone inhibited the adenviate cyclase, was similar to the concentration of progesterone required for 50% GVBD, a result that supports the physiological analogy. The next step in the resolution of the mechanism is how progesterone inhibits adenylate cyclase. The various components of hormone action leading to the adenulate cyclase activation and/or inhibition in somatic cells was discussed earlier in the chapter and was depicted in Fig. 6.1.

In the adenylate cyclase complex from <u>Xenopus</u> oocyte membranes, the presence and role of catalytic (C) and regulatory N<sub>2</sub> subunits were characterized by the experimental procedures involving cholera toxin as described previously. Hormone mediated inhibition of adenylate cyclase almost always involves the activation of regulatory subunit N; (Londos, <u>et al</u>. 1981; Jakobs, <u>et al</u>. 1981;

Bokoch, et al . 1983; Codina, et al . 1983). Whether, the progesterone acts by similar mechanism (via Ni) in amphibians was investigated using islet-activating protein (IAP) (also known as Bordetella pertussis toxin). This IAP protein ribosilates ADP, in the presence of [32P]NAD+ the &-subunit of Ni thereby rendering it inactive (Katada, et al . 1984). If the mechanism of inhibition of adenvlate cyclase is via Ni. the progesterone action of maturation of the oocyte should be blocked by IAP. On preincubating the oocytes with the IAP and labelled NAD, a labelled NAD ribosilated membrane protein was isolated (MW 41.000, which had the same MW as the K-subunit from Ni of human erythrocytes), but the IAP protein did not inhibit progesterone mediated oocyte maturation. Thus the progesterone induced inhibition of adenylate cyclase activity was not via N<sub>1</sub> regulatory subunit of adenylate cyclase (Olate, et al . 1984; Sadler, et al . 1984; Goodhardt, et al . 1984). After demonstrating the presence of N., but

non-involvement in the mechanism of inhibition of adenylate cyclase via progesterone in the <u>Xenopus</u> oocyte membrane preparation, it was important to show that progesterone might possibly inhibit the N<sub>a</sub> regulatory protein which is involved in keeping the basal activity of the adenylate cyclase in the oocyte membrane. Fig. 6.2. indicates schematically the various steps involved in the stimulatory action of agonist hormones (via membrane bound receptors), on the activity of adenviate cyclase via Na regulatory protein. The hormone receptor is embedded in the lipid bilayer of the membrane, and the hormone binding site faces the outside of the cell. When the receptor binds the agonist, it undergoes a molecular conformational change that allows it to activate the GTP-binding protein (G) or Na to exchange GDP bound to the protein with GTP. Since GTP is present in the cytoplasm, the GTP exchange site possibly faces the inside of the cell. GTP binds to the &-subunit of the Na, which leads to dissociation of Na, and the d--subunit bound to GTP then interacts with the catalytic subunit of the adenvlate cyclase leading to activation and synthesis of cAMP (Fig's. 6.2. and 6.3). The 4-subunit of Ng also has GTPase activity that prevents it from being permanently activated. When the hormone receptor complex activates Ng to bind GTP, there is a reciprocal inhibitory effect of Na on the receptor that lowers the affinity of the receptor for the agonist hormone. Both the negative effect of the GTP binding protein N. (possibly via by complex ?) on hormone binding and the hydrolysis of GTP serve to limit the extent of adenvlate cyclase activation, when the hormone is not at saturating concentrations. There are two ways in which the basal functional metabolic activity of adenvlate cyclase in the oocyte membranes can be inhibited via Na regulatory

Fig. 6.2. The agonist hormone-receptor complex stimulates N<sub>8</sub> (G protein) to exchange GDP bound to the protein with GTP, which allows it to activate the adenylate cyclase. Binding of GTP may also dissociate the receptor from the G protein. Hydrolysis of GTP inactivates G, and also leads to dissociation of the G protein from the adenylate cyclase (reference Palmiter, 1984).

and the second second second second

312 .



FIG. 6.2

\*\* 44. -\*

Fig. 6.3. Demonstrates the subunit interactions of regulatory protein N, in hormone receptor mediated actions of adenylate cyclase (reference Bourne, 1989). (IIR) hormone receptor; (4,  $\beta$ ,  $\Upsilon$ ) subunits of Ns regulatory protein.



Fig 6.3

3130.

protein: 1.) by decreasing the rate of GDP exchange with GTP, after progesterone activation of the N<sub>2</sub> via the receptor action, 2) by decreasing the rate of GTP hydrolysis, which would lead to decrease in rate of CAMP synthesis by the catalytic subunit of the adenylate cyclase. The molecular mechanisms by which progesterone can intervene during these steps are not known.

In <u>Xenorus</u> oocyte, the adenylate cyclase activity after stimulation with Gpp(NH)p a non-hydrolyzable derivative of GTP, can be inhibited by progesterone. In most mammalian systems as yet studied, Gpp(NH)p activated adenylate cyclase activity is not inhibited by the various hormones, and GTP is required for inhibition (Jakobs, <u>ei gl</u>. 1981; Wolff, <u>ei</u> <u>al</u> . 1981). Although a group of adenosine analogs called P-site agonists, has been shown to inhibit Gpp(NH)pstimulated adenylate cyclase activity (Lodos and Wolff, 1977). Two of the potent P-site agonist are 2',5'-dideoxyadenosine (2',5'-DDA), and 9- $\beta$ -

D-arabinofuranosyladenine. These compounds were shown to inhibit the oocyte adenylate cyclase (Sadler and Maller, 1983), and the P-site action was shown to be similar to other mammalian systems (Lodos and Wolff, 1977). Also it was shown that the P-site agonist and progesterone acted by a similar mechanism (Sadler and Maller, 1983). Although a major difference between the action of progesterone and

2',5'-DDA was encountered in the presence of Mn\*\*. These Mn\*\* ions potentiated the inhibition by 2',5'-DDA, while it abolished the inhibition caused by progesterone in the <u>Xenopus</u> oocytes. The effect of Mn\*\* is similar to that observed in conjunction with P-site agonist in other mammalian systems (Lodos and Wollf, 1977; Lodos, <u>ei</u> <u>al</u> . 1979; Wollf, <u>ei</u> <u>al</u> . 1981). The ability of Mn\*\* to diminish the inhibitory effect of progesterone suggested that the steroid action is receptor mediated and involves N<sub>0</sub> regulatory protein (Sadler and Maller, 1985), since P-site agonists do not act via external recoptor mediated mechanism, but are natural constituents of the cells (Lodos, <u>ei</u> <u>al</u> . 1979).

GDP exchange by GTP has been indicated as the rate-limiting step in the activation of adenylate cyclase in avian cell systems (Selinger and Cassel, 1981). In mammalian cell systems, the interaction between the hormone and the receptor causes increased release of isotopically labelled nucleotide, regardless of whether the hormone induces activation or inhibition of adenylate cyclase activity. Thus the nucleotide exchange may not be of importance in mammalian systems (Michel and Lefkowitz, 1982). When adenylate cyclase is stimulated by the non-hydrolyzable guanine nucleotide Gpp(NH)p, there is a characteristic lag period before the adenylate cyclase can be activated. This

lag period is attributed to the time required for replacement of GDP bound to the d-subunit of N. regulatory protein with Gpp(NH)p, or to the transition from an inactive to an active adenviate cyclase enzyme conformation (Cassel and Selinger, 1978; Abramowitz, et al . 1980). When the time lag of Gpp(NH)p activation with oocyte adenylate cyclase was measured in the presence and absence of progesterone, an increase in time lag was observed. This indicates that progesterone decreases the rate of Gpp(NH)p cychange, which can be interpreted as slowing of GDP exchange by GTP in the presence of progesterone in the oocyte, resulting in the inhibition or decrease in adenylate cyclase activity. Similar results were observed with P-site agonist 2'.5'-DDA (Sadler and Maller. 1983). These results, and the direct demonstration of decrease in exchange of GDP with GTP in the presence of progesterone and 2',5'-DDA (Sadler and Maller, 1983; 1985) indicate that the mechanism of adenylate cyclase inhibition involves a decrease in rate of exchange between the two forms of the guanine nucleotides at the first step of the Na regulatory protein cycle (Fig's. 6.2. and 6.3.).

#### Role of Ca++ in cocyte maturation.

Ca<sup>++</sup> is released intracellularly after the treatment of occytes with progesterone. The increase in free

intracellular Ca<sup>++</sup> was demonstrated by increased in aequorin luminescence after injection of the dye into the albino oocytes, and the increase in free Ca<sup>++</sup> paralleled in time the decrease in the cAMP levels (Wasserman, <u>si</u> <u>al</u> . 1980). Also an increased efflux of <sup>49</sup>Cc ion was observed after progesterone incubation of oocytes preloaded with labelled calcium (O'Connor, <u>ai</u> <u>al</u> . 1977). Furthermore microinjection of Ca<sup>++</sup>, or the ability of divalent cation ionophore A2387 to cause maturation after Ca<sup>++</sup> addition to the incubation medium, indicated a role of Ca<sup>++</sup> in maturation (Maller and Krebs, 1980, for review).

The decrease in cAMP that followed in parallel with increased Ca<sup>++</sup> levels intracellularly suggest that phosphodiesterase (PDE) might also be activated by progesterone. Calmodulin is an acidic low-molecular weight heat stable protein that activates many enzymes in target cells, and its action follows increase in free Ca<sup>++</sup> ion intracellularly after hormone action. Phosphodiesterase is one of the main enzyme activated by calmodulin (Lin and Chung, 1980). The activation of PDE by calmodulin occurs as follows:-

Ca++ + calmodulin <----> Ca-calmodulin Ca-calmodulin + PDE <----> Ca-calmodulin-PDE (activated).

Injection of phosphodiesterase inhibitors into the oocytes

leads to inhibition of maturation, and it also prevents degradation of injected cAMP (Allende, et al. 1977: O'Conner and Smith, 1976), Also injection of calmodulin into the oocyte leads to maturation, and this effect is blocked in occutes preinjected with catalytic unit of cAMP-dependent protein kinase (Maller and Krebs, 1980; Wasserman and Smith, 1981). The presence of several calmodulin target enzyme systems has been demonstrated in the occytes (Wasserman and Smith, 1980; Echeverria, et al . 1981; Foulkes and Maller, 1982: Maller, 1983) including phosphodiesterase, which might be potentially important in decreasing the cAMP levels leading to maturation. Recent work indicates that a calmodulin activated phosphodicsterase mechanism plays a major role in cocyte maturation brought about by insulin. insulin like growth factor 1 and [Val12, Thr59] Ha-ras Protein (Sadler and Maller, 1987, 1989), These compounds may have a very minor role in progesterone mediated oocyte maturation. Furthermore, microinjection of inositol-1.4.5-trisphosphate (IPa) into the oocyte increased the rate of progesterone or insulin mediated maturation (Stith and Maller, 1987). IPs is produced in cells following polyphosphatidylinositol breakdown, which occurs in many systems where receptors are linked to the release of Ca\*\* ions. The IPs functions as an intracellular calcium ionophore (Berridge and Irvin, 1984). The Ca++ ions released in response to IPa could

activate calmodulin leading to activation of phosphodiesterase, thereby decreasing the cAMP levels (Fig. 6.4.).

The effect of Ca++ in the external incubation medium during maturation has been studied by various researchers (Ecker and Smith, 1970; Merriam, 1971; Baltus, et al . 1977: Masui, et al., 1977). Maturation using progesterone was inhibited when Mg++ and Ca++ ions were not present in the incubation medium, and maturation response reoccured in the presence of 2mM Mg++ and was partially inhibited at 2mM Ca++ (Merriam, 1971a: Masui, et al . 1977). The presence of EDTA (10 mM) in the incubation medium also prevented progesterone mediated maturation (Marot, et al . 1976), or delayed maturation (Moreau, et al . 1980). While the presence of EGTA (10mM) did not have any effect (Marot, et al . 1976; Moreau, et al . 1980). Furthermore maturation could be obtained by incubating the oocytes in oil solution (Merriam, 1971b). These studies indicate the necessity for Ca++ in the external medium during progesterone induced in vitro oocyte maturation. The maturation induced by ionophore A23187 in the presence of Ca++ and Mg++ above 5mM (Wasserman and Masui, 1975) indicates that calcium uptake into the oocyte can lead to maturation under non-physiological conditions. It is more than likely that the increased Ca++ ion levels observed in the oocyte after progesterone action is due to uptake

Fig. 6.4. The PI cycle or response. Hormone receptor interaction leads to activation of a G protein, which in turn activates phospholipase C and leads to degradation of phosphatidylinositol. The degradation product inositol triphosphate binds to a specific receptor on the endoplasmic reticulum to stimulate calcium mobilization in the cytoplasm by mechanism not yet known. The increase in Ca<sup>++</sup> ion stimulates various proteins and enzymes and may stimulate calmodulin, which stimulates phosphodiesterase and leads to decrease in cAMP levels (see text). The phosphatidylinositol is resynthesized as shown in the diagram.





from the medium, than endogenously released from bound protein form. Also it has been reported that endogenous increase or surge of Ca<sup>++</sup> did not occur after progesterone action during maturation (Bell'e, ct al . 1977: Robinson, 1985). Robinson used microelectrode technique to measure internal Ca'' concentration. Thus it is possible that Ca<sup>++</sup> ions may not be involved in the physiological mechanism in vivo leading to opevie maturation, since it is unlikely that the same progesterone receptor can activate both the adenylate cyclase and also the PI cycle leading to calcium release (both via same, or different G proteins). The insulin maturation action under non-physiological conditions (via insulin receptors as yet not isolated in oocytes) is mainly involved in calcium mediated PI mechanism leading to activation of calmodulin and phosphodiesterase, thereby leading to decreased levels of cAMP and maturation (Fig. 6.4.).

# 174.208-DHP mediated mechanism of maturation in fish

#### Current status of research .

Goetz (1983), in a review suggested that the action of 174-,20β-DHP in fish oocyte maturation might be similar to progesterone action in <u>Xenopus</u> oocyte maturation. The basis on which this conclusion was drawn, was the similarities observed during the steroid induced maturation.

and the effect of protein transcription and translation inhibitors during cocyte maturation in both the species of vertebrates. Furthermore Goetz and Hennessy (1984) demonstrated that MIS  $17\alpha$ ,  $20\beta$ -DHP-induced ovarian follicle maturation can be blocked by inhibitors of phosphodiesterase (which leads to increased levels of cAMP in the oocyte). These results supported the analogous results obtained in amphibian Xenopus occytes, where the progesterone-induced meiotic maturation is mediated by lowering of the intra-cocyte level of cAMP. Further work by French researchers Jalabert and Finet (1986), in rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss ovarian follicles also supported the amphibian model. The 17d, 20\$-DHP-induced meiotic maturation was blocked by cAMP (> 1mM) or dibutyl cAMP (>2mM), phosphodiesterase inhibitors theophylline ().2mM) and 3-isobutyl-1- methylxanthine (IBMX > .1 mM), and adenylate cyclase activators cholera toxin (> 100nM) and forskolin (> .03mM). Also combined effect of IBMX (1mM) and forskolin (.01 and.05 mM) on the intra ovarian levels of cAMP was investigated. These researchers also measured the cAMP levels in the ovarian follicles during various stages of final maturation. Significant positive correlation between opcyte cAMP concentration and the follicular weight was observed, also a significant negative correlation between cAMP and the median dose of  $17\alpha, 20\beta$ -DHP required to elicit maturation was observed. Finally, the authors demonstrated
directly, that the levels of cAMP significantly decreased during the first 10 h of incubation with maturation-inducing concentration of MIS 174,20B-DHP. Iwamatsu, et al. (1987) further demonstrated that forskolin increased the in vitro. synthesis of MIS 17#,20B-DHP in the outer follicular granulosa cells of the ovarian follicles via cAMP mediated mechanism in Oryzias latipes, and forskolin also inhibited the in vitro maturation in naked oocytes induced by MIS 17#,209-DHP, indicating the presence of adenylate cyclase in the fish oocytes. In 1987, the evidence for the MIS 17%, 208-DHP receptors in the brook trout ovarian follicles cytosolic preparation was presented, the levels of cytosolic receptors during the final stages of maturation reported and no receptor activity was observed in the cytosolic preparation during the final stages (6-7) of maturation (GVBD) (Maneckjee, et al . 1987), when the MIS 17%, 206-DHP levels are the highest in blood plasma (Goetz, et al. 1987). No specific binding to nuclear pellet extracts utilizing either labelled MIS 17%,20\$-DHP or progesterone was obtained. Also photoaffinity labelling (using labelled R5020) of the isolated nuclei preparations from brook trout ovarian follicles did not demonstrate specific binding, although non-specific binding was present in both the above cases. The presence of receptors in the isolated zona radiata membrane preparation containing the plasma membrane of the oocyte (from the late stage oocytes)

was also demonstrated (Maneckjee, <u>et</u><u>al</u>. 1987; 1989a.; 1989b.).

Finet, et al. (1988), have proposed a slightly different mechanism of MIS 174,20\$-DHP action in rainbow trout oocytes. The authors suggest that MIS action leads to activation of a phosphatase (by an as yet unknown mechanism involving Mg++), as the major enzyme involved in the breakdown of endogenous cAMP levels, and not due to the inhibition of adenvlate cyclase. However the authors do not provide any direct evidence for the phosphatase activation. nor have they presented any evidence on adenylate cyclase inhibition. Their speculation regarding the mechanism is based on the measurement of endogenous cAMP levels in rainbow trout from defolliculated oocytes during incubation with time. They observed increased levels of cAMP synthesized during incubation (4.5 fold in 6 h) in the oocyte. The defolliculation was carried out enzymatically using collagenase (.32 mg/g of ovarian follicles), but the defolliculation medium also contained epinephrine-bitartrate (10 ug/ml): polyvinylpyrolidone (2 mg/ml): hyaluronic acid (.05 mg/ml); dextran sulfate (1 mg/ml) in the IM/280 medium. No control experiments were carried out where the ovarian follicles were incubated with the above medium without the collagenase. A control was used in which the ovarian follicles were incubated in the medium IM/280 during the

period of cAMP measurement. It is possible that epinephrine could have been taken up by the occyte during the defolliculation process, and then released into the medium during the incubation. Epinephrine could then activate adenylate cyclase (via epinephrine membrane & or Preceptors), leading to the synthesis of cAMP. Epinephrine is known to stimulate the in vitro ovulation in rainbow trout (Jalabert, 1976), and also in yellow perch, brook trout and carp ovarian follicles (Stacy and Goetz, (1982); Goetz, unpublished results), suggesting the presence of epinephrine receptors on the oocyte membrane. Thus it is possible that the reported increased levels of cAMP, could be due to epinephrine action leading to increased cAMP levels via G protein stimulation of adenylate cyclase. The authors also report similar increase in cAMP levels in oocytes defolliculated by mechanical means (pressure). These mechanically denuded oocytes also contained certain numbers of granulosa cells (demonstrated by electron microscopy). It is extremely difficult to speculate on the mechanism's leading to increased cAMP under such non-physiological conditions. The above results are at variance with other published data. In amphibians the cAMP levels remained unchanged after defolliculation (Maller and Krebs, 1980). Spontaneous maturation occurs after defolliculation with fall in intraoocyte cAMP levels (Schultz, et al . 1983; Aberdam, et al. 1987). Also the results of Greeley, et al

, (1987), on Fundulus heteroclitus oocytes, and results reported in chapter 5 of the thesis, demonstrate that spontaneous maturation occurs after defolliculating the oocytes. The above authors did not report spontaneous maturation occuring, which would suggest that ovarian follicles used for the study must have been from early stages of maturation, at least prior to its in vivo exposure to gonadotrophin. Normally these early stage ovarian follicles are not used for in vitro MIS mediated maturation studies, but rather stage (3-4) follicles are used (Goetz, 1983). Thus the intraoocyte cAMP synthesized in these denuded oocytes may not play a role in final maturation. Also because of the high levels of cAMP observed due to its synthesis in these denuded oocytes, the authors claim that in the intact ovarian follicles either testosterone or low levels of MIS 174,20 B-DHP produced by the granulosa cells (prior to the main surge of MIS). inhibit the intracocyte cAMP synthesis (most likely by inhibition of phosphodiesterase ?). This explanation was supported by experimental evidence, but its physiological role in vivo does not seem to be reasonable, since it is the lowering of intraoocyte cAMP which leads to maturation. And because of this there is no need for a maturation inhibitory factor or a signal from follicular cells to keep the intraoocyte cAMP levels low.

Recently membrane associated receptor for MIS 174,20 -DHP

has been demonstrated in the membrane of the nasal passage in gold fish (Rosenblum, <u>et al</u>. 1988). Also a receptor for MIS 174,20 $\beta$ , 21-trihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one in spotted seatrout has been characterized from plasma membrane preparations of the ovarian follicles (Patino and Thomas, 1988).

## Future perspectives .

a.) <u>Inhibition of courte maturation by antibodies to the receptor protein</u>. As already mentioned in chapter 5, the antibodies inhibition of maturation <u>in vitro</u> should be attempted using denuded follicles from stage (2-3) occytes.

b.) <u>Demonstration of MIS receptors on the zona radiata</u> <u>membranes</u>. After <u>in</u> <u>vitra</u> incubation of the zona radiata membranes with the MIS receptor antibodies, the presence of MIS receptor-antibody complexes should be detected using anti rabbit gamma globulin goat fluorescent antibodies.

c.) <u>Direct measurement of adenviate cyclase activity on the</u> isolated zona radiata membrane preparation of the stage (3-4) cocytes in the presence and absence of MIS 17€.20]-DHP against time of incubation. This experiment will demonstrate if adenylate cyclase activity is inhibited by MIS. Also since this type of inhibition does not invoke nuclear protein synthesis, the direct action of steroid on the adenylate cyclase would be indicated.

d.) Mechanism of forskolin inhibition of maturation .

Although it has been demonstrated that forskolin inhibits occyte maturation induced by MIS 174,200-DHP (Jalabert and Finet, 1986), it is also important to demonstrate that the activity of the ademylate cyclase is responsible for this inhibition of maturation. Thus, in the presence of forskolin and the MIS 174,200-DHP during incubation, the zona radiata associated ademylate cyclase activity should not be decreased or inhibited so that it becomes lower than the intra-ocyte basal levels leading to maturation.

e.) <u>Does the Ni regulatory subunit inhibit adenylate</u> ovclass after MIS action. The next step in the MIS induced mechanism of maturation would be to demonstrate if the MIS induced inhibition of adenylate cyclase is via N<sub>o</sub> subunit of the adenylate cyclase (in anology with the findings in amphibians). This should readily be demonstrated by attempting the maturation studies in the presence and absence of islet-activating protein (IAP), also known as <u>Bordetella pertussis</u> toxin, the Ni subunit of the denylate cyclase is inhibited by the toxin. Thus if the toxin does not inhibit maturation induced by the MIS (as is the case with amphibians), the action of MIS is via the  $N_{\rm H}$  subunit of adenylate cyclase.

f.) <u>Does the Na regulatory subunit inhibit adenviate</u> <u>ovelages after MIS action</u>. If the MIS action is not via N<sub>1</sub>, it would be of interest to investigate the action of MIS on the N<sub>n</sub>. This can be acheived by measuring the MIS inhibition of maturation (and also adenviate cyclase levels), in the presence of Gpp(NH)p. If it is not inhibited (as in the case of amphibians), the mechanism of inhibition is not via GTP hydrolysis or GTPase activity of the Na, but possibly via rate of exchange of GDP with GTP step of the mechanism. This could be directly or indirectly tested as discussed in the earlier part of the chapter.

g.) Effect of microiniccted monoclonal antibodics to\_res gene product (adenylate exclase) on MIS 174.208-DHP induced maturation. The rate of MIS induced maturation should be increased by the antibodies to the <u>ras</u> gene product (Sadler, <u>et</u> <u>al</u>. 1986).

h.) Inducement of maturation in stare (3-4).denuded occytes of brook or rainbow trout using MIS 17d.20g-DHP covalently bound to BSA, and thiopropyl Sepharose-SB derivative of MIS 17d.20g-DHP. This experimental procedure would test whether the action of MIS is via outer plasma membrane receptors of the oocyte.

The experimental procedure developed by the author for the isolation of intact zona radiata membrane preparation containing the plasma membrane of the oocyte will facilitate future research in fish and amphibians. The experimental procedures (as described above in (a-g) future perspectives on research), should be easier to carry out than in the past. In amphibians, the adenylate cyclase measurements were carried out on a membrane fraction after homogenization of the oocyte (10.000 x g pellet obtained after homogenization). The results obtained were variable. depending on the conditions of homogenization. The research described in this thesis has made a small contribution towards establishing membrane receptors for 17%,20B-DHP, although much more work has to be done in order to establish the final mechanism of MIS 17¢,20\$-DHP action leading to maturation via cAMP.

## References.

Aberdam, E., Hanski, E., and Dekel, N. 1987. Maintenance of meiotic arrest in isolated rat oocytes by invasive adenylate cyclase of <u>Bordetella</u> <u>pertusis</u>. Biol. Reprod. 36, 530-535.

Abramowitz, J., Iyengar, R., and Birnbaumer, L. 1980. On the mode of action of catecolamines on the turkey erythrocyte adenylate cyclase. Evaluation of basic activity states after removal of endogenous GDP and interpretation of nucleolide regulation and hormone activation in lerms of a two-state model. J. Biol. Chem. 255, 8259-8265.

Aiba, H., Mori, K., Tanaka, M., Ooi, T., Roy, A., and Danchin, A. 1984. The complete nucleotide sequence of the adenylate cyclase gene of <u>Encherichia</u> <u>coli</u>. Nucleic Acids Res. 12, 9427-9440.

Allende, C.C., Bravo, R., and Allende, J. E. 1977. Comparision <u>in vivo</u> and <u>in vilro</u> properties of cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate phosphodiesterase of amphibian occytes. J. Biol. Chem. 252, 4662-4666.

Bourne, H. R. 1989. G-protein subunits; Who carries what message? Nature 337, 504-505.

Baltus, E., Hanocq-Quertier, J., Pays, A., and Brachet, J. 1977. Ionic requirements for induction of maturation (meiosis) in full grown and medium sized <u>Xenopus laevis</u> oocytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 3461-3465.

Bell, J. D., Buxton, I.L.O., and Branton, L. L. 1985. Enhancement of adenylate cyclase activity in S49 lymphoma cells by phorbol csler. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 2625-2628.

Bell'e, R., Ozon, R., and Stinnake, J. 1977. Free calcium in full grown <u>Xenopus</u> <u>laevis</u> oocyle following trealment with ionophore A23187 or progesterone. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 8, 65-72.

Bergamini, C. M., Pansini, F., Bettocchi, S., Jr., Segala, V., Dallocchio, F., Bagni, B., and Mollica, G. 1984. Hormonal sensitivity of adenylate cyclase from human endometrium: Modulation by estradiol. J. Steroid Biochem. 22, 229-302.

Berridge, J. M., and Irvin, R. F. 1984. Inositol triphosphate, a second messenger in cellular signal transduction. Nature (London), 312, 315-320.

Bilezikjian, L. M., and Vale, W. W. 1983. Glucocorticoids

inhibit corticotrophin-releasing factor-induced production of adenosine 3',5' -monophosphate in cultured anterior pituitory cells. Endocrinology 113, 657-662.

Birnbaumer, L., Cordina, J., Mettra, R., Cerione, R.A., Hildebradnt, J. D., Sunyer, T., Rojas, F. J., Caron, M.G., Lefkowitz, R. J., and Iyengar, R. 1985. Regulation of hormone receptors and adenylyl cyclases by guanine nucleotide binding N proteins. Recent Prog. Norm. Res. 41, 41-09.

Blondcau, J. P., and Baulicu, E. E. 1985. Progesterone inhibited phosphorylation of an unique Mr 48,000 protein in the plasma membrane of the <u>Xenopus laevis</u> oocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 3617-3625.

Bokoch, G. M., Katada, T., Northup, J. K., Hewlett, E. L., and Gilman, E.G. 1983. Identification of the predominant substrate for ADP-rihosylation by islet-activating protein. J. Biol. Chem. 258, 2071–2075.

Boyer, J., Belle, R., Huchon, D., and Ozon, R. 1980. In ovo protein kinase activity during progesterone-induced maturation of <u>Xenopus</u> leevis obcytes. In "Steroids and their mechanism of action in non-mammalian vertebrates.(G. Delrio and J. Brachet, eds.). pp. 85-92, Raven Press, New

York.

Casperson, G. F., Walker, N., and Bourne, H. R. 1985. Isolation of the gene coding adenylate cyclase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proc. Null. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82, 5060-5063.

Cassel, D., and Selinger, Z. 1978. Mechanism of adenylate cyclase activation through ∯-adremergic receptor: catacolamine-induced displacement of bound GDP by GTP. Proc. Natl. Aca. Sci. U.S.A. 75, 4155-4159.

Call, K. J., Dufau, M. L. 1977. Peptide hormony receptors. Ann. Rev. Physiol., 39, 529-557.

Codina, J., Heldebradni, J., Tyenger, R., Birnbaumber, L., Sekura, R. D., and Manclark, C.R. 1983. Pertusis toxin substrate, the putative Ni component of adenylate cyclases, is an -hetromer regulated by guanine nucleotide and magnisium. Proc. Natl. Aca. Sci. U.S.A. 80, 4276-4280.

Coussen, F., Haiech, J., D'Alayer, J., and Monneron, A. 1985. Identification of the catalytic subunit of brain adenylate cyclase, a calmodulin-binding protein of 135 kDa. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82, 6736-6740. De Sauza, E. B., Insel, T. R., Perrin, N. H., Rivier, J., Vale, W. W., and Kuhar, M. H. 1985. Differential regulation of corticotropin-releasing factor receptors in anterior and intermediate lobes of pituitory and in brain following adrenalectomy in rats. Neuro ci. Lett. 56, 121-128.

Drury, K. C., and Schorderet-Slatkine, S. 1975. Effects of cyclohexamide on the "autocallytic" nature of the maturation promoting factor (MPF) in occytes of <u>Xenopus</u> <u>leavis</u>. Cell 4, 269-274.

Echeverria, M., Orellana, O., Jedlicki, E., Plaza, M., Allende, C., Allende, J. 1981. Regulation of eyelic nucleotide phosphodiesterase from <u>Xenopus</u> <u>laevis</u> ovary by calmodulin and calcium. Biochem. Int. 2, 539-545.

Ecker, R. E., and Smith, L. D. 1970. Influence of exogenous ions on the events of maturation in <u>Rana pipiens</u> occytes. J. Cell Physiol. 77, 61-70.

Ehrlich, P. 1900. Croonian Lecture: On immunity with special reference to cell life. In "The collected papers of Paul Ehrlich" (Himmelweit F. ed.). vol. 2, 178-195. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1957.

Finet, B., Jalabert, B., and Garg, S.K. 1988. Effect of

defolliculation and 17≋,-hydroxy,20**β**-dihydroprogesterone on cyclic AMP level in full-grown oocytes of the rainbow trout, <u>Salmo gairdneri</u>. Gamete Res.19, 241-252.

Finidori-Lepicard, J., Schorderet-Slatkine, S., Hanoune, J., and Baulieu, E. -E. 1981.Progesterone inhibits membrane-bound adenylate cyclase in <u>Xenopus</u> <u>laevis</u> oocytes. Nature (London) 292, 255-257.

Foulkes, J. G., and Maller, J. L. 1982. <u>In vivo</u> action of protein phosphatase inhibitor-2 in <u>Xenopus</u> occytes. FEBS Lett. 158, 155-160.

Gilman, A. G., Jr. 1985. G proteins and dual control of adenylate cyclasc. Coll 36, 577-579.

Giorgi, E. P. 1980. The transport of steroid hormones into animal cells. International review of cytology. 65, 49-115.

Goetz, F. W. 1983. Hormonal control of occyte final maturation and ovulation in fishes. In "Fish physiology, vol. 9a. pp. 17-170. (W. S. Hoar, D. J. Randall and E. M. Donalson eds.). Academic press, New York.

Goetz, F.W., and Hennessy, T. 1984. The in vitro effects

of phosphodiesterase inhibitors on 17≠,20**∮** -dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one induced germinal vesicle breakdown in brook trout <u>Salvelinus fontinalis</u> oocytes. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 77, 785-786.

all all the stange of the second

Goetz, F. W., Fostier, A. Y., Breton, B., and Jalabert, B. 1987. Hormonal changes during meiotic maturation and ovulation in the brook trout <u>Salvelinus</u> <u>fontinalis</u>. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 3, 203-211.

Goodhardt, M., Ferry, N., Buscaglia, M., Baulieu, F. -E., and Hanoune, J. 1984. Does guanine nucleotide regulatory protein Ni mediate progesterone inhibition of <u>Xenopus</u> oocyte adenylate cyclase. EMBO J. 3, 2653-2657.

Greeley, M. S., Jr., Begovac, P. C., and Wallace, R. A. 1987. Removal of enveloping follicle cells can trigger resumpsion of meiotic maturation in <u>Fundlus heteroclitus</u> oocytes. J. Exp. Zool. 244, 171-180.

Harrelson, A., and McEwen, B. 1987. Steroid hormone influences on cyclic AMP-generating systems. Current topics in membrane transport. 31, 217-247.

Hunchon, D., Ozon, R., and Demaille, J. G. 1981. Protein

phosphatase-1 is involved in <u>Xenopus</u> oocyte maturation. Nature 294, 358-359.

Iwamatsu, T., Takahashi, S. Y., Sakai, N., Nagahama, Y., and Onitake, K. 1987. Induction and inhibition of <u>in vitro</u> oocyte maturation and production of steroids in fish follicles by forskolin. J. Exp. Zool. 241, 101-111.

Jalabert, B. 1976. <u>In vilro</u> occyte maturation and ovulation in rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri), northen pike (Esox lucius) and goldfish (Carassius auratus). J. Fish Res. Board Can. 33, 974-988.

Jalabert, B., and Finet, B. 1986. Regulation of oocyte maturation in the rainbow trout, <u>Salmo gairdneri</u> : role of cyclic AMP in the mechanism of action of the maturation inducing steroid (MIS), 174,20<sup>β</sup>-dihydroprogesteronc. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 2, 65-74.

Jakobs, K. H., Aktorics, K., and Schultz, G. 1981. Inhibition of adenylate cyclase by hormones and neurotransmitters. Adv. Cyc. Nucleotide Res. 14, 173-187.

Jordana, X., Allende, C.C., and Allende, J. E. 1981. Cuanine nucleotides are required for progesterone inhibition of amphibian occyte adenylate cyclase. Biochim. Int. 3,

527-532.

Katada, T., Northup, J.K., Bokoch, G.M., and Gilman, A.G. 1984. The inhibitory guanine nucleotide-binding regulatory component of adenylate cyclase. Subunit dissociation and guanine nucleotide-dependent hormonal inhibition. J. Biol. Chem. 259, 3578-3585.

Kahn, C. R. 1976. Membrane receptors for hormones and neurotransmitters. J. Cell Biol. 70, 261-286.

Katoka, T., Brock, D., and Wigler, M. 1985. DNA sequence and characterization of the <u>Saycharomyces</u> <u>cerevisine</u> gene encoding adenylate cyclase. Cell 43, 493-505.

Lin, Y. M., and Cheung, W. Y. 1980. Can dependent cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase. In "Calcium and cell function: calmodulin" (Y. Cheung, ed.) pp. 79-107. Academic press, New York.

Lodos, C., and Wolff, J. 1977. Two distinct adenosinc-sensitive sites on adenylate cyclase. Proc. Natl. Aca. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 5482-5486.

Lodos, C., Wolff, J., and Cooper, D.M.F. 1979. Action of adenosine on adenylate cyclase. In " Physiological and regulatory functions of adenosine and adenine nucleotides." (H. P. Baer, and G.I. Drummond, eds.) pp.271-281. Raven press, New York.

Londos, C., Wolff, J., and Cooper, D. M.F. 1981. Adenosine as a regulator of adenylate cyclase. In "Purinergic receptors" (G. Burnstock, ed.), pp. 287-323. Chapman and Hall, New York.

Londos, C., Honner, R. C., and Dhillon, G. S. 1985. e-AMP dependent protein kinase and lipolysis in rat adiposites. 3. Multiple modes of insulin regulation of lypolysis and regulation of insulin responsiveness by adenylate cyclase regulators. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 15139-15145.

Maller, J. L. 1985. Regulation of amphibian oocyte maturation. Cell Differentiation 16, 211-221.

Maller, J. L., and Krebs, E.G. 1977. Progesterone stimulated meiotic cell division in <u>Xenopus</u> oocyles: induction by regulatory subunit and inhibition by catalytic subunit of adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate-dependent protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 252, 1712-1718.

Maller, J. L., and Sadler, S.E. 1980. Regulation of steroid-induced cell division in amphibian oocytes by protein phosphorylation. Cold Spring Harbor Conf. Cell Prolification 8, 1127-1141.

Maller, J. L., Butcher, F. R., and Krebs, E. G. 1979. Early effect of progesterone on levels of cyclic adenosine 3', 5'-monophosphate in <u>Xenopus</u> oocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 254, 579-582.

Maneckjec, A., Weisbart, M., and Idler, D. R. 1987. Isolation and characteristics of 176,20 -dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one receptor activity in ovarian tissue of the brook trout, <u>Salvelinus fontinalis</u>. Proceedings third international symposium on reproductive physiology of fish (D. R. Idler, L.W. Crim and J.M. Walsh, eds.), Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's.

Manackjee, A., Weisbart, M., and Idler, D. R. 1989a. The presence of 17%,20¶-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one receptor activity in the ovary of brook trout <u>Salvelinus fontinalis</u> during the terminal stages of occyte maturation. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 6, 19-38.

Mancekjee, A., Idler, D. R., and Weisbart, M. 1989b. Demonstration and studies of membrane and cytosol steroid receptors for 17w,20<mark>P</mark>-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one in brook trout <u>Salvelinus fontinalis</u> oocytes by photoaffinity

labelling using synthetic progestin 17,21-dimethyl-19-ncr-pregn-4, 9-diene-3-20-dione (R5020). Sent to the Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 17th January 1989.

70.1.

Marot, J., Belle, R., and Ozon, R. 1976. Recherches sur la maturation de l'ovocyte de <u>Xenopus</u> <u>Lacvis</u>. Arguments en faveour du role des ions calcium. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 282, 1301-1304.

Masui, Y., and Clark, H. 1979. Oocyte maturation. Int. Rev. Cytol. 57, 185-223.

Masui, Y., Meyerhof, P.G., Miller, M.A., and Wasserman, W. J. 1977. Roles of divalent cations in maturation and activation off vertibrate occytes. Differenciation 9, 49-57.

Michel, T., and Lefkowitz, R. J. 1982. Hormonal inhibition of adenylate cyclase. Alphaz-adrenergic receptors promote release of [<sup>3</sup>H]guanylylimidodiphosphate from platlet membranes. J. Biol. Chem. 257, 13557-113563.

Merriam, R. W. 1971a. Progesterone-induced maturational events in occytes in <u>Xenopus</u> <u>laevis</u>. 1. Continous necessity for diffusible calcium and magnesium. Exp. Cell Res. 68, 81-87.

a series of the series of the

Merriam, R. W. 1971b. Progesterone-induced maturational events in oocytes in <u>Xenopus</u> <u>laevis</u>. 2. Change in intracellular calcium and magnesium distribution at germinal vesicle breakdown. Exp. Cell Res. 68, 81-87.

Moreau, M., Vilain, J.P., Guerrier, P. 1980. Free calcium changes associated with hormone action in amphibian cocytes. Dev. Biol. 78, 201-214.

Morril, G. A., Schatz, F., Kostellow, A. B., and Poupko, J. M. 1977. Changes in cAMP levels in the amphibian ovarian follicle following progesterone induction of meiotic maturation. Differentiation 8, 97-104.

Muller,R. E., and Wotiz, H. H. 1979. Kinetics of estradiol entry into uterine cells Endocrinology 105, 1107-1114.

Mulner, O., Huchon, D., Thibier. C., and Ozon, R. 1979. Cyclic AMP synthesis in <u>Xenopus lacvis</u> oocyles: inhibition by progesterone. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 582, 179-184.

Nakamura, T., and Ui, M. 1985. Simultaneous inhibitions of inositol phospholipid breakdown, arachidonic acid release and histamine secretion in mast cells by islet-activating protein, Pertusis toxin. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 3584-3593.

Niehoff, D. L., and Mudge, A. W., 1985. Somatostatin alters beta-adrenergic receptor-effector coupling in cultured rat astrocytes. EMBO J. 4, 317-321.

O'Connor, C.M., and Smith, L. D. 1976. Inhibition of occyte maturation by theophylline: possible mechanism of action. Dev. Biol. 89, 318-322.

O'Connor, C. M., Robinson, K. R., Smith, L.D. 1977. Calcium, pottasium, and sodium exchange by full-grown and maturing Xenopus Incvis occites. Dev. Biol. 61, 28-40.

Olate, J., Allende, C.C., Allende, J.E., Secura, R.D., and Birnbaumer, I. 1984. Occyte adenylate cyclase contains Ni, yet the guanine nucleotide-dependent inhibition by progesterone is not sensitive to pertussis toxin. FEBS Lett. 175, 25-30.

Palmiter, R. 1984. Hormone action. <u>In</u> "Biochemistry" (ed. G. Zubay), Addison Wesley. chapter 29, pp. 1104-1145.

Patino, R., and Thomas, P. 1988. Measurement and characterization of binding activity for the maturation-inducing steroid in plasma membrane preparations from spotted seatrout ovary. American Zool. 53A, 295.

the querte state and the

Peck, E. J., Jr., Burgner, J., and Clark, J.H. 1973. Estrophilic binding sites of the uterus. Relation to uptake and retention of estradiol <u>in vitro</u>. Biochemistry 12, 4596-4603.

Robinson, K. R. 1985. Maluration of <u>Xenopus laevis</u> oocyte is not accompanied by electrode detectable calcium changes. Dev. Biol. 109. 504-508.

Rosenblum, P. M., Sorenson, P.W., Stacy, N. E., and Peter, R.E. 1988. Binding of a steroidal pheromone 174,20 P dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one, to the goldfish olfactory epithelium. First International Symposium on Fish Endocrinology. University of Alberta. Edmonton, Canada. pp.52.

Rougon, G., Noble, M., and Mudge, A. W. 1983. Neuropeptides modulate adrenergic response to purified astrocytes <u>in</u> <u>viiro</u>. Nature (London) 305, 715-717.

Sadler, S., and Maller, J. L. 1981. Progesterone inhibits adenylate cyclase in <u>Xenopus</u> oocytes: action of guanidine nucleotide regulatory protein. J. Biol. Chem. 256, 6368-6373. Sadler, S. E., and Maller, J. L. 1982. Identification of a steroid receptor on the surface of <u>Xenopus</u> oocytes by photoaffinity labelling. J. Biol. Chem., 257, 355-361.

Sadler, S. E., and Maller, J. L. 1983. Inhibition of <u>Xenopus</u> oocyte adenylate cyclase by progesterone and 2', 5'-didcoxyademosine is associated with slowing of guanine nucleotide exchange. J. Biol. Chem. 258, 7935-7941.

Sadler, S. E., and Maller, J. I. 1985. Inhibition of <u>Xenopus</u> oocyle adenylale cyclase by progesterone: a novel mechanism of action. In "Advances in cyclic nucleotide and protein phosphorylation research" vol. 19, pp. 179-194. Raven press. New York.

Sadler, S. E., and Maller, J. L. 1987. <u>In vivo</u> regulation of cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase in <u>Xenopus</u> occytes. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 10644-10650.

Sadler, S. L., and Maller, J. L. 1980. A similar pool of cyclic AMP phosphodicsterase in <u>Xenopus</u> oocytes is stimulated by insulin, insulin-like growth factor 1, and [val<sup>12</sup>, thr<sup>58</sup>]ha-ras protein. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 856-861.

Sadler, S. E., Maller, J.L., and Copper, D. M. F. 1984. Progesterone inhibition of <u>Xenopus</u> oocyte adenylate cyclase is not mediated via the <u>Bordetella \_perttusis</u> toxin substrate. Mol. Pharmacol. 26, 526-531.

apply on approved property and a second

Schultz,R. M., Montgomery, R., Mard-Bailey, P. F., and Eppig, J. J. 1983. Regulation of oocyte maturation in the mouse: Possible roles of intracellular communication, cAMP and testosterone. Dev. Biol. 95, 294-301.

Schorderet-Slakine, S., Schorderet, M., and Baulieu, E. E. 1982. Cyclic AMP mediated control of meiosis: effects of progesterone, cholera toxin and membrane active drugs in Xenonus oocytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79, 850-854.

Selinger, Z., and Cassel, D. 1981. Role of guanine nucleotides in hormonal activation of adenylate cyclase. Adv. Cyclic Nucleotide Res. 14, 15-22.

Smigel, M., Katada, T., Northup, J. K., Bokoch, G.M., Ui, M., and Gilman, A.G. 1984. Mechanisims of guanine nucleotide-mediated regulation of adenylate cyclase activity. Adv. Cyclic Sucleotide Protein Phosphorylation Res. 17, 1-18. Smith, L. D., Ecker, R. E., and Subtelny, S. 1968. <u>In</u> <u>vitro</u> induction of physiological maturation in <u>Rana</u> <u>pipiens</u> occytes removed from ovarian follicles. Dev. Biol. 17, 627-643.

Speaker, M.G., and Butcher, F. R. 1977. Cyclic nucleotide fluctuations during steroid induced meiotic maturation of frog oocytes. Nature (London) 267, 848-849.

Stacy, N. E., and Goetz, F. W. 1982. Role of prostaglandins in fish reproduction. Can. J. Fish Aqual. Sci. 39, 92-98.

Stith, B.J., and Maller, J. L. 1987. Induction of meiotic maturation in <u>Xenopus</u> oocytes by 12-0-Tetradecanoylphorbol 13-acetate. Exp. Cell Res. 169, 514-523.

Sutherland, E. W. 1972. Studies on the mechanism of hormone action. Science 177, 401-408.

Szego, C. M., and Pietras, R. J. 1981. Membrane recognition and effector sites in steroid hormone action. Biochem. Act. of Horm. 8, 307-463.

Wasserman, W. J., and Masui, Y. 1975. Effects of cyclohexamide on a cycloplasmic factor initiation meiotic maturation in Xenopus oocytes. Exp. Cell Res. 91, 381-388.

and the second second

Wasserman, W. J., and Smith, L. D. 1981. Calmodulin triggers the resumption of meiosis in amphibian oocytes. J. Cell Biol. 89, 389-394.

Wasserman, W. J., Pinto, L. H., O'Conner, C.M., and Smith, L. D. 1980. Progesterone induces a rapid increase in (Ca<sup>++</sup>) in <u>Xenopus laevis</u> oocytes. Proc. Natl. Aca. Sci. U.S.A. 77, 1534-1536.

Watanabe, A. M., McConnaughey, M. M., Strawbridge, R. A., Fleming, J. W., Jones, L. R., and Besch, H. R., Jr. 1078. Muscurinic cholinergic receptor modulation of beta-adrenergic receptor affinity for catecolamines. J. Biol. Chem. 253, 4833-4836.

Wolff, J., Londos, C., and Cooper, D.M.F. 1981. Adenosine receptors and regulation of adenylate cyclase. Adv. Nucleotide Res. 14. 199-214.

Yamada, S., Yamamura, H.I., and Rocske, W. R. 1980. The regulation of cardiac alpha (1)-adrenergic receptors by guanine nucleotides and muscurinic cholinergic agonist. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 63, 239-241. Contraction of the second second second

p

Yeager,R. E., Heideman, W., Rosenberg, G.B., and Storm, D. R. 1985. Purification of the calmodulin-sensitive adenylate cyclase from bovine cerebral cortex. Biochemistry 24, 3776-3783.

## Appendix

Reverse phase (HPLC) separation of the subunits of receptor protein .

a) Using a column containing 4-carbon (C4) hydrophobic group separating medium (Bio-Rad RP 304 column 25 x 4.6 mm). Trace 1, blank run. Trace 2, standard proteins. Traces 3 and 4, receptor samples (see text for complete details).

b) Using a column containing 8-carbon (C8) hydrophobic group separating medium (Beckman RPMC Ultra pore column 75 x 4.6 mm).

Trace 5, blank run. Trace 6, standard proteins. Traces 7 and 8, receptor samples (see text for complete details).

c) Using a column containing 18-carbon (C18) hydrophobic group separating medium (Beckman Ultra pore C-18 150 x 4.6 mm).

Trace 9, blank run. Trace 10, standard proteins. Traces 11 and 12. receptor samples (see text for complete details).

and des 68 1 16

TRACE 1. Control run through C-4 column.

d015 

352 FILE 1 VIAL 1.01 INJ 1 OF 1 VOL 1030 TRAV 1 EQUIL. TIME .00 GRAD. DELAY .00 CHANNEL A INJECT 01/06/89 02:51:57 C- 4 column. 8 molecular weight standards using 3.97 TRACE 2 9.09 10.34 11.48 11.90 12. 42 13.24 -14. 44 -----15.14 14.94 Ir.c . 16.01 Nº S. 16.81 17.38 18.40 19.28 20. 26 20. 06 29.64 21. 38 21. 76 23. 01 23. 46

UNIT 1

All a real and an and assessed in the second

.



353 .



TRACE 5.

Control run through C-8 column.












TRACE 10.

# RP molecular weight standards using

C-18 column.



360





----

# CURRICULUM VITAE

and the second second

NAME:	Aspi Maneckjee
HOME ADDRESS:	Bldg. 817, Apt. 101 Carter Avenue, Pleasentville St. John's, Newfoundland Canada. A1A 3P9.
WORK ADDRESS:	Ocean Sciences Centre (MSRL) Memorial University of Newfoundland St. John's, Newfoundland. Canada. AIC 5S7.
TELEPHONE:	Home: 709-739-7155.
FAV	Work: 709-726-6681.
1941	
MARITAL STATUS:	Married.
CITIZENSHIP:	Canadian.
HEALTH:	Excellent.
	EDUCATION .
Ph.D. Biochemistry.	Memorial University of Newfoundland, Canada. 1989.
M.Sc. Chemistry.	St. Francis Xavier University, Canada. 1985.
B.Sc. Molecular	
Sciences.	University of Warwick. U.K. 1969.
H.N.C. Chemistry.	Royal Institute of Chemistry and Department of Education. U.K. 1966.
University of London. U.K.	General Certificate of Education Examinations. 'A' levels, and 'O' levels.
Board of Secondary Education. Karachi.	School leaving examinations.
GRADUATE COURSES .	
Memorial University o	f_Newfoundland .

Passed Ph.D. final comprehensive examinations.

Proteins (401).	80%
Molecular Biology (400).	76%

# St. Francis Xavier University .

Advance analysis and Instrumentation 1. (Chemistry 461) 95% Comparative Physiology 1. 84% Bio-organic Chemistry. 78% Advance analysis and Instrumentation 2. (Chemistry 462) 73% Comparative Physiology 2. 74%

Queen's University .

Medical Pharmacology (Pharm. 800). 81% Medical Biochemistry (Biochem. 800). 74% Isotopes in Biology. (Biology 910). 78% Structured Programming. (Computing 2210W) Audit. Microbiology (810). Audit.

University of Ottawa .

Medical Physiology (Phs. 5521) 688 Neuroanatomy and Neurophysiology (Ana. 5422) 61% Elementry French (Institute of second language) Passed.

PUBLICATIONS .

## FULL JOURNAL PAPERS:

 Maneckjee, A., Weisbart, M., and Idler, D.I. 1989. The presence of 174,200-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one receptor activity in the ovary of brook trout <u>Savelinus</u> <u>fontinalis</u> during terminal stages of occyte maturation. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 6, 19-39.

2. Beck, J., Donini, J., Maneckjee, A. 1983. The influence of sulphide and Cyanide on nerve function. Toxicology 26, 37-45.

 Beck, J., Donini, J., Maneckjee, A. 1982. The effect of sulphide and cyanide on nerve function. Toxicology Letters 26, 182-193.

4. Smallman, B.N., and Maneckjee, A. 1981. The synthesis of acetylcholine by plants. Biochem. J. 194, 361-364.

 Steele, R.W., and Maneckjee, A. 1979. Toxicological significance of acetylcholinc esterase of the housefly thorax. Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology 10, 322-332.

 Morris, D., Maneckjee, A., and Smallman, B.N. 1976. Apparent synthesis of acetyl-B-methylcholine by <u>Celerio</u> <u>euphorbiae</u>. Insect Biochem. 6, 247-250. 7. Hardina, P, Ling, G.M., and Maneckjee, A. 1971. Desimpramine: Effects on level of acetylcholine in whole brain and in striatum of rats. European J. of Pharmacol. 15, 223-229.

 Morris, D., Maneckjee, A., and Hebb, C.O. 1971. The kinetic properties of human placental choline acetyltransferase. Biochem. J. 125, 857-863.

# PAPERS SUBMITTED .

 Maneckjee, A., Idler, D. R., Weisbart, M. 1989. Demonstration and studies of membrane and cytosol steroid receptors for 17#,20B-dihydroxy-4-prenen-3-one in brook trout Salvelinus fontinalis occytes by photoaffinity labelling

using synthetic progestin 17,21-dimethyl-19-non-progn-4,9-diene-3-20-dione (R5020). Sent to the Journal of Fish Physiol. and Biochem. January,19 89, and after modifications resubmitted in July 1989.

 Maneckjee, A., Idler, D., and Weisbart, M. 1989. Transport of 17 4,209-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one in brook trout <u>Salvelinus fontinalis</u> ovarian follicles. Sent to Journal of Fish Physiol. and Biochem. June 1989.

### REFEREED CONFERENCE PROCEEDINGS

1. Maneckjee, A., Idler, D.R., and Weisbart, M. 1989. Evidence for  $174, 20\beta$ -dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one steroid receptors on the zona radiata membrane of brook trout oocytes. 32nd Ann ual meeting of Canadian Federation of Biological Socities. Caleary, Alberta.

 Maneckjee, A., Idler, D.R., and Weisbart, M. 1989. Purification and molecular characteristics of cytosolic and membrane associated receptors, for maturation inducing steroid 17%-.20P-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one from brook trout

Savelinus fontinalis ovarioan follicles. 28th Annual meeting of the Canadian Socities of Zoologist. York, Ontario.

3. Maneckjee, A., Weisbart, M., Idler, D.R. 1987. Isolation and characteristics of 17#,209-dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one receptor activity in overian tissue of brook trout

<u>Savelinus</u> fontinalis. (D. R. Idler, L. W. Crim. and J.M. Walsh, eds.). Proceedings Third International Symposium on Reproductive Physiology of Fish. Mcmorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's.

 Beck, J., Donini, J., Maneckjee, A. 1983. The interaction between sulphide and calcium ion. Presented at CIC conferen ce, Calgary, Alberta.  Beck, J., Donini, J., Maneckjee, A. 1982. Toxicology of hydrogen sulphide. 25th Annual meeting of Canadian Federation of Biological Socities. Edmonton, Alberta.

 Hrdina, P., Singhal, R., Peters, J., Ling, G.M., Maneckjee, A. 1971. Acetylcholine and dopamine in rat straiting ng acute DDT poisoning. 14th Annual meeting of Canadian Federation of Biological Societies. Toronto, Ontario.

### COMMUNICATIONS .

Hrdina, P., Maneckjee, A. 1971. "Free and Bound" acetylcholine concentrations in rat brain. J. Pharm. and Pharmacology. 23, 540-541.

# THESIS .

B.Sc. The effects of cross-linking agents on stability and a activity of proteases used with detergents. Supervisor professor D. W. Griffiths. University of Warwick. Coventry, U.K. 1969.

M.Sc. Hydrogen Sulphide Toxicity: <u>In vitro</u> effects on cholinergic nervous system components, acetylcholine esterase and nicotinic receptor sites. Supervisor Professor John Donini. St Francis Xavier University. Antigonish, Nova-Scotia. Canada. 1985.

Ph.D. Characterization and Physiological role of 174,20 f dihydroxy-4-pregnen-3-one steroid receptor activity in the cytosolic and zona radiata membrane fraction of the ovarian follicles of brook trout <u>Salvelinus</u> <u>fontinalis</u> during the terminal stages of oocyte maturation. Supervisor's, Professor David R. Idler, and Professor Melwin Weisbart. Memorial University of Newfoundland. St. John's, Canada. Submitted 1989.

### REFEREES .

-

Professor Melwin Weisbart Chairman, Department of Biology University of Regina, Saskatchewan. S4S OA2. Canada. Tel. 306-585-4231.(Office); 306-789-4798.(Home). Fax. 306-586-9862.

Professor D. R. Idler Paton Professor of Research, Ocean Sciences Centre, (MSRL). Memorial University of Newfoundland. St. John's, NFLD. Canada. AIC SST. Tel. 902-726-681.(Office); 902-753-1165.(Home). Fax. 709-726-711. Professor B.N. Smallman Head Department of Biology (Retired) Queens University, Kingston. Ont. R R #2 Yarker; Yarker, Ontario. Canada. Tel. 613-377-6680 (Home).

Professor R. W. Steele Research Scientist, Agriculture Canada. University Sub Post Office London, Ontario. Canada. N6A 5B7. Tel. 519-645-4021; 519-645-4452.(Office).

# PERSONAL INTERESTS .

Founder and President of the International Society at University of Warwick.

Played Competition Tennis (1960-1969).

Physical fitness: Jogging five times a week, also participated in the noon hour fitness program at Queen's University.

Organic gardening and farming to acheive self-sufficiency in production of vegetables, meat, eggs, milk and dairy products (1978-1986).

Enjoy outdoor activities, boating, cross-country skiing.

Enjoy working with small motor's, and maintenance of automobile and house.

### PROFESSONAL SOCIETIES

Member of Canadian Zoological Society. Member of the Chemical Institute of Canada.

# SCHOLARSHIPS :

Awarded National Sciences and Engineering Research Council Canada post-graduate scholarship (1985-1988), for doctoral study at Memorial University of Newfoundland.

Awarded National Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada post-doctoral fellowship (1989-1990), at Health an d Welfare, Ottawa.

## EMPLOYMENT EXPERIENCE .

1983-85. Research associate with Dr. M. Weisbarl. Chairman, Department of Biology. St. Frances Xavier University. Antigonish, N.S.

1980-83. Research associate with Dr's. J. Beck; and J. Donini. St. Frances Xavier University. Antigonish, N.S.

A second the theory of second s

1972-80. Research assistant to Dr. B. N. Smallman. Professor and Head of the department of Biology, Queens University. Kingston, Ontario.

1970-72. Research assistant to Dr's. P. Hardina, and G. Ling. University of Ottawa. Ontario.

1963-66. Assistant Experimental Officer, ARC Institute of Animal Physiology. Babraham, Cambridge. U.K. Professor C.O.Hebb, and Dr. David Morris Supervisor's.

1960-63. Technologist to Dr. John Harris, Fison's Pest Control LTD. Cambridge, U.K. Research division.







